Effective Health Care Program

Technical Brief Number 20

Core Functionality in Pediatric Electronic Health Records



Technical Brief

Number 20

Core Functionality in Pediatric Electronic Health Records

Prepared for:

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 540 Gaither Road Rockville, MD 20850 www.ahrq.gov

Contract No. 290-2012-00009-I

Prepared by:

Vanderbilt University Evidence-based Practice Center Nashville, TN

Investigators:

Kevin R. Dufendach, M.D. Jacob A. Eichenberger, M.D. Melissa L. McPheeters, Ph.D., M.P.H. Michael W. Temple, M.D. Haresh L. Bhatia, M.S. Mhd Wael Alrifai, M.D. Shannon A. Potter, M.L.I.S. Stuart T. Weinberg, M.D. Kevin B. Johnson, M.D., M.S. Christoph U. Lehmann, M.D.

AHRQ Publication No. 15-EHC014-EF April 2015 This report is based on research conducted by the Vanderbilt University Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) under contract to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Rockville, MD (Contract No. 290-2012-00009-I).

The findings and conclusions in this document are those of the authors, who are responsible for its contents; the findings and conclusions do not necessarily represent the views of AHRQ. Therefore, no statement in this report should be construed as an official position of AHRQ or of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

The information in this report is intended to help health care decisionmakers—patients and providers, health system leaders, and policymakers, among others—make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. This report is not intended to be a substitute for the application of clinical judgment. Anyone who makes decisions concerning the provision of clinical care should consider this report in the same way as any medical reference and in conjunction with all other pertinent information, i.e., in the context of available resources and circumstances presented by individual patients.

AHRQ or U.S. Department of Health and Human Services endorsement of any derivative products that may be developed from this report, such as clinical practice guidelines, other quality enhancement tools, reimbursement or coverage policies, may not be stated or implied.

This document is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission except those copyrighted materials noted, for which further reproduction is prohibited without the specific permission of copyright holders.

Persons using assistive technology may not be able to fully access information in this report. For assistance contact EffectiveHealthCare@ahrq.hhs.gov.

None of the investigators have any affiliation or financial involvement that conflicts with the material presented in this report.

Suggested citation: Dufendach KR, Eichenberger JA, McPheeters ML, Temple MW, Bhatia HL, Alrifai MW, Potter SA, Weinberg ST, Johnson KB, Lehmann CU. Core Functionality in Pediatric Electronic Health Records. Technical Brief No. 20. (Prepared by the Vanderbilt Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-2012-00009-I.) AHRQ Publication No. 15-EHC014-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; April 2015. www.effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/reports/final.cfm.

Preface

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), through its Evidence-based Practice Centers (EPCs), sponsors the development of evidence reports and technology assessments to assist public- and private-sector organizations in their efforts to improve the quality of health care in the United States. The reports and assessments provide organizations with comprehensive, science-based information on common, costly medical conditions and new health care technologies and strategies. The EPCs systematically review the relevant scientific literature on topics assigned to them by AHRQ and conduct additional analyses when appropriate prior to developing their reports and assessments.

This EPC evidence report is a Technical Brief. A Technical Brief is a rapid report, typically on an emerging medical technology, strategy, or intervention. It provides an overview of key issues related to the intervention—for example, current indications, relevant patient populations and subgroups of interest, outcomes measured, and contextual factors that may affect decisions regarding the intervention. Although Technical Briefs generally focus on interventions for which there are limited published data and too few completed protocol-driven studies to support definitive conclusions, the decision to request a Technical Brief is not solely based on the availability of clinical studies. The goals of the Technical Brief are to provide an early objective description of the state of the science, a potential framework for assessing the applications and implications of the intervention, a summary of ongoing research, and information on future research needs. In particular, through the Technical Brief, AHRQ hopes to gain insight on the appropriate conceptual framework and critical issues that will inform future research.

AHRQ expects that the EPC evidence reports and technology assessments will inform individual health plans, providers, and purchasers as well as the health care system as a whole by providing important information to help improve health care quality.

We welcome comments on this Technical Brief. They may be sent by mail to the Task Order Officer named below at: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 540 Gaither Road, Rockville, MD 20850, or by email to epc@ahrq.hhs.gov.

Richard G. Kronick, Ph.D. Director, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Stephanie Chang, M.D., M.P.H. Director, EPC Program Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality David Meyers, M.D. Acting Director, Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Edwin Lomotan, M.D. Task Order Officer Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the following individuals for their contributions to this project: Mr. Robert Goodrich and Ms. Tanya Surawicz screened literature and extracted data.

Key Informants

In designing the study questions, the EPC consulted a panel of Key Informants who represent subject experts and end-users of research. Key Informant input can inform key issues related to the topic of the technical brief. Key Informants are not involved in the analysis of the evidence or the writing of the report. Therefore, in the end, study questions, design, methodological approaches, and/or conclusions do not necessarily represent the views of individual Key Informants.

Key Informants must disclose any financial conflicts of interest greater than \$10,000 and any other relevant business or professional conflicts of interest. Because of their role as end-users, individuals with potential conflicts may be retained. The Task Order Officer and the Evidence-based Practice Center work to balance, manage, or mitigate any conflicts of interest.

The list of Key Informants who participated in developing this report follows:

Martha Dewey Bergren, D.N.S., R.N., FAAN University of Illinois Chicago, IL

Barbara P. Byrne, M.D., M.B.A. Edward Health System Naperville, IL

Mark A. Del Beccaro, M.D. University of Washington Seattle, WA

Alexander G. Fiks, M.D., M.S.C.E. Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Philadelphia, PA

Chip Hart Physicians Computer Company Winooski, VT

Hetty G. Khan, B.S.N., M.S.N.I. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Silver Spring, MD

Susan J. Kressly, M.D., FAAP Kressly Pediatrics Warrington, PA Stephen Andrew Spooner, M.D., M.S., FAAP Cincinnati Children's Hospital Cincinnati, OH

Peer Reviewers

Prior to publication of the final evidence report, the EPC sought input from independent Peer Reviewers without financial conflicts of interest. However, the conclusions and synthesis of the scientific literature presented in this report does not necessarily represent the views of individual reviewers.

Peer Reviewers must disclose any financial conflicts of interest greater than \$10,000 and any other relevant business or professional conflicts of interest. Because of their unique clinical or content expertise, individuals with potential nonfinancial conflicts may be retained. The TOO and the EPC work to balance, manage, or mitigate any potential nonfinancial conflicts of interest identified.

The list of Peer Reviewers follows:

William G. Adams, M.D. Boston University School of Medicine Boston, MA

Martha Dewey Bergren, D.N.S., R.N., FAAN University of Illinois Chicago, IL

Robert Grundmeier, M.D. Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Philadelphia, PA

Chip Hart Physicians Computer Company Winooski, VT

Rainu Kaushal, M.D., M.P.H. Weill Cornell Medical College New York, NY

Alex R. Kemper, M.D., M.P.H. Duke University Durham, NC

Michael G. Leu, M.D., M.S., M.H.S., FAAP Seattle Children's Hospital Seattle, WA Rita Mangione-Smith, M.D., M.P.H. University of Washington Department of Pediatrics Seattle Children's Research Institute Seattle, WA

Eugenia Marcus, M.D. Wellesley Hills, MA

Feliciano B. Yu, M.D., M.S.H.I., M.S.P.H., FAAP Washington University School of Medicine St. Louis Children's Hospital St. Louis, MO

Alan E. Zuckerman, M.D. Georgetown University Washington DC

Core Functionality in Pediatric Electronic Health Records

Structured Abstract

Background. Clinicians, informaticians, policy makers, and professional organizations such as the American Academy of Pediatrics have described the need for electronic health record (EHR) systems and information technology tools that better support pediatric health care through the availability of pediatric functionalities. The Children's EHR Format created almost 700 requirements pertaining to pediatric functionality. While the report included multiple desired functions, the large number of requirements as well as the lack of prioritization may have had a paralyzing effect on most vendors, who, confronted with Meaningful Use requirements, did not leverage the format to improve their products.

Purpose. A Technical Brief is a report of an emerging intervention for which there are limited published data and too few completed research studies to support definitive conclusions. The goals of the Technical Brief are to provide an objective description of the state of the science, identify a potential framework for assessing the applications and implications of the intervention, summarize ongoing research, and present research gaps. We developed a technical brief on the state of practice and the current literature around core functionalities for pediatric electronic health records to describe current practice and to provide a framework for future research.

Methods. We had conversations with Key Informants representing clinicians, policy experts, and researchers. We searched online sources for information about currently available programs and resources. We conducted a literature search to identify currently available research on the effectiveness of individual functionalities.

Findings. There is expert consensus in the literature that EHRs used in the care of children require specific functionalities to support the work of child health care providers and assure the delivery of quality care to pediatric patients. These functionalities relate to a child's evolving physiology and maturity and associated conditions. Key areas include vaccination, child development, physiologic medication dosing, pediatric disease management, pediatric norms, and the relationship between pediatric patients and their caregivers, including adolescent privacy. Empirical evidence for health outcomes associated with the introduction of a pediatric EHR or for implementation of systems such as clinical decision support is largely limited to pre-post studies on a subset of important functionalities. Key Informants indicated that if these functionalities are implemented well, the EHR will also better support the care of all patients.

Summary and implications. While many of the key functionalities identified in this brief are not purely pediatric, their key role in the care of children in contrast to their minimal role for adults could mean they can get omitted in an EHR designed primarily for adult care. Incentives for developing pediatric functionalities for EHRs are currently driven by (1) meaningful use requirements and the patient-centered medical home; (2) a desire to support and maintain patient safety; and (3) the increasing presence of pediatric-specific clinical quality measures. Introducing a new pediatric functionality to an EHR should, therefore, be done thoughtfully and ideally is done in consideration of utility, testability, and usability principles. Understanding the

importance of computability and specificity of guidelines as well as motivations for development of pediatric-specific functionalities provides further insight into how dissemination and development will be driven in the future.

Contents

Background	1
Scope	2
Issues and Challenges in the Evidence Base	2
Technical Brief Objectives	3
Report Organization	3
Methods	5
Data Collection	5
Discussions With Key Informants	5
Published Literature Search	5
Gray Literature Search	6
Data Organization and Presentation	6
Peer Review	7
Findings	8
GQ1: Description of Pediatric-Specific Functionalities for EHRs	8
1. Vaccines	9
2. Routine Health Care Maintenance (RHCM)	11
3. Family Dynamics	12
4. Privacy	13
5. Managing Pediatric Conditions in Vulnerable Populations	16
6. Medications	17
7. Documentation and Billing	20
8. Pediatric-Specific Norms and Growth Charts	21
GQ2. Description of the Context in Which EHRs Are Implemented	26
Age-based Transitions	26
Inpatient and Outpatient	28
The Particular Challenge of Identity	29
Vaccines	31
Routine Health Care Maintenance	31
Privacy	32
Managing Pediatric Conditions in Vulnerable Populations	32
Medications	32
Documentation and Billing	33
Pediatric-Specific Norms and Growth Charts	33
GQ3. Evidence for Pediatric-Specific Functionalities (Evidence Map)	34
Vaccination-Specific Functionality	36
Medication-Specific Functionalities	38
Obesity Diagnosis	42
Other Functionalities Including Prevention and Counseling	43
Ongoing Research	48
GQ4. Dissemination and Future Developments	49
Utility	49
Testability	49
Usability	50

Specificity and Computability	51
Incentives for Developing Pediatric Functionalities	
Summary and Implications	53
Next Steps	
References	57

Tables

Table 1.	Inclusion and exclusion criteria for evaluation studies	6
Table 2.	Potential breaches of confidentiality during a medical visit	13
Table 3.	Requirements for CDS to support electronic prescribing	19
Table 4.	Desiderata for management and representation of pediatric growth	
	in an EHR system	23
Table 5.	Key age-based transitions relevant to EHR development	28
Table 6.	Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on interventions to	
	increase vaccination rates in pediatric care	36
Table 7.	Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on CPOE and weight-based dosing	39
Table 8.	Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on use of documentation	
	functionalities to improve identification of obesity	41
Table 9.	Selected evaluation and outcomes studies of other functionalities	43
Table 10.	Summary and implications	55

Figures

0		
Figure	Literature flow diagram	5

Appendixes

- Appendix A. Literature Search Strategies
- Appendix B. Key Informant Interviews
- Appendix C. Summary of Key Informant Input
- Appendix D. Screening Forms
- Appendix E. Summary of Consensus Statements
- Appendix F. Ongoing Studies
- Appendix G. Reasons for Exclusion

Background

Clinicians, informaticians, policy makers, and professional organizations such as the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) have described the need for electronic health record (EHR) systems and information technology tools that better support pediatric health care through the availability of pediatric functionalities.¹⁻³ In particular, they suggest that EHRs used in the care of children may increase patient safety through standardization of care and reducing errors and variability in documentation and communication of patient data.⁴⁻⁹ However, adoption has lagged, and lack of pediatric functionality is often cited as a reason for the lower rates of adoption in pediatrics.^{10,11} Furthermore, while EHRs may improve safety, implementation of generic EHR systems that do not meet pediatric functionality and work flow demands could be potentially dangerous.¹²⁻¹⁵

Empirical data describing the specific benefits of pediatric EHRs are scarce, and few studies have been conducted in the pediatric setting to assess the potential benefits of pediatric functionalities. Some studies describe improvements in immunization rates,^{8,16,17} attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder care,¹⁸ preventive care counseling for children and adolescents,^{19,20} and hepatitis C status followup in infants.²¹ Ultimately, available research on outcomes has yielded inconsistent results, potentially due to great variety and variability of systems reviewed.²²⁻⁴⁴

While the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act has promoted adoption of EHRs by providers and hospitals, development and implementation of functionality to promote quality of pediatric care specifically has been inconsistent, even among supporters of EHR implementation.⁴⁵ Organizations including the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ),⁴⁶ Health Level 7 (HL7) International,⁴⁷ and the AAP³ have attempted to achieve consistency by describing data formats and desired functionalities for use across pediatrics EHRs. Developed by AHRQ and CMS, the Children's EHR Format is particularly focused on the needs of children enrolled in Medicaid or the Children's Health Insurance Program.⁴⁶

The question arises, however, in the face of several recommended core sets of functionalities for pediatric EHRs, which are truly essential. A 2007 AAP report noted immunization management, growth tracking, medication dosing, patient identification, data norms, terminology, and privacy as important concerns/requirements for EHR in pediatric populations.⁴⁸ Recent recommendations from the Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine also urge that EHR designs take into account "the special needs of adolescents for access to health information and the vigorous protection of confidentiality" and note that EHR developers should ensure that systems meet regulatory requirements and privacy needs.²² These various recommendations may be based on a range of empirical or other evidence.

Despite lack of consistent recommendations, "Meaningful Use" incentives associated with the HITECH Act have resulted in increased implementation and use of EHRs by pediatricians.⁴⁹ It is unclear whether providers are adopting pediatric-specific tools, however. For example, suggested minimum requirements for a "pediatric-supportive" EHR include well-child visit tracking, support for anthropometric analysis such as growth charts, immunization tracking and forecasting, and support for weight-based drug dosing.^{48,50} Only 31 percent of pediatricians use

an EHR with basic functionality, and only 14 percent use a fully functional^a EHR.⁵² Only 8 percent of pediatricians are using a fully functional EHR with pediatric functionality.⁵³

The Children's EHR Format included almost 700 requirements pertaining to pediatric functionality.⁴⁶ While the report included desired functions to support care of children, the large number of requirements may have had a paralyzing effect on vendors, who, additionally confronted with Meaningful Use requirements, did not leverage the format to improve their products. Reports from Children's Health Insurance Reauthorization Act D grantees indicate that vendors used a survey-based prioritization approach to identify items of high value to pediatrician and to add these items to their EHR design. Similarly, the HL7 requirements^b include over 100 unique pediatric items.

Scope

Issues and Challenges in the Evidence Base

A significant challenge in this brief is the breadth of pediatric practice, including subgroups and special populations requiring specific elements of care that may merit specific EHR functionalities, all of which may diffuse agreement on key pediatric EHR features. Pediatric patients may range from a few hundred grams to hundreds of pounds in weight and their developmental status changes from completely dependent and helpless to independent, mature individuals. Fundamental to pediatric care is supporting the dynamic physiological and developmental changes to assure change is occurring at the right pace and time.⁵⁴

Another challenge is that requirements and EHRs for inpatient and outpatient settings may differ based on the work performed and be represented differently in the literature. Similarly, individual reports may address specific elements of EHRs such as order entry or electronic prescribing. Stakeholder groups such as the AAP have published numerous position papers and recommendations, which will provide important themes and crosscutting approaches. As expected given the relatively recent increase in adoption of pediatric EHRs and the significant costs of implementing them, few controlled trials of their effects exist, and the field is developing rapidly. Data are not available uniformly across categories of care or functionalities. We will focus on the functionalities, needs, and desiderata uniquely relevant to pediatric care that extend beyond those functionalities available for adult care. Some functionality required for pediatric care is also critical for aspects of adult care, and we will include those critical features (e.g., immunization tracking, which is a key aspect of children's care as well as that of pregnant women).

^a During 2007-2009, NAMCS defined a fully functional EHR system as having all 14 functionalities in basic systems plus the following additional features: (1) medical history and followup notes; (2) drug interaction or contraindication warnings; (3) prescriptions sent to pharmacy electronically; (4) computerized orders for lab tests; (5) test orders sent electronically; (6) providing reminders for guideline-based interventions; (7) highlighting out-of-range lab values; (8) computerized orders for radiology tests.

American Hospital Association administered survey on EHR adoption defines comprehensive EHR to include the basic EHR core functionalities plus 14 additional functionalities implemented across all units (see Nakamura et al., 201349 and Jha et al., 200951).

^b HL7 EHR Child Health Functional Profile (CHFP), Release 1. Available at http://www.hl7.org/implement/standards/product_brief.cfm?product_id=15.

Technical Brief Objectives

A Technical Brief is a rapid report of an emerging intervention for which there are limited published data and too few completed research studies to support definitive conclusions. The goals of the Technical Brief are to provide an objective description of the state of the science, identify a potential framework for assessing the applications and implications of the intervention, summarize ongoing research, and present research gaps. A technical brief is not intended to be a comprehensive systematic review but should provide the reader with an overview of available research, practice and to some degree, perspective, around a given clinical intervention.

This report describes the state of the literature on pediatric EHR functionalities and their effects on outcomes of pediatric EHR implementation. We sought comparative studies that assessed the potential benefits of pediatric EHR use. We searched published reports and gray literature sources to ascertain the evidence for pediatric-specific EHR functionalities. In addition, we engaged stakeholders to augment the findings from the literature, and inform the summary of contextual issues, barriers, and potential challenges.

Report Organization

We have organized the report by Guiding Question (GQ) and have summarized the available literature and Key Informant perspectives. GQ1, GQ2, and GQ4 reflect information found in published and unpublished literature, including opinion pieces and general materials. They also include the perspectives of our Key Informants. GQ3 is limited to a high-level evidence map of empirical studies. Thus, GQ1 and GQ2 lay out the issues that were found to be of highest relevance, while GQ3 identifies the available empirical literature on those issues. GQ4 then addresses challenges and opportunities related to implementation and dissemination.

GQ1. Description of Pediatric-Specific Functionalities for EHRs

GQ1A: Are there functionalities that have been identified in the literature and feature more prominently than others as potentially important to achieve for improving children's health?

GQ2. Description of the Context in Which EHRs Are Implemented

GQ2A: What is the potential value of pediatric-specific functionalities in the context of care transition, specifically from newborn care to pediatric primary care, from pediatric primary care to pediatric specialist care, and from pediatric primary care to adolescent care?

GQ2B: Are certain pediatric-specific functionalities beneficial for a provider to conduct her work including sick and well-child visits? If so, does this vary by health care setting (e.g. primary care office, specialty care office, school health, and alternative care settings) or by type of visit (e.g., preventive vs. acute care)?

GQ2C: What are the challenges to implementing specific functionalities? Are some harder than others to implement by (1) vendors; and/or (2) pediatric providers?

GQ3. Description of the Existing Evidence

GQ3A: Is there any evidence that using an EHR adapted for the specific needs of pediatric providers compared with using a "regular" EHR or not using an EHR at all produces (1) better quality, including safety and cost outcomes for patients; and/or (2) improved workflow or job satisfaction for providers?

GQ3B: Which pediatric-specific functionalities influence (1) patient outcomes (including safety; quality; cost; equity; standardization of care; and/or efficiency); (2) the ability of a pediatric provider to conduct work within the EHR; (3) improvement of workflow and provider satisfaction; and/or (4) involvement of patients and families (including their education and shared decision making)?

GQ4. Dissemination and Future Developments

GQ4A: How does testability and usability of core functionalities promote or impede dissemination and future development of pediatric EHRs?

Methods

We used discussions with Key Informants, a search of the gray literature, and a search of the published literature to collect relevant data and descriptions.

Data Collection

Discussions With Key Informants

We engaged Key Informants to offer insight into pediatric-specific functionalities for electronic health records, and suggest issues of greatest importance to clinicians, patients, researchers, and payers. We searched the Web sites of relevant professional organizations and research and policy groups to identify stakeholders whose work or interests indicate a high likelihood of interest and expertise in the topic.

In consultation with the investigative team and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), we assembled a list of individuals representing a clinical, policy, research, or vendor perspective. Seven of 10 invited individuals agreed to participate. Following approval by AHRQ of the completed Disclosure of Interest forms for proposed Key Informants, we conducted discussions with Key Informants, representing clinicians in practice as well as in policy roles in addition to accomplished researchers.

We conducted three group discussions by telephone with Key Informants. We invited the Key Informants to share their experiences and make suggestions to address the proposed Guiding Questions (GQs). Before the call, we provided the participants with a copy of the protocol and GQs. We recorded and transcribed the call discussion and generated a summary that we distributed to call participants.

We used the input from the Key Informants to establish functionalities considered to be of highest importance and weighed those against what we found most commonly in the literature. Ultimately, the data presented represent a Venn diagram of Key Informant input, functionalities identified in the literature and those described both by Key Informants and in the literature.

We conducted discussion calls with nine Key Informants. We were not required to obtain Office of Management and Budget (OMB) clearance for the Key Informant interviews because we included fewer than ten non-government associated participants. The Key Informants represented vendors, practicing pediatrician, quality improvement, public health, academic research.

More details on the Key Informants and the discussions are in Appendix B and Appendix C.

Published Literature Search

We used a combination of controlled vocabulary terms and keywords to search the published literature for studies that specifically evaluated electronic health records in the pediatric health care setting. We used terms for electronic health records, computerized physician order entry (CPOE) and clinical decision support (CDS), as well as broad terms and descriptors for pediatrics. We searched the literature base from 1999 on. We reviewed the reference lists of retrieved publications for other potentially relevant publications missed by the search strategies. We present the literature search details in Appendix A. We screened the included literature for publications that addressed one or more GQs; we further evaluated the publications for evaluation studies that met prespecified criteria (Table 1) for GQ3 (Evidence Map).

To identify newly published relevant literature, we updated the literature search during peer review and the posting period for public comments. We incorporated the results from the literature update into the Technical Brief.

We developed forms (Appendix D) for screening and data collection from the published literature. We recorded the study design and study populations from relevant sources. We document reasons for exclusion of records that were promoted for full text review (Appendix G).

Category	Criteria		
Study population	Pediatric, outpatient		
Publication languages	English only		
Admissible evidence	Study design		
	 Randomized controlled trials, including wait-list control, cohorts with comparison, pre-post cohort without comparison, stepped wedge designs, and case-control. <u>Outcomes</u> Healthcare quality including safety and cost Improved workflow Job satisfaction for providers Patient outcomes including safety, quality, cost, equity, standardization, efficiency Patient and family involvement including education and shared decision making 		
	Other criteria		
	Original research studies that provide sufficient detail regarding methods and results to enable use and adjustment of the data and results.		

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for evaluation studies

Gray Literature Search

We augmented the searches we conducted in bibliographic databases by searching for gray literature. Examples of sources of gray literature include the Internet, government Web sites, clinical trial databases, trade publications, and meeting abstracts. We crosschecked the findings from the gray literature searches against the literature retrieval for publications that we may have missed in the literature searches.

We searched relevant professional association and organization Web sites, as well as State and Federal government Web sites descriptions or links to existing models. We present a summary of relevant consensus statements in Appendix E. We retrieved records from ClinicalTrials.gov to identify ongoing research (Appendix F).

To glean insight into the issues and concerns of users of pediatric EHRs, we collected the comments submitted by pediatric providers who reviewed their own EHR systems on the AAP Web site^c and summarized those by functionality (User Perspective from AAP Review System). The goal was to identify any themes that might emerge in users' spontaneous reviews of systems, but we should be clear that we did not conduct primary data collection to gather this information. It reflects those issues raised through the AAP.

Data Organization and Presentation

We summarize information extracted from the published and gray literature in the results and discussion of this report. We identified themes from expert input and describe the findings from

^c American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Council on Clinical Information Technology (COCIT) Electronic Medical Record (EMR) Review Project Web site: http://www.aapcocit.org/emr/readreviews.php

the literature, Key Informant discussions, and gray literature for each theme for GQ1. In GQ2, we address contextual issues including transition of care, health care setting, and implementation considerations from the literature base and the Key Informant input. For GQ3, we summarized existing systematic reviews and original research published since the end date of the systematic reviews. We present summary tables and text to characterize the existing evidence for pediatric-specific EHRs (GQ3). We highlight the roles of testability and usability in the successful dissemination and future development of pediatric-specific EHRs in GQ4.

Based initially on Key Informant input and with confirmation from the literature, we organize the report around eight categories for the pediatric functionalities: (1) vaccines; (2) routine health care maintenance; (3) family dynamics; (4) privacy; (5) managing pediatric populations; (6) medications; (7) documentation and billing; and (8) pediatric-specific norms and growth charts.

Peer Review

A draft of this Technical Brief will be posted to the AHRQ Web site for 4 weeks for public comments. During this time, the Scientific Resource Center distributes the draft report to individuals who agreed to serve as peer reviewers. The Scientific Resource Center collects the feedback from peer reviewers and forwards the compiled comments to report authors. We will review the comments and made appropriate changes to the final report.

We will document the report revisions and provide a summary of responses to the individual comments received from public and peer reviewers in a disposition of comments table. The disposition of comments table will be available on the AHRQ Web site after publication of the final Technical Brief.

Findings

In this section, we summarize information from the published and gray literature sources to address Guiding Questions (GQs). Much of the discussion with Key Informants was consistent with the salient topics that emerged from the body of literature, focusing primarily upon vaccination, growth and child development, family dynamics and privacy challenges, medication ordering, and pediatric growth and child development norms.

We summarize Key Informant discussion, the literature, and user feedback from the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) pediatric EHR review site to describe pediatric specific functionalities and current approaches for improving pediatric health care and delivery (GQ1). In GQ2, we provide a discussion of transition, care setting, and other contextual issues important to the implementation and adoption of pediatric-specific functionalities described in GQ1. The results presented in GQ3 are the combined summary of existing evidence from the published literature. We present implications and areas for future research in GQ4.

GQ1: Description of Pediatric-Specific Functionalities for EHRs

GQ1A. Are there functionalities that have been identified in the literature and feature more prominently as potentially important to achieve for improving children's health?

The Key Informants on this project were clear and consistent that EHRs need to be optimized for the care of children, and that this is not yet happening consistently. Key Informants noted that many functionalities overlap with adult care, but agreed that given the nuances associated with longitudinal and coordinated care for the pediatric population, some functionalities will be more critical than in adults to ensuring high quality and safe care. For example, while care coordination for adults is extremely important, effective coordination for children is prone to compromise if there are delays in information exchange or inaccuracies in patient identification or family relationships. Patient identification is a similarly critical issue given changes such as the ongoing evolution of family structure, the impact of family dynamics, changes in identifiers (e.g., unnamed child in newborn nursery), and issues that arise in foster care. These issues of identity have downstream effects on understanding family history, the impact of the family setting on the child's wellness, privacy, and information sharing, and payment for services. The ability to communicate between the healthcare setting and schools and other settings where children exist was described as essential, as was recognition that providers in children's healthcare represent a wide range of clinical specialties, all of whom need information and means of communication to provide care.

Underlying many Key Informant comments was the importance of a flexible, longitudinal record that integrates critical information about the child, the family and family history as it affect health, capabilities tailored to the needs of the clinician treating the child, and agile information display that shows the right information at the right time, despite the high volume nature of pediatrics. Moreover, Key Informants emphasized that effective systems must be adapted seamlessly to the user workflow and be customizable to adapt easily to changes in practice.

The following section will address specific information for: (1) vaccines; (2) routine health care maintenance; (3) family dynamics; (4) privacy; (5) managing pediatric conditions in

vulnerable populations; (6) medications; (7) documentation and billing; and (8) pediatric-specific norms and growth charts. The functionalities identified and described are those that the Key Informants noted as both most important and specific to the pediatric environment and that featured prominently in the published literature. That said, it should be noted that few of the functionalities have been studied empirically for their independent contribution to outcomes. The empirical data, where it exists, appears in the responses to GQ3.

1. Vaccines

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

Vaccine-related functionality is consistently identified as a core need for EHRs used in the care of children. Key Informants viewed this functionality as a necessity, and felt that it was well established as a need for pediatric EHRs due to its prominence both in public and personal health. They noted that while vaccine provision is important also in other age groups (e.g. influenza vaccine for the general population, shingles for the elderly), in no other age groups are as many vaccines recommended on as complex a schedule. Nor are there other age groups in which vaccine receipt is as tied to public health protection, including herd immunity, and to milestones, such as school entry.

As noted by the Key Informants, the EHR has the potential to provide a means of documenting vaccine receipt, forecasting, and reminding clinicians when vaccines are due and managing populations at particular risk of poor outcomes without vaccination. As noted in the Evidence section below, vaccination reminders appearing in a clinician's workflow have successfully improved vaccination rates in some populations. Decision support within the EHR can include identification of combinations of vaccines that can provide the greatest protection with the fewest inoculations. The vaccination record is required at multiple times in a child's life, including school and camp entry, all the way to adulthood. To assist in documentation of progress in specific vaccine series, combination vaccines should optionally be viewable according to individual components. Key Informants noted that the vaccination component of an EHR needs to be easily updated and displayed in a way that can be shared with families and the educational system.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Efficient Recording of Vaccine Data

Examples of mechanisms to improve vaccine documentation efficiency include standard and 2D barcode technology and use of point of care documentation (using for example mobile devices) and may have varying levels of technological complexity. One approach, for example, to easily and accurately tracking vaccine lots, has been to incorporate bar code technology into the system.⁵⁵

Clinical Decision Support

Decision support that focuses on immunization forecasting, the ability to identify individuals eligible for vaccination and appropriate vaccinations, is commonly discussed, both in the published literature and among our Key Informants, and it is generally acknowledged to be a

core element of a pediatric EHR.⁵⁶ In one study, immunization reminders did not significantly improve immunization rates at a primary care clinic.⁸ However, other empirical studies, further described in GQ3, have shown significant increases in vaccination rates with CDS. One study reported an increase in flu vaccine rates from 7.8 percent to 25.5 percent after implementation of decision support in an EHR,⁵⁷ and another reported an increase not only in immunization rates, but also in the ordering of several other screening tests, suggesting a potential spillover effect.⁵⁸

Immunization Status

There are two fundamental types of medical error that occur in the context of vaccination: missed opportunities to vaccinate (failure of omission) and incorrect vaccination (failure of commission). Clinical decision support in the context of vaccines in the EHR is designed to minimize or avoid both of these by assessing a child's immunization status as recorded in the EHR, and ideally, incorporating data from immunization registries, including interstate registries, when available.⁵⁹ In order to achieve these basic goals, a system must be able to distinguish not only which patient is up to date on vaccinations and which patient is not, but also in the interest of reporting quality measures which patient is late or overdue on their immunizations. It is important to note, however, that vaccine requirements may not be consistent across jurisdictions and being eligible for an immunization may not necessarily indicate that the current time is the best time to immunize. Therefore, a number of experts have recommended some flexibility in the forecasting functionality to allow compliance with local, state, or federal guidelines in cases where the guidelines do not reach agreement or in situations where delaying immunization in an eligible child will result in better immune responses.

Flexibility of Formats To Promote Data Sharing

Flexibility in vaccine information formatting is a core need in order to efficiently share records as needed with a school, parent, physician, or registry.⁶⁰ Pediatric EHRs need to interact with state-level immunization registries to support the public health activities of the state, and as such, must have functionality to exchange data with those electronic systems. Some immunization registries, in turn, feed information back into the EHRs and provide forecasting and reminders to ensure up to date status of the pediatric patients.⁶⁰ At a minimum, an EHR must permit the clinician to enter data on vaccinations that occurred at other institutions in order to maintain a complete record. Printouts of the immunization record would ideally incorporate data from all sources.⁵⁶ One recommendation has been that a flow sheet incorporated into the system provide additional information on recent or anticipated immunizations,¹¹ thus providing additional tracking.

User Perspective From AAP Review System

Comments on functionality related to vaccinations were common on the AAP EHR review Web site, accounting for about 20 percent of comments. Although many providers were pleased to have access to a vaccination feature in their EHR, emphasis was placed on the following elements to assure full functionality and to support clinical practice:

- Ease of accessing, viewing, and using the vaccination features (most frequent comment);
- Ease of populating the Vaccines Administration Record;
- Ability to provide a printout of the vaccination record to the patient;
- Need to interface with State registries resulted in comments from some providers who had to change EHR systems to achieve information exchange;

- Decision support systems (also referred to as "forecasting system") that are able to help scheduling due or overdue vaccines;
- Immunization functionality to recognize and manage combination vaccines vaccines that deliver more than one component in a single inoculation (e.g., DTaP-IPV-Hib).
- Ability to enter the combination vaccine and have the system recognize that the vaccine provides adequate immunization to multiple illnesses.

2. Routine Health Care Maintenance (RHCM)

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

Childhood routine health care maintenance, also known as "well child care," accounts for nearly half of healthcare visits made by children in the United States.⁶¹ The visit is designed to incorporate a variety of services for health maintenance and disease prevention. Per the Key Informants, one of the most critical pieces to providing effective pediatric care is to track change over time through a longitudinal record. This is especially true for vaccine administration and growth and child development, two key elements of a childhood RHCM.

The most widely used pediatric preventive care guidelines are the *Bright Futures Guidelines* for the Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents.⁶² These emerged prevalent both in the literature as well as in discussions with Key Informants. These guidelines describe a comprehensive system of care and contain content for the 21 primary care visits recommended by the AAP for children from birth to 21 years of age.⁶³ Key Informants noted a lack of synchrony between currently available EHRs and Bright Futures.

Guidelines developed by professional organizations to guide clinical care are rarely directly programmable despite a decade of efforts by the AAP's Partnership for Policy Implementation, whose goal is to standardize and disambiguate guidelines and provide algorithms where possible.⁶⁴ A translation process has to occur to move general clinical guidelines, intended to provide evidence-based recommendations for provision of care across a variety of practices, into specific algorithms that can be implemented into the available technology.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

An idealized EHR would use pre-visit questionnaires to obtain data about a new patient or the interval history of an existing patient. The questionnaires would also be used to obtain any concerns the patient or parent would like to discuss during the visit, perform selective screening risk assessment, and guide the choice of anticipatory guidance topics compatible with recommendations such as those in *Bright Futures*. The results of the questionnaire would serve as the starting point of the visit.⁶⁵

As of 2008, no existing EHRs was completely "*Bright Futures* compatible." Since then, several products have implemented portions, but adoption has been slow. Compliance with *Bright Futures* requires appropriate documentation for physical examination findings. A normal exam in a one-year old will be sufficiently different from an adolescent and requires different data elements for discreet data entry. Compliance also requires supplying patients and families with an after-visit summary including current height and weight, anticipatory guidance, immunization forms, school or sports physical forms, and informational handouts. The AAP Task Force on Medical Informatics also recommended that EHRs should have the ability to

supply patients and families with documentation and ideally would provide easily customize reports to match mandated school and camp physical forms.⁶⁰

User Perspective from AAP Review System

The child development functionality appeared in about 6 percent of AAP EHR reviews. The main concern was the need for availability of child developmental tools, although some reviewers indicated that an EHR should make standardized child developmental screenings, tests, and questionnaires (like ASQ) available. Others preferred to have the ability to create and use subsets of customized surveillance milestones. Still others suggested that emphasis be placed on:

- The ease of documenting long lists of developmental milestones;
- The choice of child developmental questions that need to be administered during patient's visit;
- The need to auto-populate child developmental milestones into visit notes to ease documentation burden for patients with normal child development.

3. Family Dynamics

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

Discussion with our Key Informants recognized supporting dynamic family structures as a key functionality of a pediatric electronic health record. By successfully tying family structures together, an electronic health record can help identify and populate shared family history, social environment, and even billing structures. An EHR should support easily sharing related data between family members and linking between individual records. As family structures become more complex and dynamic, this feature is increasingly important to the clinician to understand the influences on a child's health in order to provide the most appropriate care. Without the functionality for family within an EHR, workflow can become unduly complicated when information needs to be duplicated between family members or privacy and confidentiality policies need to be updated for children who reach a certain age.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Despite a strong emphasis given by our Key Informants, very few published studies have addressed this issue. We identified only one study that described how maternal-child linkage supported detection of children at risk of perinatally acquired Hepatitis C.^{21,66} The AAP Council on Clinical Information Technology recognizes the importance the EHR to support dynamic family structures for privacy, consent, and billing purposes.⁴⁸ This reveals a disconnect between the silence of the literature and the emphasis identified by our Key Informants.

User Perspective from AAP Review System

We identified few comments on functionality related to family dynamics on the AAP EHR review Web site. One reviewer commented on the lack of linking families or siblings as units within an EHR, underscoring Key Informant discussion about problems of ascertaining identity in systems. Reviewers also noted the need to identify more than one adult or caregiver as the guarantor associated with a child. Another reviewer commented on the need to make parental connections transparent.

4. Privacy

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

One of the most difficult issues that pediatric providers currently face is the need to adhere to appropriate privacy limits as they pertain to health records of adolescents. Key Informants expressed concern that adolescents are being excluded from health information exchanges in some locations because available EHRs do not support the ability to segregate information that needs to remain in the sole purview of the adolescent patient and his or her clinician. In addition, Key Informants noted that the complex issues surrounding adolescent rights related to facets including reproductive health, choices in care, and drug use make incorporation of privacy standards in medical record systems challenging. Privacy requirements may vary by age, and permission levels within the record may vary based on clinical role or family relationship, thus complicating universal standards or guidelines.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Laws in all 50 states and the District of Columbia allow adolescents to request and receive care for certain services without parental consent or notification.⁶⁷ Ensuring a safe location where an adolescent can receive services is critical to being able to address the sensitive and potentially stigmatizing issues for adolescents. If adolescents perceive that their care will not be handled confidentially, they are likely to forgo seeking health care, especially for reproductive health, mental health, or substance abuse concerns.^{22,68} While current laws mandate and most providers recognize the need to ensure adequate privacy for adolescents and young adults, few electronic health record systems support this functionality.^{11,69}

Part of the difficulty of implementing successful privacy management for adolescents stems from the fact that individual practices have widely varied needs due to unique local laws and clinic policies. Currently, the responsibility for delivering confidential patient care is shared among clinicians, hospital and clinic administrators, patients, families, and EHR vendors.²² A breach of confidentiality can happen at any point in the process, from scheduling of the appointment to billing for services provided (Table 2).^{22,68,70} Although the complexities in providing confidential care can make implementing privacy control daunting, the use of default privacy controls in an electronic health record could help mitigate a potential breach. A core functionality identified in both the literature and by Key Informants for a pediatric EHR is a robust privacy infrastructure with default controls that allow appropriate access to and transmission of needed health information based on an individual's role and relationship with the patient.

Step
Scheduling an appointment
Confirmation of appointment
Reviewing and reconciling medication or problem lists with a parent present
Receiving and filling new medication prescriptions
Releasing sensitive laboratory results
Automated posting of an explanation of benefits or after visit summary
Request for summary of care or copies of medical records ¹¹

Table 2. Potential breaches of confidentiality during a medical visit

Note: Adapted from Table 1 in Anoshiravani et al., 2012⁷⁰ and Gracy et al., 2012¹¹

Implementing the 2009 Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) act "meaningful use" functionality while protecting a patient's privacy can present a potential conflict for both providers and EHR designers. Meaningful use regulations require medication reconciliation, providing after-visit summaries, and generating lists of patients by condition. These activities may result in a confidentiality breach for adolescent patients, especially if results of such functionalities are automatically distributed to parents or insurance companies, resulting in inadvertent disclosure of protected confidential health information.²² The EHR must be able to support meaningful use functionalities while maintaining adolescent confidentiality.

Enable Default Privacy Settings for Adolescent Patients

Ideally, an EHR defaults to initial privacy settings that are relatively strict, comply with State laws, and facilitate privacy at every step in the health care process.⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ Different individuals with various relationships to the patient may need and have a right to different levels of access, so confidential data elements should have a scope of confidentiality indicating those who should and should not be able to access that particular information.⁷¹ This scope should be robust to protect against both external (parents requesting information) and internal access to the information, such as restricting access to a family member who works at the institution where the care was provided. Information should be provided on a need to know basis.

Designate Individual EHR Items as Private

A single patient encounter may generate both sensitive and nonsensitive data. An optimal EHR designates sensitive information private to unauthorized individuals while allowing access to non-sensitive information. While most elements of the visit should remain confidential, some routine laboratory results and immunizations could be shared with a parent or guardian without risking dissemination of confidential health information. However, there are certain elements of the encounter that should remain confidential, such as psychological assessments, risk factor screening, reproductive health medications, and laboratory results.^{67,70}

While strict default privacy settings should protect against most breaches of confidentiality, they may fail to isolate certain portions of the medical record, especially free text items like narrative history and some problem lists. Conversely, default privacy settings may also isolate some patient information unnecessarily, such as when an oral contraceptive pill is being used to treat acne or when a drug like acyclovir, often used to treat a herpes simplex virus infection, is used to treat varicella.⁷⁰ The clinician in conjunction with the patient should have the ability to override the default confidentiality designation of an individual item, as appropriate. Gray et al. also note the important functionality of allowing parents to designate certain items as

confidential from their child, such as a family history of Huntington's disease, Lynch Syndrome, HIV, or psychiatric illness.²²

Studies have noted the use of clear on-screen labeling of confidential data elements to help facilitate the differential designation of sensitive items within a single patient's record.⁷⁰ While EHR designers will undoubtedly develop their own implementations of this functionality, Anoshiravani et al., (2012)⁷⁰ suggested the use of a specific background color or opaque shading of confidential elements to clearly delineate the confidential status of data item.

Transmit Privacy Settings With Information

Designating a specific portion of a patient's record as confidential is worthless if that designation does not persist as the patient's information is propagated and used by those who need it. It is important that EHRs designed to access confidential information include a consistent set of vocabulary and labels that can be transmitted along with the patient's information and this information must persist through dissemination across a health information exchange.^{22,70} While this issue clearly exists with transmission of health information to another institution, protection must also be persistent with dissemination within the originating institution, for example when a problem or medication list is copied from one note to another. Data transmission privacy must also be considered when information is shared in a non-secure method, such as with a text, email, or patient portal message.

Special Consideration to Proxy Access

The implementation of an online patient portal deserves special consideration. It would be inappropriate for an adolescent to sacrifice privacy for electronic access to her record.⁷⁰ Differential access to information should be provided in a way that is transparent to the adolescent patient.²² Proxy access is also complicated by the fact that even though an online account has been created for an adolescent, extra measures must be taken to be sure the individual logging in is actually the patient and not a guardian or a peer.

Allow Differential Access to Protected Health Information

While default general privacy settings will be sufficient for most conditions, some special conditions may demand either more or less stringent confidentiality. The AAP Council on Clinical Information Technology recognizes the importance of flexibility in the electronic health record to account for a wide array of dynamic family structures.⁴⁸ Complex issues of confidentiality and consent for treatment arise in cases of stepparents, foster care providers, and guardians. In many cases, such an individual is a primary caregiver for a child and may accompany her to primary care visits where routine treatments such as immunizations or basic screening are provided. This person may be granted permission to consent for routine or limited care based on a custodial parent's wishes. In some cases, a parent who no longer has custody of a child may retain access to the child's medical record and even the right to provide consent. This dynamic is additionally complicated in situations of child abuse, especially in the early stages of an investigation. The safety of the child must be the top priority.⁷² An EHR must allow dynamic documentation of who is allowed to consent and assent for various treatments as well as who is allowed to receive protected health information. The EHR must distinguish who has provided such consent based on the presenting problem and the diagnosis.^{48,68} A simple example of control would be to allow age-based differential access that are enforced once a patient reaches

specific milestones such as age 13 and 18, although many other options exist.⁷³ An adolescent should be able to provide such access in a noncoercive manner in a private setting.⁷⁰

User Perspective From AAP Review System

No specific comments on privacy were abstracted, but users did repeatedly suggest that a typical pediatric EHR should have features to keep information private from parents and other providers. Providers reported that some EHR systems would print notes that did not exclude confidential sections. The staff in those cases has to manually select which sections to print. Some other specific features suggested by the reviewers:

- Privacy alerts on charts
- The ability to flag some notes as "confidential"
- The compliance with state-specific privacy regulations

5. Managing Pediatric Conditions in Vulnerable Populations

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

Although all pediatric populations can benefit from the use of an EHR, this can be especially useful in managing the care of vulnerable populations. EHR functionality to support managing a clinical subpopulation may take two forms: monitoring and managing an at-risk clinical subpopulation or supporting care of a specific patient in that subpopulation. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services specify Stage 2 criteria to demonstrate meaningful use⁷⁴; as an objective, regulations include generation of patient lists by condition so that a provider may better care for a clinical subpopulation. Key Informants mention that the ability to easily identify specific lists of patient populations allows practices to schedule necessary and meaningful visits for these patients.⁷⁵

One subpopulation specifically identified by our Key Informants, but that did not appear prominently in the literature, is those children who are homeless or otherwise vulnerable. Other at-risk populations described included children in foster care and those with food insecurity or exposure to violence. An EHR could be a valuable resource to accessing and supporting this group by identifying individuals who are homeless and presenting them in a list to a provider or medical social worker. Additionally, Key Informants discussed the importance of accurate documentation of care for more traditional sub-populations such as children with long-term health conditions. Understanding "normal" for children with conditions such as cerebral palsy or chronic illness is important for recognizing and assessing change and requires a nuanced documentation of care.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Managing a Clinical Subpopulation

The EHR can support pediatric functionality to manage clinical subpopulations, such as patients carrying a specific diagnosis or with an associated risk factor. For example, an EHR might recommend thyroid testing or a cervical spine x-ray for a patient with trisomy 21. Little EHR-specific information is available in the published literature related to pediatrics, and specifically to outpatient-relevant situations. One study used the EHR to link maternal and infant

medical charts to identify infants at risk of perinatal acquisition of hepatitis C.²¹ Generation of an annual list of exposed infants was among several interventions employed to help ensure children were subsequently screened for hepatitis C after 18 months of age, in accordance with AAP recommendations.

One additional study examined the effects of implementing CDS, reminding clinicians to assess for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms every 3 to 6 months. The system included a structured note template to record symptoms, treatment effectiveness, and adverse events.¹⁸ Implementation of this functionality was associated with improved documentation and an improved visit rate of patients with a given diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.

Finally, a study by Bell et al. showed improved prescribing of asthma controller medications and generation of asthma control plans in a group with clinical decision support incorporated into their workflow as opposed to a group that was given the electronic tools only.⁷⁶

User Perspective From AAP Review System

We did not identify specific comments on managing a clinical subpopulation or supporting care of specific patients in a subpopulation in the AAP EHR user review site; however, reviewers did touch on the ability of systems to provide features specific to premature infants or special populations such as children with Down syndrome. Reviewers also commented on needs specific to children born outside the United States, such as immunization reconciliation and additional screening requirements.

6. Medications

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

Medication management, including computerized physician order entry and weight-based dosing was noted as a core functionality for a pediatric EHR, albeit one that is not unique to pediatrics. Nonetheless, medication management in children is subject to increased safety risks for at least three reasons.⁷⁷ First, a child's continuously changing physiology presents an important complicating factor for medication management.^{77,78} Second, young children do not have communication skills to warn clinicians about potential mistakes in administering drugs or about the adverse effects that they may experience. Third, children, especially neonates, may have more limited internal reserves than adults with which to buffer errors.^{3,79}

Key Informants discussed safety issues inherent in medication management, noting that a lack of such functionality increases a child's risk of receiving the wrong medication or wrong dose. The range variability among physical characteristics in children is much wider in pediatric patients than for adults, ranging from a 500-gram premature infant to an obese adolescent weighing greater than 100 kg. In certain cases, a specific dosing strategy may be contraindicated, such as when usual weight-based dosing would result in a calculated dose that is larger than a medication's maximum dose for an adult-sized pediatric patient. The pharmacokinetics and appropriate drug doses further depend on the maturity of a particular pediatric patient's renal and hepatic drug elimination systems. Given this developing physiology, a young child has relatively limited reserves to buffer the effects of improper treatment or disease, making him particularly vulnerable to adverse effects of medication variance when compared to an adult.⁸⁰

Such significant variation means that the definitions of "normal," "standard," and "wrong" dosages for pediatric patients change rapidly over time with the clinical parameters used to calculate the dosages (age, weight, body surface area, etc.). Key Informants commented on the need for flexible systems with robust rules for functions like dose rounding that take into account differences in the patient population and in the medication being administered.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Medication Management

Using weight-based dosing and individually tailored dosing makes the task of ordering medications for children correctly a complex endeavor^{77,81} that could be substantially supported in EHRs. In accordance with the Institute of Medicine definition of an EHR, an effective system would improve medication prescribing to include "(3) provision of knowledge and decision-support that enhance the quality, safety, and efficiency of patient care; and (4) support of efficient processes for health care delivery."^{48,82}

EHR systems have the potential to mitigate complexity with advanced decision support features, thus improving patient safety. Exploiting this potential calls for a specialized assessment of the unique challenges in providing pediatric care with EHRs, and in particular, unique features required of the EHRs. Pediatric medication dosing based on age and weight is more complex than dosing in adults and is prone to calculation errors.⁷⁸ The process is further complicated by a large selection of alternative routes (oral, rectal, intravenous, subcutaneous, intrathecal, intraosseus, via gastric tube) and significant variation in concentrations of the medications, which can be provided in a great variety of dispensed forms such as tablets, liquid, nasal, partial-tablet formulations, and combination prescriptions. Even if a provider calculates correctly the dose of the medication, the dose has to be translated into the correct amount of a particular concentration to be administered, which provides the opportunity for error.⁴

While amoxicillin-clavulanate is typically used in one or two dose forms for adults, thirteen different formulations are routinely used in pediatrics, increasing the chance of a prescribing error. The need for individualized dilution of stock medications and pediatric compounding of medications, with parenteral nutrition being the most complex,⁸³ places children at an increased risk of medication errors. With low-weight patients, sophisticated rounding strategies and accurate weight measurements are particularly critical to avoid over- or under-dosing.⁵⁶ For premature infants, even the patient's age can variably be referred to as chronological age, which is based on birthdate, or postmenstrual age, which represents time of gestation.

One study compared the set of dosing eRules of the clinical decision support (CDS) integrated in a vendor-supplied ordering system with traditional dosing sources, deemed the gold standard. A significant gap was found between dosing rules in commercial products and actual prescribing practices of pediatric providers.¹³

In another study, the EHR provided chronological age by default, rather than facilitating a choice of corrected age, which influenced assessment and recommendations for care.¹⁴ One study evaluating prescribing of narcotic substances in children identified support in selecting the correct concentration as well as "show your work" or the display of all data that influenced the final dose and amount in the prescription an important design feature.⁸⁴ In an unmodified (vendor supplied) EHR, medication prescriptions for children generated a higher proportion of improper dosing alerts than prescriptions for adults, resulting in extensive dosing overrides and

alert fatigue.¹⁵ In a study of pediatric dose range checking, clinicians overrode under-dosing alerts much more frequently than overdosing alerts.⁸⁵

Electronic Prescribing

An electronic medication prescribing system can vary widely in implementation. It may range from a system that permits filling a few boxes and a printing mechanism without decision support to a fully integrated e-prescribing system with full decision support including pediatric-specific drug references and cross checking of allergies and medication interactions, integrated formulary information, and longitudinal medication tracking.⁸⁰ The design and usability of such a system is important, as a very sophisticated and full-featured system may be of little use if it is too cumbersome, requires frequent workarounds, and lacks well-designed user interfaces.⁷⁸ The goal of medication prescribing in an EHR is to improve safety and ease the demands on pediatric clinicians without interruption of workflow and increase in workload.

Requirements for CDS to support electronic prescribing noted in the literature are summarized in Table 3 and include the following: weight-based dose calculations and range checks;^{9,11,48,56,86} automated dose rounding;^{9,48,56,81} age correction and adjustment for infants;¹⁴ and optimized display options for medication orders.⁵⁶

Feature	Specific Details		
Weight-based dose calculations and range checks ^{9,11,48,56,87}	 Uses specific units of measurements, preferably with allowance to switch between different systems of measurements (e.g., between metric and Imperial), and display of units of measure along with the data values. Display normal pediatric ranges for reference and advise user when no pediatric references exit. Use pediatric norms with respect to range and alert levels, citing patient weight / age with soft-stops for adult dose. 		
Dose rounding ^{9,48,56,81}	 System should allow rounding of medication doses to appropriate decimal precision in consideration of the Low-weight patients. System must be able to accept weight in grams or to third decimal place when provided in Kg. Similarly, the system must be able to accept age to the precision of days. 		
Age corrections / adjustments ¹⁴	 System should provide appropriate alerts for age correction for preterm infants, neonates, and small weight patients. 		
Optimized options for medications ^{56,84}	 This is based on the availability of medications in appropriate format or concentration. Depending on whether this is inpatient or ambulatory setting, the EHR system may be parameterized to either available forms / concentration with the pharmacy or the most convenient forms / concentrations available in the market. 		
Special label printing ^{9,48}	 These options may be considered for more advanced systems Specialized label printing for 'School-day' doses. 		

Table 3. Requirements for CDS to support electronic prescribing

User Perspective From AAP Review System

Overall, providers commonly stressed the need for effective e-prescribing. Specific suggestions included:

- Featuring weight-based dosing and utilizing an integrated calculator for that.
- Dose calculation should be automatic, pediatric specific, easy, provide soft-stops, and appropriate range-based alerts.
- A side-panel (or a hover-over popup) for brief description and justification of calculations to permit "Show your work".

- Looking up a medication should be easy and comprehensive, by both generic and brand names.
- Selecting the appropriate concentration should be supported.
- It should be possible for med list to be viewed in chronological order, and to split current and past medications.
- E-prescribing for controlled substances should be possible if allowed by state.

7. Documentation and Billing

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

Key Informants noted that clinicians routinely describe existing EHRs as too complex and cumbersome to use. Informants described the need to design systems with pediatric care workflow in mind as functionality not integrated into workflow will not be used in clinical practice. Key Informants also discussed documentation of care in terms of the ability to identify prior visits and visits at other centers. At present, data are often too fractionated across multiple systems to provide a useful picture of a patient's care. Key Informants also commented on the lack of consistent, common nomenclature for coding elements of care. Lack of a common nomenclature limits interoperability and complicates clinical decision.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Pediatric requirements in regards to documentation and billing discussed in the literature appear to be similar to adult needs. These requirements include reducing workload during documentation by reducing the number of clicks and screens required. Clinicians desire a decreased burden in documentation of their specialty specific procedures and billing codes and desire an easier way to access these items. Codes, diagnoses, and procedures should be customized to ease access to pediatric-relevant information and reduce documentation workload.

User Perspective from AAP Review System

Reviewers mentioned repeatedly that pediatric EHR systems should have the possibility of customization, often without explaining what to customize. The notion is implied that pediatric office visits typically comprise a limited set of pediatric well or sick visits with a specific range of diagnoses, procedures, and tests that are used frequently. Increasing the ease with which these items can be retrieved during documentation (for example through a "frequently used list") appears to be an important desire in regards to usability. One reviewer clarified that customizable data entry and problem lists would allow different doctors to meet their specific needs, such as when a provider needs to capture a patient's response to a specific screening tool or when they need to complete documentation for secondary use of medical data, such as with school or athletic forms.

Data management was the focus of multiple reviews. Several reviewers suggested one EHR screen to display the pertinent information needed: names, a brief yet comprehensive problem list, and a descriptive updatable summary of patient's history. This requirement seems similar to the needs of adult providers with the exception that some data elements may be exchangeable and problem lists in children often tend to be more dynamic than in adults.

The fact that providers see large numbers of patients in a day is reflected in the fact that many reviewers addressed the need for EHRs to be integrated into the provider's workflow. Several providers complained about EHR systems that lead to disruptions of the workflow mostly focusing on the ease of documentation and note taking. Another provider complained about software that requires going back and forth between screens in order to do visit documentation, which does not reflect the natural steps of information gathering in a clinical visit.

The support of RHCM was well addressed. The elements of these primary care visits are specific to pediatrics, and many EHR systems are not set up for such documentation. Other features of the documentation and workflow that reviewers mentioned include: 1) allowing for patient documentation; 2) allowing for digital signature; and 3) the need to support importing paper documents and the ability to scan them to patient's digital record.

Finally, it was noted in peer review that, optimally, EHRs will connect with evidence-based recommendations directly.

8. Pediatric-Specific Norms and Growth Charts

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified by Key Informants

One essential area that differentiates pediatric and adult EHR requirements is the need to incorporate pediatric norms, an issue frequently noted by Key Informants. For example, the value of normal heart rate is not universal but depends on age. Most EHRs contain alerts and displays of upper and lower limit of normal based on adult normal values only,^{11,88} which may lead to the loss of their potential to provide clinically useful alerts or visual cues based on the range of appropriate norms for pediatric patients. The lack of pediatric norms may become dangerous when an EHR fails to identify and alert for abnormal values that may indicate life-threating conditions. For example, a heart rate of 60 is normal in an adult but should trigger an alert in an infant.

Childhood is a period of change, where growth and development advance not always at a linear acceleration, and special populations will have varying growth patterns. Attention to the special significance of children's growth in pediatric practice is also essential for a pediatric EHR and should manifest in graphic display and special calculations of growth patterns and comparison with normal velocity of change in typically and atypically developing children. Because small changes in growth parameters, such as weight changes in premature infants, may be important, systems should be able to store data scales that adjust the number of decimals to the total amount (three decimals for the display of weight for a premature infant, zero decimals for an adolescent) to demonstrate these changes.

Key Informants noted that the development of alternative growth charts to account for variations in growth patterns may be limited by poor availability of evidence strong enough to support their use and the fact that validated growth charts for special populations are lacking. Special population growth charts in commercial EHR systems, if available, may be derived from unknown data samples and using methods that may not have been clearly reported. Data sets used to derive the specialized charts are typically not accessible for testing.

Summary of Recommended Functionalities and Issues Identified in the Literature

Sensitivity to Growth Norms

A pediatric EHR is expected to support recording of measurements on a sufficiently granular scale to be useful for newborn or infant care. Reports in the literature have noted that EHRs should be able to compare vital signs with age-based normal ranges, accept provided normative values, and alter normal ranges to represent specific ethnic, or geographic populations.⁹ A Key Informant pointed out that pediatricians who are not affiliated with integrated health systems and whose EHRs lack pediatric norm functionality may not have adequate technical or financial resources to manipulate EHRs to account for specialized needs.

Flexibility in Data Formats

Pediatric-compliant EHRs are sensitive to numeric and non-numeric data.⁴⁸ Norms for almost all numeric data (such as laboratory results, body measurements, scores on standardized assessments, and vital signs) change as the child grows. The measurements of most of these data are continuous, and they depend on age and/or other variants. A limited number of reference ranges may not be enough, and pediatric EHRs should be able to define a normal reference range for each piece of data at any age or in the appropriate age group granularity. Depending on data distributions, providing percentile values and/or standard deviations from the means should be available in pediatric EHRs. For non-numeric data (e.g., the presence of an abnormal physical sign), an EHR should consider age in the interpretation of normality. For example, several routine physical exam findings for newborn infants are considered an abnormal finding in older children (e.g., open fontanel).

Although age and weight are the two variants that many pediatric data depend on, some normative data is related to complex variants.⁴⁸ Blood pressure, for example, has a reference range that is determined by age, sex, and height percentile. Another example is the peak flow meter norms, which also depend on those three variants. When a pediatric-compliant EHR flags an abnormal value of blood pressure, spirometry, or other pediatric data assessment, it should take into account all different related variants.

One challenge to the implementation of pediatric norms into EHR systems is in the case of laboratory values.⁶⁰ The reference laboratory and not the EHR usually supply the normal ranges for these values. The EHR should be able to allow users to both integrate normal references ranges for age provided from the laboratory and to alter normal ranges to represent specific age and ethnic or geographic populations.

Flexible Growth Charts

The AAP Task Force on Medical Informatics has recommended growth chart functionality in EHRs including "Recording, graphic display, and special calculations of growth patterns, the ability to calculate, display, and compare a child's growth percentiles and body mass index (BMI) with normal ranges, the ability to use different ranges for different patients, the ability to store data on a small enough scale to represent these changes."⁶⁰

One study of growth chart functionality in an EHR system in a multispecialty pediatric clinic in an academic medical center described an electronic growth chart able to manipulate data, perform calculations, and adapt to user preferences and patient characteristics.⁸⁹ It used reference parameters and Z-score values for weight, height, and head circumference. The growth chart was

easily viewed and supported features including the calculation of growth velocity, superimposing mid-parental height points on height curves, and plotting height curve against skeletal age. After implementation, the number of documentation instances of weight, stature, and head circumference improved from fewer than ten total per weekday, up to 488 weight values, 293 stature values, and 74 head circumference values suggesting increased incentives to providers to record these data in the EHR.

Table 4 outlines desiderata for EHR system–based growth charts identified in this study via experiences with EHR users, discussions with members of the AAP Council on Clinical Information Technology, and discussions with members of the Health Level-7 Pediatric Data Special Interest Group.⁸⁹

Table 4. Desiderata for management and representation of pediatric growth in an EHR system^a

\٨/		ŀĿf	10	
vv	U	ĸı	10	w

Use routinely gathered growth measurements Automatically generate growth charts Growth charts accessible from standard EHR system components Growth data and calculations reusable for other tasks (e.g., decision support, documentation)

Growth data

Capture weight, height or length, head circumference

Calculate body mass index and growth velocity

Calculate percentiles and standard deviations based on population norms

Capture data using different units of measurement (e.g., grams, kilograms, pounds)

Capture context of measurement (e.g., lying or standing, ventilated, receiving growth hormone)

Support automated data capture from measurement devices (e.g., digital scales)

Presentation

Display growth data on standardized charts as the default view

Display against standard population-based normal curves

Display normal curves based on age, gender, and other demographic characteristics

Display using graphical and tabular formats

Display predictive growth curves or growth targets

Display time and date of birth for infants

Functionality

Calculate mid-parental height by gender-specific parent height percentiles Display bone age measurements with actual age measurements Display development states (e.g. Tanner stages) with actual age measurements Derive and display and the median age at which a given growth point is achieved Allow adding, deleting, and editing of growth points Enable varying the scale's level of detail (i.e., zoom in or out) Support printing and faxing Support user preferences (i.e., connected points, superimposed values, table or graphical chart) EHR = electronic health record

^a From Rosenbloom et al., 2006⁸⁹

Subpopulation-Specific Growth Charts

Growth may be altered or impaired in some conditions including prematurity and Down syndrome, Turner's syndrome and others. Population-based growth charts may not accurately reflect development of these children. Despite the lack of validated alternative growth charts as discussed above, the AAP recommended that EHR systems incorporate syndrome-specific growth charts where feasible. Attempts to address some of these alternative growth charts are noted in the literature. One example is a study that generated new growth curves for weight in male and female children with Down syndrome that described an approach to develop standardized, EHR compatible, sub-population growth charts, along with a computable data table.⁹⁰ The study highlighted the need for using consistent approach or a standardized set of normative curves across processes to develop EHR-integrated growth charts. Without a consistent approach, different EHR systems will use different protocols for monitoring of growth in sub-populations, which limit inter-system communication, data exchange, and efforts to screen for growth abnormalities in children.

Another example is the application of pediatric Prader-Willi Syndrome growth charts of both genders, in two tertiary care facilities.⁹¹ The authors noted some challenges in one of the two study centers that created barriers for application including the use of a commercially available EHR as compared to an in-house developed EHR and the lack of full application of a system-wide EHR that likely reduced the demand for Prayer-Willi Syndrome growth chart.

Premature infants represent another challenge for the design of EHR growth monitoring. The use of chronological age instead of corrected age when plotting against growth charts may result in incorrect interpretations regarding the adequacy of a child's growth or developmental progress and has the potential to negatively affect care.¹⁴ The AAP and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommended correcting age for all premature infants up to age 24 months. In one study of an EHR that used chronological age as a default setting, corrected age was used in only 24 percent of visits for infants less than 32 weeks gestation during their infancy outpatient visits in 31 primary care sites. The implications of this finding include an over-identification of developmental delay, and dietary changes including increase of caloric intake that were more likely to be done incorrectly or earlier than indicated. This study implied that EHR did not facilitate the choice of the corrected age in this population, and that default to chronological age may have contributed to the inappropriate choices by providers.

Growth Monitoring Decision Support Tools

Changes in growth trajectory or not being on a target growth curve can signal clinical problems developing in an infant or child; thus, support for growth monitoring is a helpful component of an EHR. Nonetheless, few growth monitoring decision support tools were developed and described in the literature. One group in Finland conducted a population-based pre-post intervention comparison study of a computerized and automated growth monitoring strategy integrated into EHR system in pediatric primary care setting.⁹² The application of this tool statistically increased referral because of suspected growth delay from 0.22 percent in standard growth monitoring era to 0.64 percent in automated growth monitoring era. Although this EHR-integrated tool increased the workload in of specialists, it improved primary care sensitivity to the detection of growth disorders.

User Perspective From AAP Review System

The Pediatric-Specific Norms and Growth Charts functionalities were mentioned in many reviews. The majority of pediatric providers who reviewed their own EHR systems on the AAP Web site expressed satisfaction with the fact that pediatric growth charts were available to them. However, a few reviewers reported using EHR systems that did not provide any growth charts at all. A few other providers complained about the absence of specific charts like a BMI chart, premature infant growth charts, and Down syndrome growth charts.

As a key element for tracking a child's health and development, growth charts are of major concern to pediatricians. The reviewers stressed the need for up-to-date and standardized growth data from reputable sources like World Health Organization or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention as well as alternate charts for children with developmental issues such as being born prematurely or having Trisomy 21. Other concerns included:

- The need for automatic percentile calculations;
- The need to have height, weight and BMI included on the same chart;
- The need for alternate units of measurement;
- The need for the parameters to be customizable by age; and
- General usability/readability of the plotting feature.
GQ2. Description of the Context in Which EHRs Are Implemented

G2A. What is the potential value of pediatric-specific functionalities in the context of care transition, specifically from newborn care to pediatric primary care, from pediatric primary care to pediatric specialist care, and from pediatric primary care to adolescent care?

The provision of pediatric care occurs over the course of many transitions that may involve a variety of care providers against a backdrop of growth and development of the neonate to child to adolescent and to adult. They may experience additional transitions at any point, including from inpatient care to outpatient care or from primary care to specialty care. Frequently care is provided in nontraditional settings such as school health or camps. Many times communication for these transitions needs to be bidirectional, and if the patient has any special health care needs, transitions may be especially challenging. Our recently published technical brief on transitions of care from pediatric to adult care for children with special health care needs⁹³ documented a dearth of evidence on what works to support and facilitate this particular transition.

The AAP endorsed the Got Transition recommendations as an accessible resource for the development of EHR functionalities to support the transition of care for children, specifically children with special health care needs.⁹⁴ As with the description of *Bright Futures*, above, however, the available materials are unlikely to be immediately translated into a programmable form due to complexity, lack of disambiguation, and decidability; nonetheless, Got Transition can provide a potential roadmap for EHR developers.

Discussions with our Key Informants identified transitions as an important functionality of a pediatric EHR. Despite its importance, it is not easily tied to a specific function but instead is affected by the improvement of multiple functions and services provided. This is perhaps not surprising given the wide range of ages, clinical scenarios, and meanings encompassed by the concept. Transitions identified by the Key Informants are listed below with a brief description of their importance. Related functionalities described in the current literature will be discussed following the descriptions.

Age-Based Transitions

For the transition of care from the fetus to newborn, newborn screening plays an important role. Virtually every infant born in the United States undergoes a series of screening tests shortly after birth to identify potentially debilitating or fatal conditions.⁹⁵ States differ in how many conditions are tested during newborn screening, but diseases such as phenylketonuria, hemoglobinopathies, cystic fibrosis and several others are common among all states. In the environmental scan for the Children's EHR Format, Intermountain Health reported that an EHR "would include coded results of genetic, metabolic, and developmental testing and describe functionality for prompts for caregivers for regional, state, or other requirements."⁷² Due to the rare nature of the diseases being screened, a primary care provider may never have previously encountered one of these conditions.⁹⁵ As such, the EHR must facilitate clear dissemination of results and decision support for immediately required actions as well as readily accessible storage of results for use throughout childhood and even into adulthood.

Another study evaluated using the EHR to improve hepatitis C screening and followup. This example illustrates a clinical scenario where at-risk children are identified around the time of

birth by maternal history, but screening is not to take place until after the child is 18 months old. In that study, at risk children were initially identified retrospectively through manual chart review, but the EHR intervention used automated prospective identification and improved hepatitis C screening tests from 8 to 50 percent.²¹

The transition from infancy into childhood is a period marked by frequent well-child visits and frequent immunizations. Specific EHR functions to support this transition thus depend on an EHR's ability to send, receive, integrate into a patient's record, and prompt physicians to act on vaccine data or lack thereof. In addition to vaccinations, preventive care information that is appropriate to a patient's age and developmental stage should be provided at every well visit. As the body of evidence-based recommended guidelines keeps growing, it becomes more difficult to determine which guidelines may apply to a specific patient. One study applied a Bayesian learning method to an existing patient information and screening tool in order to provide physician prompts and patient education better suited for that individual.⁹⁶

Adolescence marks the physical transition of a child into an adult and an EHR should facilitate this. Developmental screening, anticipatory care in the form of patient handouts including high risk behaviors, and vaccinations continue to play an important role during adolescence, but privacy becomes a much larger focus than in previous stages of a child's life. The Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine recommends than an EHR needs to take into account the special needs of adolescents to access health information and the vigorous protection of confidentiality.²² The American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology provided recommendations in the form of a committee opinion. They note that institutions establishing an EHR system should consider systems with adolescent-specific modules that can be customized to accommodate the confidentiality needs related to minor adolescents and comply with the requirements of State and Federal laws.⁹⁷ Important age-based transitions that the pediatric EHR should support are summarized in Table 5.

Transition	Challenges	Relevant Functionalities
Fetal to Newborn	Involves physiologic changes of the infant as well as a physical transfer from hospital to home to clinic. A parent or infant may change providers during this time creating additional transitions from one facility, provider, or State to another.	Documentation (specifically growth tracking and screening tests as well as mother baby link to allow maternal labs to be linked to the infant) Child development
Newborn to childhood	Development encompasses changes in physical, emotional, intellectual, motor, neurological, and psychological health. Vaccinations are important in this time period. Most required vaccinations are completed by 15 to 18 months with nearly all required immunizations completed by 4 years. ⁹⁸	Vaccines Child development Anticipatory guidance Population Management
Childhood to adolescence	Begins the transition to adulthood and creates new challenges not only for the patient and parents, but also for the providers and the EHR. Privacy laws and definitions of autonomy create a unique interplay between patient autonomy and privacy concerns. Significant development continues to occur during this time. Providers must achieve appropriate health maintenance while also promoting responsibility and self- interest in the adolescent's own health.	Child development including risk behaviors Medications Population Management Privacy
Adolescence to adulthood	This transition will be unique for each patient. A major goal is assessing a patient's readiness for transition out of pediatric care and into adult care. Complexity of medical history, ability to manage one's own care, or ability of an adult provider to manage an uncommon childhood condition are possible modifiers for readiness.	Privacy Population Management

Table 5. Key age-based transitions relevant to EHR development

Inpatient and Outpatient

Some patients transfer between inpatient and outpatient care multiple times. Facility transfers often involve different EHR systems and highlight the need for improvement in interoperability of data between EHR systems. Basic requirements for an EHR "must support patient-care transitions between medical homes via universal (i.e., vendor/technology-neutral) portability standards for patient records among different medical home information systems".⁹⁹ As of the time of this report, it is critical to note that such universal interoperability is for the most part still dependent upon paper transmission due to a lack of Health Information Exchange (HIE)^d. Hospital discharge after admission for asthma carries its own set of mandates from the Joint Commission and is thus an increasingly studied example of this transition.

Key Informants and literature review likewise identified the transition from one facility to another as an important function for an EHR to perform. Methods of data transmission and interoperability are shared between pediatric and adult EHRs. Nevertheless, asthma appears in the literature as a special case of this transition likely due to mandates put in place by the Joint Commission. In 2003, the commission developed three specific measures to help reduce high readmission rates for patients with asthma. Two of the three measures have maintained greater than 95 percent compliance nationwide for the use of relievers and corticosteroids for inpatient admissions. The third measure focuses on self-management by providing a home management

^d As defined by the Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS) Health Information Exchange (HIE) "provides the capability to electronically move clinical information among disparate healthcare information systems, and maintain the meaning of the information being exchanged."

plan of care or "asthma action plan."¹⁰⁰ Such plans apply also to school and recreation. Due to regulation and assessment by the Joint Commission, there is a growing body of literature on methods for improving compliance. While this asthma action plan is a discharge requirement for patients admitted with asthma, many clinics use the same form as an informational handout following clinic visits. Enhancements in EHRs should support pediatric asthma management by reinforcing physician adherence to guidelines and improving patient followup. The group anticipates that improved EHR support will increase the level of evidence-based care patients receive.¹⁰¹

Similar to asthma action plans, the literature search identified forms known as "emergency information forms" (EIF), also known as an individualized plan of care, as an important function to facilitate transitions of care, especially between the patient centered medical home, specialty services, and acute care. The AAP and American College of Emergency Physicians endorsed the EIF as a minimum data set for use in emergencies. The EIF is optimally created in the patient centered medical home for a child with specific or complex medical conditions to provide a minimum amount of data about diagnoses and medications the patient carries as well as procedures a patient should or should not receive in emergencies. One study created a database for storing the EIF for a patient and stated that an accurate emergency summary should help to prevent medication errors at the time of transitions of care.¹⁰²

The Particular Challenge of Identity

A Key Informant singled out transitions of identity as one of the most important functions of an EHR. The identity of a child changes when there is a divorce and one parent is assigned custody. Movement to a different state, home, or insurance carrier affects the whole identity of a child. Foster care, emancipation status, and identity protection are just a few facets of all the features that truly make up a child's identity. These issues are admittedly hard to quantify for inclusion and certification in a pediatric EHR but are important functions to think about in the scope of this review.

Although our Key Informants were adamant that transitions of identity, including through acquisition of a name after birth, through divorce and adoption and in the foster care system are critical for EHR implementation, little is available in the literature to guide best development of the EHR in this regard.

As noted by the AAP, "A universal patient identifier is a desirable but as yet unachieved goal."⁶⁰ Thus, an optimally functional EHR will need to provide assignment immediately at the time of birth or even before if prenatal procedures are to be performed. EHRs need to accommodate temporary data for this field and flexibility of search functions as well as maintaining records of multiple names used by the patient. "Limited ability to communicate with pediatric patients increases the reliance on the EHR to accurately identify patients, detect erroneous assumptions, discover symptoms, and access historical information.⁵⁶

In summary, a child can be discharged from the hospital with one name and arrive in clinic the following day under a new one. Separately or in conjunction, the payer relationship often depends on custody, employment status, or the ability to submit paperwork on time to the correct offices. Key Informants mentioned that sensitive issues such as adoption, foster care, or egg/sperm donation can also play a deterministic role in the identity of a child. For reasons of marriage, parenthood, or financial security children can obtain emancipation status prior to the age of 18. Current EHR systems are rarely adequate for representing this. As mentioned,

literature review did not provide a solution, but the paucity of evidence should be an impetus for ongoing research.

GQ2B. Are certain pediatric-specific functionalities beneficial for a provider to conduct her work including sick and well-child visits? If so, does this vary by health care setting (e.g. primary care office, specialty care office, school health, and alternative care settings) or by type of visit (e.g., preventive vs. acute care)?

The available literature to date provides little suggestion of the ways in which particular functionalities are beneficial within the context of pediatric care overall, or the degree to which they affect workflow and day-to-day processes. Key Informants note that while the literature to date has focused on functionality, in particular as it pertains to meeting requirements and improving health, substantially less attention has been paid to issues of the user interface and workflow as they are specific to the care of children. This is clearly an area for future examination and consideration as pediatric EHRs are developed and disseminated more broadly.

Nonetheless, it is an area where we gleaned input from Key Informants. Key Informants noted the importance of tying functionalities to supporting pediatric providers in meeting Meaningful Use requirements and measuring quality. A particular characteristic of the well-child visit is the degree to which it is highly structured. Components of that visit and parts of the physical exam for example, may or may not be associated with a quality metric or longer-term health outcomes.

Key Informants suggested that pediatric quality measures be incorporated into the development of the EHR such that reporting becomes part of the workflow and not an additional burden to the provider. In this way, decisions about what to build into the EHR are driven by two things – our empirical knowledge about what issues are tied to hard health outcomes (e.g. vaccinations and smoking status), and established quality metrics that will need to be gathered in a clinical practice.

For example, one particular area that is difficult to integrate into the workflow was noted to be tracking and care around child development, particularly in a busy environment with short visit times. By the same token, while tracking child development in an EHR may be a worthwhile endeavor and desirable to pediatricians, evidence that such incorporation affects clinical outcomes is largely lacking. Our Key Informants noted aptly that physicians have met needs such as vaccination logic in the absence of an electronic health record for many years. Thus of key importance is that the EHR fit easily into the clinician's workflow with a focus on usability. Interestingly, as noted in GQ4 below, despite the centrality of this issue, particularly in pediatrics, evidence is trailing.

Appropriate CPOE integrated with clinical decision support (CDS) for dosing and relevant alerts make it easy for the pediatric provider to conduct her work. Appropriate weight and age based dose calculations, appropriate dose ranges, and corresponding alerts to indicate improper dosing expedite the medication use workflow for the pediatric providers.

GQ2C. What are the challenges to implementing specific functionalities? Are some harder than others to implement by a) vendors; and/or b) pediatric providers?

Per our Key Informants, any implementation of an EHR needs to be mindful that pediatrics is a high volume practice, and adding time and complexity to the day in a field with an already relatively low margin will be problematic for physicians. Ironically, implementation of all of the noted functionalities may actually create a challenge for pediatric providers to successfully see enough patients while documenting adequately and using the fully functionalities available in the EHR. Key Informants noted that taking the time to record additional information than might have previously been recorded comes at potentially significant cost if it requires fewer visits take place. Indeed, one study in our review documented the time that it took for a pediatric practice to return to baseline volume after implementing an EHR and it was substantially longer than the vendor had indicated.¹⁰³

Vaccines

Vaccine functionality in EHRs is hindered by factors such as non-centralized, proprietary databases that cause fragmentation of vaccination records. Clinical decision support does not perform well when documentation is incomplete and in fact can prompt physicians to give immunizations unnecessarily. Thus, finding ways to ensure that various databases communicate well and that one complete and correct record is available are particular challenges to properly implementing vaccination procedures in the EHR. Without being able to consistently demonstrate compliance with vaccinations in the patient population, physicians risk over or under vaccinating, and indeed multiple authors note this challenge.¹⁰⁴ The literature search identified concerns in addressing immunization status accuracy. Both parents' and provider's records included errors.¹⁰⁵ In addition to this core challenge, many systems have inefficient forms of data entry requiring scanning of paper records or electronic submission to a State registry that does not interface with the native patient record. Finally, different immunization formulations and manufacturers create deviations in the way a patient can be delinquent and change the number of doses needed to be considered up to date.

Routine Health Care Maintenance

RHCM tracking is a particularly challenging area of general pediatrics. The AAP has approved nine different developmental screening instruments – all of which vary in format, sensitivity, specificity, and modality. Many of these are licensed products, which may impede incorporation into the EHR.¹⁰⁶ *Bright Futures*, the most commonly used reference for RHCM, has proven difficult to incorporate actively into electronic health records due to only a minority of recommendations being computationally decidable and executable.⁶⁵ Decidable statements require that every condition is described clearly enough so that practitioners would agree on the clinical circumstances for which the recommendation should be applied. Executable statements describe recommended actions that are stated clearly and unambiguously. This applies both to anticipatory guidance and screening recommendations as with RHCM as well as with decision support for appropriate diagnosis and treatment during acute visits. Decision support can be used to prompt a provider to recommend the appropriate vehicle restraint device based on the child's age, height, and weight, but the EHR cannot easily evaluate whether a child has accomplished "learning to manage conflict nonviolently", "avoiding situations in which drugs and alcohol are

readily available", and "avoiding risky situations." Implementing *Bright Future* guidelines electronically will require discrete recommendations, age-based topics, and completely standardized wording.⁶⁵

Privacy

Those who do not care for adolescent patients regularly may consider adolescent privacy as a niche issue.^{69,70} However, the same techniques employed in protecting an adolescent's privacy can be expanded to many other situations including ill adults who desire to protect certain health information from their children or caregivers. Also, these issues are now extended with the observation that some adolescents can also remain on their parents' insurance policy through the age of 26.⁶⁹

Implementation of privacy controls in the EHR focus on maintaining granularity and consistency across the privacy implementation. For a relatively small EHR implementation, having a single default privacy setting with minimal customization may be adequate and may help to improve utilization by minimizing confusion.

Allowing default privacy settings is easiest when information is stored in structured data fields. Many providers currently use adolescent risk assessment screening tools that contain copyrights that present a barrier to direct integration into an EHR. Paper copies of these forms are currently being scanned into medical charts, which can add complexity to controlling the protected health information.¹¹

Managing Pediatric Conditions in Vulnerable Populations

An EHR that supports management of clinical subpopulations will support generation of patient lists with a unifying feature as well as decision support to improve care of each individual patient.¹⁸ In order to implement such recommendations, clinical practice guidelines must be both decidable and executable.⁶⁵ Generation of such lists must be done in the context of respect for patient privacy in cases of potentially sensitive health information.²² An EHR can support the adoption of practice guidelines and clinical recommendations by incorporating decision support models that fit into a clinician's workflow when most needed.⁷⁶

Implementation challenges for managing a vulnerable population fall generally into two categories: identifying individuals in the population and providing care tailored to their particular needs. Identifying children in social contexts such as homelessness or foster care can be difficult unless an EHR contains a mechanism for tracking these social constructs. If these individuals are identified properly, a Patient-Centered Medical Home can help ensure the children are receiving necessary social and community support.¹⁰⁷ An EHR can assist in identifying children with complex care needs.¹⁰⁸ For these individuals particularly, the storage of complex and varied data types that can be shared between institutions is critical.¹⁰⁹

Medications

Enhancing an adult-focused ordering system for safe pediatric medication management is an intense and sophisticated task and has limitations.¹¹⁰ Such efforts require high-level sponsorship, involvement of clinicians, and round-the-clock support.¹¹¹ Nevertheless, these efforts are seen as necessary and beneficial in reducing medication errors.^{87,112} In particular, vendors face the challenge in the context of detailed dosing options of integrating alerts that are appropriate and

improve safety but that do not generate fatigue, which commonly leads to the practice of physicians ignoring alerts as a nuisance.

Documentation and Billing

An EHR to support billing and documentation incorporates into a clinician's workflow. Currently, patient data is often spread across multiple health systems. Health information exchange barriers can hinder assimilation of this data. Users of pediatric EHR systems often requested the ability for customization but without specific indicators on what needs to be customized. In order to provide customization, venders will need to know which areas and options the clinician would like to customize. Pediatric providers also often requested incorporation of specific screening tools and local athletic or immunization forms. For proprietary tools, licensing can be a barrier to implementation. Local forms may require specific customization for inclusion.

Pediatric-Specific Norms and Growth Charts

Both the Centers for Disease Control and the World Health Organization have published validated growth charts for boys and girls, with the distinction of the World Health Organization chart being a growth standard and the Centers for Disease Control chart being a growth reference. Unfortunately, validated charts do not exist for many diseases, despite these being highly desired by pediatric providers. This creates a challenge for EHR venders who must choose either to including non-validated charts in their software, to rely on customers to decide which charts they will support, or not to include alternates at all.⁸⁹⁻⁹¹

Growth charts are not the only pediatric data without validated norms. Almost every information category from laboratory test reference ranges to medication doses to vital sign measurements contains gaps in pediatric normative data. Venders continue to face this constant challenge of what data to use for pediatric standards.

GQ3. Evidence for Pediatric-Specific Functionalities (Evidence Map)

GQ3A. Is there any evidence that using an EHR adapted for the specific needs of pediatric providers compared with using a "regular" EHR or not using an EHR at all produces (a) better quality, including safety and cost outcomes for patients; and/or (b) improved workflow or job satisfaction for providers?

GQ3B. Which pediatric-specific functionalities influence (a) patient outcomes (including safety; quality; cost; equity; standardization of care; and/or efficiency); (b) the ability of a pediatric provider to conduct work within the EHR; (c) improvement of workflow and provider satisfaction; and/or (d) involvement of patients and families (including their education and shared decision making)?

The evidence base that we identified for GQ3a and GQ3b consisted of targeted existing systematic reviews, supplemented by original studies published since completion of those reviews. For QG3a and QG3b, we were limited our inclusion to empirical literature that provided data on the specific outcomes in these questions.

As this is a technical brief, and not a systematic review, we did not assess the rigor of individual studies or assess the strength of the evidence. Of note, the available literature did not directly answer the two GQs. Therefore, we describe the empirical literature that is available in an attempt to provide indirect evidence around these issues. For example, studies did not compare non-pediatric to pediatric EHRs, as would be ideal for GQ1. There were a number of studies describing the *de novo* implementation of a pediatric EHR using a pre-post approach. Therefore, we combined the answers to these GQs to provide as complete a view of the available literature as possible. We have organized the literature around the functionalities described in GQ1.

We included in our summary studies that used noncurrent comparators and retrospective studies, but note that these have inherent weaknesses in rigor for assessing effectiveness. We sought studies that measured effectiveness for better quality, including safety and cost outcomes for patients and improved workflow or job satisfaction for providers. Studies needed to address an evaluation of an EHR generally or specific functionalities in a pediatric setting and had to evaluate an intervention that either was focused in the outpatient setting or that, if studied in the inpatient setting, would also apply in the outpatient setting. We identified four recent systematic reviews addressing EHRs or EHR components in pediatric settings. Three primarily addressed CPOE and medication errors,¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵ and one assessed pediatric-focused health information technology.¹¹⁶

The amount of empirical literature meeting our questions was limited. Nonetheless, we grouped the information thematically into efforts to improve vaccinations rates, reduce medication errors, increase accurate diagnoses (primarily of obesity), and other studies (most commonly focused on screening and preventive care). We identified no studies that directly compared a pediatric-specific EHR to one developed for an adult population.

Across all clinical topics, we examined 30 studies that evaluated the implementation of an EHR overall or modifications to or additions to an existing EHR.^{8,16-19,58,61,76,87,103,117-136} One study¹⁹ reported on outcomes related to workflow, including satisfaction, but most studies reported process outcomes (e.g. vaccination rates and medication errors) or documentation (proportions of children for whom diagnoses were correctly documented). See Figure 1 for detailed reasons for exclusion.





An AHRQ review assessed pediatric health information technology broadly and noted some evidence to support CPOE and CDS from a small number of studies, largely conducted in academic medical centers.¹¹⁶ Some studies reported improvements in documentation and antibiotic prescribing and some reductions in medication errors. Evidence for changes in vaccine adherence was mixed, with small improvements in adherence to one vaccine in one study in a general pediatric population and improvements in flu vaccine in children with asthma in another. Timeliness of drug administration and diagnostic testing was improved in one NICU study.¹¹⁶

Vaccination-Specific Functionality

As described in GQ1, the availability of vaccine services support in a pediatric EHR is consistently described as a core functionality. The prominent role of the vaccination schedule in well-child care makes it unsurprising that a bolus of work exists evaluating systems of increasing systems to improve vaccination rates in a variety of populations. The studies most commonly used clinical decision support and most often targeted rates of influenza vaccine, often in vulnerable populations.

We sought primarily studies that took place in outpatient settings as those are most relevant to this technical brief. All of the vaccination studies used some sort of decision support in an existing EHR (Table 6). Most were retrospective, although two were cluster RCTs, randomized at the practice level and conducted by the same group.^{17,120} In all studies, vaccination rates increased, although without true comparator groups, the degree to which the increase is associated with the EHR implementation or to some degree, learned behavior is unknown. Nonetheless, vaccine support was consistently described in the nonempirical literature and by our Key Informants as essential and the body of literature provided a basis for feasibility and effectiveness of using clinical decision support to increase vaccination rates and support the documentation process.

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Fiks et al., 2013 ¹²⁰ RCT, cluster (randomized at the practice level) 22 hospital-owned primary care practices	All girls ages 11 to 17 years due for at least one HPV vaccine in the study period	Clinician and family directed decision support, using an existing EHR Clinician intervention: EHR-based alerts for all routine adolescent vaccinations; 2) 1 hour presentation and 3) quarterly performance feedback reports Family intervention: automated telephone calls based on an EHR- generated roster. HPV vaccination rates (cumulative incidence) and time to vaccine receipt.	The combined intervention group demonstrated the greatest effect in both vaccination rates and time to vaccine, compared to the control group. Effects of individual components or of either the clinician or family group alone were not significantly greater than control.
Nelson et al., 2014 ⁵⁸ Pilot retrospective design with a convenience sample Outpatient specialty clinic	Pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus Pre: 40 charts Post: 20 charts	CDS in existing EHR Rates of compliance with infection and cardiovascular disease preventive care quality indicators	PVX vaccine (%) Pre: 31.3 Post: 81.0 Influenza vaccine (%) Pre: 33.3 Post: 95.0 Lipid panel (%) Pre: 25.0 Post: 76.0

 Table 6. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on interventions to increase vaccination rates

 in pediatric care

Table 6. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on interventions to increase vaccination rates	j
in pediatric care (continued)	

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Patwardhan et al., 2012 ^{57,128} Pre-post; stakeholder survey	Medical records from rheumatology patients aged 1 to 22 years, 3 cohorts (2007, 2008, and 2009)	Automatic best practice alert reminder in the record introduced from September 2009 to April 2010	Vaccination rate (%) 2007: 9.0 2008: 7.8 2009: 25.5 Rates of vaccination differed
Pediatric hospital rheumatology clinics		influenza receipt over 3 years	significantly by attending physician.
Pollack et al., 2014 ¹²⁹ Pre-post, retrospective Seattle Children's Hospital	All children 6 months of age and older hospitalized between 2003 and 2012 Admissions: 20,651	System integrated into EMR to determine flu vaccine eligibility, conduct screening and order appropriate formulation Screening status and vaccination status	Screening rate (%) Pre: 19.8 Post: 77.1 Vaccination rate (%) Pre: 2.1 Post: 8.0
Bundy et al., 2013 ⁸ Interrupted time series Urban, hospital based pediatric primary care clinic	children seen by pediatric residents and selected from 3 age groups	CDS prompt to providers to administer vaccines that were overdue Proportion of children up to date at index birthday; proportion of children up-to-date within one year of index birthday	Up-to-date on index birthday No clinically meaningful change Up-to-date within one year of index birthday No clinically meaningful change
Fiks et al., 2009 ¹⁷ RCT, cluster 20 Primary care sites (2006-2007)	Children ages 5 to 19 years with asthma Participants (visits) Pre-intervention: 10,667 (21,422) Year 1: 11,919 (23, 418)	EHR-based clinical alert for influenza vaccine Captured vaccination opportunities	Change in captured vaccination opportunities (%) Intervention sites: 4.8 Control sites: 3.2 95% CI: -2.4 to 4.9
Fiks et al., 2007 ¹⁶ Pre-post 4 urban primary care centers affiliated with an academic medical center	All children younger than 24 months during a 1 year intervention (2004 to 2005) Visits: 15,928	Electronic reminders programmed to appear at every visit where a vaccine was due Rates of captured immunizations opportunities and overall immunization rates at 24 months	Captured immunization opportunities at well-child visits (%) Pre: 78.2 Post: 90.3 Captured immunization opportunities at sick-child visits (%) Pre: 11.3 Post: 32.0 Up-to-date, adjusted (%) Pre: 81.7 Post: 90.1

Table 6. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on interventions to increase vaccination rates in pediatric care (continued)

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Stockwell et al., 2014 ¹³⁶	Children (predominantly Latino and publicly insured).	Electronic reminders based on merged data from a regional IIS	Influenza vaccination rate (% of non-up-to-date children vaccinated at visit)
RCT, cluster 4 community	8481 unique child visits; 6958 not-up-to-date	Vaccination status Documentation for non- administration	Reminder on: 76.2 Reminder off: 73.8
pediatric clinics affiliated with an academic medical center and community hospital	Median age of 6.5 years		Documentation of non- administration Reminder on: 68.1 Reminder off: 41.5

CDS = clinical decision support; RCT = randomized controlled trial; her = electronic health record; EMR = electronic medical record; HPV = human papilloma virus; IIS = immunization information service

Medication-Specific Functionalities

Most studies of weight-based dosing and the use of CPOE to reduce errors have been conducted in inpatient settings, particularly in the NICU or PICU. No studies have used concurrent comparators. Of the four recent systematic reviews addressing EHRs or EHR components in pediatric settings, three primarily addressed CPOE and medication errors.^{113,114,115} CPOE was typically associated with reductions in medication errors and some improvements in vaccine adherence and timeliness of care.^{16,57,58,120,129} Potential associations between reduction in errors and patient outcomes were not clear, and across reviews, studies assessed heterogeneous implementations.

Studies were often conducted in academic medical centers or in specialized populations (e.g., in the NICU or with children with asthma), thus generalizability to other settings and contexts may be limited. Moreover, technologies were implemented in unique and complex systems of care, and disentangling the effects of an individual technology from the overall system of care is challenging. We summarize these prior reviews below from recent to oldest in Table 7.

One review and meta-analysis published in 2014^{113} included eight pre-post studies addressing CPOE implemented in the PICU setting. In seven of eight studies, medication errors were significantly reduced after implementation. The review also reported positive effects of electronic decision support and documentation tools on prescribing errors and delay in medication delivery. CPOE with CDS was positively associated with error reduction in metaanalysis (RR=0.47, 95% CI: 0.28 to 0.79).¹¹³

Another review included eight studies of CPOE systems in the NICU or PICU. Medication prescription errors and/or adverse drug events decreased in three of five studies and decreased in another, though potential adverse drug events increased. Mortality results were mixed with a significant decrease post-implementation in one study, significant increase in another study, and non-significant decrease in third. In meta-analyses, potential and actual adverse drug events showed a non-significant decrease after CPOE (RR=0.65, 95% CI: 0.01 to 0.77), and mortality rates were not significantly influenced by CPOE (RR=1.02, 95% CI: 0.52 to 1.94). In the one study reporting an increase in mortality after CPOE introduction,¹² mortality risk associated with CPOE was elevated (OR=3.28, 95% CI: 1.94 to 5.55).¹¹⁴

One systematic review evaluated interventions to reduce dosing errors in children and included 14 studies of CPOE. Most studies were pre-post designs and most reported reductions in total error rates after CPOE implementation, though as noted in the systematic review previously described, one study¹² reported an increase in mortality following implementation of CPOE. The investigators note that systems classed as CPOE likely varied considerably in functionality.¹¹⁵

In addition to the systematic reviews, we sought original research published since the end date of the systematic reviews. Only one directly relevant study (i.e. in the outpatient setting) was identified.⁸⁷ Nonetheless, we provide an overview of inpatient studies under the view that those systems of care would also be relevant to outpatient medication processes, where issues such as weight-based dosing are also in play.

In the outpatient study, an automated weight-based dosing calculator added to an existing EHR was associated with significantly fewer medication errors after implementation in multiple family medicine clinics. The study focused specifically on the use of ibuprofen and acetaminophen in children ages 12 and under.⁸⁷

Studies examined either the implementation of a CPOE or CPOE with and without CDS. Among those that studied all potential iterations, those that separately addressed the issue of CDS in addition to the CPOE consistently reported that while implementation of CPOE generally did not lead to significant change, the addition of decision support around dosing did.

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population/Groups	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
McCrory et al., 2014 ¹²⁷	Patients in a PICU who received manual red blood cell exchange	Introduction of a CPOE system (Eclipsys Sunrise Clinical Manager)	Protocol violations (n) Pre-intervention: 20 Post-intervention: 3
retrospective		Protocol compliance and effectiveness of the manual	Sickle hemoglobin reduction (%)
Academic children's hospital		red blood cell exchange procedure	Pre-intervention: 55 Post-intervention: 70 Prep=0.04
			Peak hemoglobin (g/dL) Pre-intervention: 12.0 Post-intervention: 11.5 p=0.25
Bissinger et al., 2013 ¹¹⁸	All infants who had antibiotics initiated for a suspected healthcare-	Development and introduction of a CPOE system, after a period of quality improvement	Antibiotic timing, mean (SD) Pre: 150 (85.1) Phase I: 113 (70.4)
Pre-post, prospective quality	associated infection	projects	Phase II: 74 (43.4) Phase I vs. Phase II: p<0.001
improvement study	Phase I:Baseline Phase II: Implementation of	Improvement between Phase I and Phase II in time to	Administration within 2 hours
Academic NICU	a CPOE	antibiotic	(%) Dro: 45
			Phase I: 66
			Phase II: 85 p<0.001

Table 7. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on CPOE and weight-based dosing

Table 7. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on CPOE and weight-based dosing (continued
--

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population/Groups	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Maat et al., 2012 ¹²⁶ Interrupted time- series simulation study Academic NICU	All neonates hospitalized for one or more days between 2001 and 2007 with one or more risk factors for hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia (n=2040)	System combining CPOE and parenteral and enteral nutrition ordering (CPOE system with additional CDS for glucose calculations) Hypoglycemic and hyperglycemic episodes and prescribing time efficiency	No significant pre-post difference on numbers of hypo- and hyperglycemias per 100 hospital days of patients in every 3 month period (p=0.88; p=0.75) or per 100 glucose measurements (p=0.91; p=0.74) Stratification for SGA also showed no effect. Physicians completed the three simulation cases correctly with a significant reduction in time with CPOE vs. calculation of 1.3 minutes for simple and 8.6 minutes for complex cases.
Kazemi et al., 2009 ¹²³ Pre-post with three periods Iranian neonatal ward	P1: no CPOE P2: CPOE without decision support P3: CPOE with decision support	CPOE with and without decision support Non-intercepted dosing errors in antibiotics and anticonvulsants	There was no significant difference in error rates pre and post CPOE without decision support. Errors were significantly reduced after decision support was added to the CPOE (53% to 34%; p<0.001) Dose errors were more frequently intercepted than frequency errors. Notably, physicians ignored alerts when they did not understand why they appeared.
Longhurst et al., 2010 ¹²⁵ Pre-post Academic children's hospital (quaternary care center)	All non-obstetric inpatients admitted 2001 to 2009 Discharges (n) Pre-intervention: 80,063 Post-intervention: 17,432	CPOE (locally modified functionality within a commercially sold EHR to support CPOE and electronic nursing documentation) Mean monthly adjusted mortality	Change in mortality rate, adjusted mean monthly Post-implementation: 20% reduction (95% CI: 0.8 to 40), p=0.03

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population/Groups	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Kadmon et al., 2009 ¹²² Pre-post with four periods Tertiary care medical center, PICU	1250 orders from each of the 4 periods P1: no CPOE P2: CPOE without decision support P3: CPOE with decision support P4: CPOE with decision support after a change in prescription authorization	CPOE with and without decision support that included dosage recommendations and limits on prescriptions Prescription error rates	Total errors (%) P1: 8.2 P2: 7.8 P3: 4.4 P4: 1.4 p<0.0001 Potential adverse drug events (%) P1: 2.5 P2: 2.4 P3: 0.8 P4: 0.7 p=0.82 MPEs (%) P1: 5.5 P2: 5.3 P3: 3.8 P4: 0.7 p=0.0001 RVs P1: 0.002 P2: 0.001 P3: 0 P4: 0.7 p=1.0
			Significant decreases in errors occurred only after the addition of decision support to the CPOE
Yu et al., 2009 ¹³⁵ Case control study Data from the health information management systems society analytics database linked with the national association of children's hospitals database (2005 – 2006) Children's hospitals	Cases: 4,625 Controls: 18,040	Presence of a CPOE (hospitals that implemented electronic order entry in all clinical domains)	Adverse drug events Odds of experiencing an ADE were 42% higher in hospitals without CPOE

	Table 7. Selected evaluation ar	d outcomes studies on	CPOE and weight-based	dosing (continued)
--	---------------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	--------------------

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population/Groups	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Ginzburg et al., 2009 ⁸⁷	Children ages 12 and younger receiving either ibuprofen or	Automated weight-based dosing calculator within the EHR	Pre- vs. Post-intervention Medication errors: p=0.002 Strength overdosing errors:
Pre-post	acetaminophen prescriptions	Medication and overdosing	p=0.028
Multiple family		errors	
medicine clinics	Visits (n) Pre-intervention: 316 Post-intervention: 224		

Table 7. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on CPOE and weight-based dosing (continued)

CPOE = computerized physician order entry; her = electronic health records; NICU = neonatal intensive care unit; PICU = pediatric intensive care unit

^a See: "Improving Antimicrobial Prescribing Practices in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit" (5R01NR010821)

Obesity Diagnosis

A body of literature exists on methods for encouraging the recording of BMI and presumably, appropriate follow up, including a prior systematic review on the use of information technology for screening and treating obesity that includes studies through April 2012.¹³⁷ All but one of the newer studies identified used a pre-post design (Table 8). Newer studies consistently reported higher rates of diagnosis and documentation, but given substantial attention paid to issues of obesity in children, it is not entirely clear that increases may not have been associated with secular trends. No studies describe patient health outcomes or directly address workflow issues.

As noted in a study published in 2012, in which there was a concurrent comparator, the predicted probability for a diagnosis of obesity increased in both groups (with and without a structured progress note) but the increase was greater in the intervention group. In this study, the effect of a point of care alert with clinical decision support was studied in two group practices in Massachusetts.¹¹⁷ One implemented the alert, and the other did not. The decision support tool was activated in the intervention set of clinics for children whose age and sex-specific BMI was equal to or greater than 95 percent. The baseline rate of documenting an ICD-9 code for obesity was significantly lower in the intervention group at baseline than in the comparator group, and this group demonstrated significantly greater improvement in documentation over the course of the study. While this study demonstrates a case in which a decision support tool was able to increase documentation, additional study is necessary to understand the degree to which documentation leads to appropriate care and patient-centered outcomes. All other studies were pre-post with the inherent risks of bias associated with that design.

Table 8. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies on use of documentation functionalities to)
improve identification of obesity	

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target outcomes	Results
Shaikh et al., 2014 ¹³²	36 pediatric house staff and 12 attending physicians; 432	An alert for high BMI, a checklist and standardized documentation template	Diagnosis of overweight/ obesity increased from 40% to 57%.
UC Davis Health System	children (574 total visits)	Adherence to clinical recommendations for overweight and obesity	Proportion of children scheduled for followup visits increased from 17% to 27%.
Bode et al., 2013 ¹¹⁹ Pre-post	All adolescent patients, ages 12 to 19 presenting for well-child care	Inclusion of BMI percentile and BMI growth curve by the medical screener	Rates of BMI Pre: 30.0 Post: 30.5
Academic military medical center, adolescent clinic			Correct diagnosis rate (%) Pre: 40.0 Post: 64.0 Pre vs. Post: OR=3.36, 95% Cl: 1.7 to 6.7
Savinon et al., 2012 ¹³⁰	All children ages 7 to 18 years presenting for a	Customized EMR including data entry for BMI calculation, risk	Rates of diagnosis no change
Pre-post Federally funded, privately owned community health center	well-child visit for a total of 74 records (40 written and 34 electronic)	assessment questionnaire for parents, diagnosis prompt, and an obesity-specific followup visit. Frequency of recording BMI, completing growth charts Number of children diagnosed with overweight or obesity	BMI recorded in EMR patients were significantly more likely to have a BMI recorded in the record after the intervention
Keehbauch et al., 2012 ¹²⁴ Pre-post	Family medicine residents, pediatric and family medicine faculty	EHR upgrade to include BMI by gender and age, plus physician education versus EHR upgrade alone	Correct documentation of overweight or obese status (%)
Two community- based family medicine residency	2 to 18 years	Site 1: EMR upgrade plus physician education Site 2: EMR upgrade alone	Pre: 29.7 Post: 40.2
			Pre: 19.4 Post: 27.5
Ayash et al., 2012 ¹¹⁷ Quasi-experimental (natural)	Children ages 2 to 18 years seen for well-child care between 2006 and 2008	Computerized point of care alert with clinical decision support; physicians at one system were led to a structured progress note	Predicted probability of an obesity diagnosis increased significantly more in the intervention group than in the control.
experiment Multisite group practices	Intervention: 34,908 Comparison: 123,446	Predicted probability of diagnosis of childhood obesity	

BMI = body mass index; her = electronic health record; EMR = electronic medical record

Other Functionalities Including Prevention and Counseling

A growing body of literature is assessing additional services, including preventive care and counseling. Much of this literature focuses on populations with special health care needs and thus provides support for the use of EHRs in population management. Populations studied

included children with asthma and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Table 9). Screening and prevention topics included increasing appropriate Pap smears in young women, screening for anemia and tuberculosis on the basis of family triggers, and behavioral screening.

A recent study assessed whether the rates of preventive counseling delivered at well-child visits is different for practices that use a basic EHR, a fully functional EHR, or no EHR.¹⁹ This study provides the best estimates to date of national rates of EHR use as they relate to preventive care. The authors conducted a cross-sectional analysis combining data from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) and the National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) Electronic Medical Records Supplement from 2007-2010. NAMCS provides information about the use of ambulatory medical care service and NHAMCS provides details about hospital-based outpatient and emergency departments in the United States. These two surveys include information provided by physicians or staff members that include patient demographics, counseling topics discussed, ICD-9 codes, and visit duration.

Overall 77 percent of preventive visits were performed with no EHR, 14 percent with a basic EHR, and 9 percent with a fully functional EHR. When comparing basic to fully functional EHR's, visits take 3.5 more minutes (18%) for fully functional EHRs than those with basic EHR's (p=0.05). In practices with fully functional EHRs, 34 percent more counseling topics were covered in during the visit. When time is considered in the model, visits utilizing fully functional EHR's provided 36 percent more counseling than those without an EHR (p=0.009) and for each 10-minute increase in time spent, the average number of topics increased by 12 percent (p=0.01).

One study described the time needed to learn a new system and return to baseline visit numbers after implementation of an EHR.¹⁰³ This study reported simultaneously that outcomes were positive in terms of increasing presence of problem lists, decreased medication and forms turnaround time and decreased need for medical support staff. However, appointments had to be restricted for 3 months rather than the expected 4 weeks as staff learned the system.

Table 9. Selected evaluation an	d outcomes studies o	f other functionalities
---------------------------------	----------------------	-------------------------

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target Outcomes	Results
Rand et al., 2013 ¹⁹ Cross-sectional Analysis of NAMCS and NHAMCES data (2007 – 2010)	National comparison of practices with and without EHRs Well-child visits	Presence of an EHR Preventive counseling at child and adolescent well-child visits	Practices with EHRs documented 34% more preventive topics than those without Well-child visits with a fully functional EHR lasted 3.5 minutes longer than those with a basic EHR
White et al., 2013 ¹³³ Pre-post, retrospective review of data Academic medical center	374 adolescents, median age 19 (range: 14 to 20) years; 71 providers	CDS revised to reflect current guidelines for screening in adolescents, including raising reminder age to 21 years, and providing guidance about which test (Pap only) is appropriate for young women. Physicians cervical cancer screening patterns for adolescents	Number of pap smears decreased significantly overall (34%, p<0.0005) by 60% among OB/GYNs (p<0.005) and by 20% (p=0.08) among primary care physicians. The proportion of pap smears that were indicated did not change significantly overall or in any department. Most pap tests in both periods were not supported by the guideline-concordant algorithm.
Hacker et al., 2012 ¹²¹ Pre-post Academic pediatric practice	Seven pediatricians, serving 6,000 patients	Implementation of an EHR (transition from paper records) with a questionnaire for entering results from paper forms previously used to screen for mental illness	Rate of behavioral screening increased in the baseline period from 70% to 91%, but decreased in the training period by 28%. Half of eligible youths were screened in the month after implementation and screening did not return to baseline levels until 3 years after implementation.
Carroll et al., 2011 ⁶¹ RCT General pediatric practice	2239 children	CHICA decision support and EMR system Implementation of screening for iron-deficiency anemia and tuberculosis based on family response to trigger questions	Physicians were more likely to screen in the presence of risk factors in the intervention group. Anemia: 17.5% vs. 3.1%, p<0.001 Tuberculosis: 1.8% vs. 0.8%, p<0.05

Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target Outcomes	Results
Co et al., 2010 ¹⁸ RCT, cluster General pediatrics; 12 primary care practices	Children aged 5 to18 years with a prior diagnosis of ADHD; 79 pediatricians	EHR-based decision support, including a) clinician reminders to assess symptoms; and b) and ADHD note template Proportion of children with visits in the study period in which ADHD was assessed and quality of documentation of ADHD assessment	Patients in the intervention practices were more likely to have had <u>any</u> visit at which ADHD was discussed (p=.04); however, they did not have an increased likelihood of a non- well-child visit with ADHD discussion (.p=.27) or a well- child visit with ADHD discussion (.33). 33% of eligible physicians in the intervention group used the ADHD template over the study period. The template was never used for any visit other than one specifically for ADHD.
Bell et al., 2010 ⁷⁶ RCT, cluster Children's Hospital of Philadelphia system, 12 primary care sites in the	stratified on urbanity	CDS alerts embedded in the EHR to encourage physicians to use available asthma management tools Proportion of children with persistent asthma with 1) at least one prescription for controller medications; 2) up to date ACP; 3) for ages 6, documentation of spirometry	Urban intervention practices had statistically significant increases in asthma controller medications and spirometry compared to controls. Although suburban practices had significant increases pre-post overall, there was no significant difference between intervention and control groups. Of note, urban practices had higher rates of compliance prior to the intervention.

Table 9. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies of other functionalities (continued)

			(1.1.1)
Author, Date Study Design Setting	Population	Intervention Target Outcomes	Results
Samaan et al., 2009 ¹⁰³ Pre-post Urban pediatric academic practice	20 attending physician and 26 transient physicians; residents and medical students seeing 14,000 patients with 35,000 visits annually	General Electric Logician 5.5 Version EHR Documentation, medication refill turnaround time, medical record support staff time, billing practices, patient volume and access to appointments, and patient cycle time	Presence of a problem list improved from 29% to 84% within 6 months. Medication turnaround time improved from 48 hours to 12 hours. Forms' turnaround decreased from 7 to 10 business days to 3 to 5 business days. Medical support staff needs decreased from 1 to 0.5 full time employee . Although the vendor suggested that patient volume would be returned to baseline after 4 weeks, appointments had to be restricted by 10% for an additional 3 months. This led to an increased wait for the third next available from 3 to 50 days, which returned to baseline in 1 year.
Schriger et al., 2000 ¹³¹ Interrupted time series with ITT Academic emergency medicine department	Febrile children less than 3 years of age presenting to the emergency department	CDS based on guidelines for the care of febrile children without known cause Quality of documentation of the medical record and after-care instructions; Appropriateness of testing and treatment decisions and diagnoses; Percentage of testing and treatment charges associated with indicated activities; Per-patient charges per visit	Documentation increase of 21 essential history and exam items from 80% in the control to 92% during the intervention. Percentage documentation of after-care items increased from 48% to 81% Documentation decreased to baseline when the computer system was removed.

Table 9. Selected evaluation and outcomes studies of other functionalities (continued)

ADHD = attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; EHR = electronic health record; CDS= clinical decision support; CHICA = Child Health Improvement through Computer Automation; NAMCS = National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey; NHAMCS = National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey

Another study demonstrated that EHRs have the potential to improve counseling and screening at well-child visits.⁶¹ The Child Health Improvement through Computer Automation (CHICA) system is a decision-support and EHR system for pediatric health maintenance and disease prevention. This study focused on screening for two specific conditions: tuberculosis and iron-deficiency anemia. When a patient checks into the clinic, the CHICA system prints a prescreening form. While waiting to see the provider, the patient or parent completes a prescreening form. The responses to the questions on the form were used to generate a provider worksheet that the clinician uses during the visit. In this study, patients were randomly selected to receive questions on the prescreening form about risk factors for tuberculosis and iron-

deficiency anemia. If there were concerns, the provider worksheet would then reflect the increased risks with tailored alerts and encourage them to explore this area more thoroughly with the patient and perform risk-based screening tests if appropriate. The study included a control group in which the parents did not receive questions to answer and the provider worksheet contained only a generic reminder to inquire about these two conditions.

This study resulted in significant findings for the detection of risk factors for tuberculosis and iron-deficiency anemia. In the intervention group, significantly more people reported positive risk factors for iron-deficiency anemia as compared with the control group (OR=6.6, 95% CI: 4.5 to 9.5). In the tuberculosis group, there were also significantly higher detection rates of positive risk factors (OR=2.3, 95% CI: 1.0 to 5.0). The authors demonstrated that the CHICA system performs well in assessing risk directly from parents and patients to determine who should receive risk-based screening for tuberculosis and iron-deficiency anemia.

Ongoing Research

It is clear that research that is more rigorous is needed to inform development and implementation, and indeed a number of studies have been identified as being in progress. Studies that are currently registered as ongoing are documented, including their populations, interventions, and outcomes under study in Appendix F. We identified 17 ongoing studies, most of which are being conducted at academic centers, on a range of clinical topics, including improving asthma care, increasing vaccination uptake, weight-based dosing and care for premature infants.

GQ4. Dissemination and Future Developments

GQ4A. How does testability and usability of core functionalities promote or impede dissemination and future development of pediatric EHRs?

A number of challenges are associated with the development and implementation of core functionalities for pediatric EHRs.

Implementation of health information technology projects has a significant likelihood of failure. Adding pediatric functionalities to existing EHRs may both have a positive effect or negative on implementation success. Among the anticipated positive effects is the possibility that adding functionalities to EHRs that support workflow and required tasks that pediatric providers need to perform will increase provider willingness to adopt these systems. Presumably, under this scenario, they will perceive the value of the improved workflow, reduced documentation burden, and secondary utilization of data, including school physical exams or immunization records.

Negative effects through additional pediatric functionalities may be linked to poor implementation into workflows, inclusion of functionalities that have little value to pediatric providers, and unintended consequences of new pediatric functionalities such as increased documentation burden or increased liability.

Introducing a new pediatric functionality to an EHR should, therefore be done thoughtfully and is ideally is done in consideration of utility, testability, and usability principles. Understanding the importance of computability and specificity of guidelines as well as motivations for development of pediatric-specific functionalities provides further insight into how dissemination and development will be driven in the future.

Utility

Utility refers to the usefulness of a specific function to both the pediatric provider and the patient. If a pediatric function is added to the EHR that rarely provides value and is associated with a significant burden, for example underdosing alerts,⁸⁵ then its utility must be considered as low and vendors and providers should refrain from implementing it into pediatric EHRs.

We identified no specific literature to the topic of utility of pediatric functionalities, although Key Informants identified a number of functionalities that they perceived to have high immediate utility for pediatric providers. These included such as dosing support, immunization documentation and forecasting, documentation of pediatric development and physical exams, anticipatory guidance, and pediatric growth charts, as described in GQ1. Also, certain high volume diseases and their pediatric specific management needs were identified as targets for functionalities with high value (e.g. subpopulation management of children with asthma).

Testability

Testability or validity refers to the finding that a pediatric functionality actually performs the function it purports to perform. For example if immunization forecasting is added to an EHR, it has to be validated that it actually provides the correct recommendation to a provider. For this scenario, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recognized the complexity and provide

a testing framework that allows developers to test their forecasting results against expected results.^e

No papers were identified that focused on testability of pediatric EHR functionalities. The paucity of pediatric specific features in EHRs explains this finding. However, indirect evidence exists that there is a need to validate pediatric functionalities as indicated by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention effort to allow developers of immunization forecasting to evaluate the validity of their clinical decision support. Anticipating the increased implementation of "Bright Futures" in pediatric EHRs, we also anticipate the need for a validation process. The need is not only determined by the ambiguity and decidability of some Bright Futures recommendations⁶⁵ but also by the complexity of the decision support required to select the appropriate developmental questions and exams based on age, gender, and prior knowledge of the patient's state.

The phenomenon of system testability is extremely new and generally poorly understood. Testability is typically relevant to core functionalities that utilize patient-specific data (age, weight, height, immunizations received) and contextual variables (date, planned medication order) to detect out of range or abnormal values (delayed growth, delayed immunizations, inappropriate medication doses for age) to recommend changes in plans (revised immunization administration plans, age-appropriate medication doses) and to compute higher-level patient data (e.g., body mass index.) Systems employing computational approaches to provide these recommendations may be at risk for causing medical errors. These components may, however, be tested against use cases. A Key Informant stated that "testing has been a part of certification and implementation of Surescripts® electronic prescribing messaging standards for more than 10 years." Testing also has been employed in immunization ordering and status checking¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰ and in tools to calculate weight-based dosing of prescription medications.

These papers demonstrate the need for rigorous assessment of core functionalities amenable to testing, with publication of those results in a way that allows adopters of these patient data to factor these data in their purchasing decisions. However, the literature search returned no papers summarizing the value of testability, researching variation in computation among vendor systems for pediatrics, and assessing the impact of exposing any test results to purchasers.

Clearly specified functionalities, which include computable guidelines and data standards where applicable, are preferred by vendors, and such functionalities would be more straightforward to test. However, the usability of the functionalities was clearly presented as a high priority, and testing for usability can be difficult and time-consuming. One Key Informant asserted that "usability and being specific about how to design a function that has conformance criteria are orthogonal concepts or perhaps even contradictory."

An Investigator noted that this issue is currently being discussed in another venue overseen by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention where features for improving immunization functionalities in EHRs are being addressed, including testing for usability. Knowledge obtained from those efforts would be relevant and provide useful input to this topic.

Usability

Usability describes how well functionality integrates into the workflow of a clinician and can be used at the right time during a visit without interrupting other processes. This issue applies to the development and implementation of all EHRs, of course, but we describe it here because it is

^e See http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/programs/iis/interop-proj/cds.html

an essential issue to address. The implementation alone of desired pediatric-specific functionalities is not necessarily associated with an improved pediatric EHR to support pediatric care, as it is the *usability* of the functionality that drives acceptance. Building pediatric functionality is not enough to assure that the EHR is being used by pediatric providers.

Several comments from Key Informants emphasized the importance of new functionalities being able to support workflows in an efficient manner, at the risk of being underutilized. Among the comments:

- "Frequently, pediatricians report that the core functionality takes too long or is too complicated. Usability is the issue, and is one that is difficult to measure."
- "Software can be designed with the functionality, but if it is not in a workflow-friendly user interface, it does not matter that the functionality exists. A feature list without a gauge of usability is not helpful."
- "One of the chief complaints that you hear from the users is that it is too hard to use plain and simple. If they are too hard to use, then the full benefit of what is the actual functionality is lessened."

One suggestion to increase usability of new functionalities was to recommend that vendors provide real-time, contextual support features to optimize the use of pediatric tools. Usability of EHR functionalities has been recently reviewed by AHRQ.¹⁴² In the adult literature, usability of core functionalities has affected EHR adoption and dissemination. The report recommended additional research to document use patterns and evaluate user interfaces in the pediatric domain.

However, a literature search did not identify any articles specific to pediatric core functionalities. It is clear from feedback provided to the AAP EMR review site that there is a difference in perceived usability of core functions across the spectrum of commercially available EMRs. Feedback on that site is designed to both steer pediatric practices toward more usable systems and to "raise the bar" of functionality in those systems found less usable. Given the wide variation in perceived usability, it would be useful to understand how these perceptions affect dissemination and future modifications by these vendors. There was implied consensus through the categories evaluated in the EMR review site and expressed consensus by the Key Informants that usability evaluation/research in pediatric EHRs is needed to improve experience, workflow, and incentives for EHR use.

Specificity and Computability

Proposed functionalities should be clearly defined, using specific guidelines and standardized data when applicable to reduce vendor interpretation and translation.

A Key Informant representing a pediatric EHR vendor stated that, "The more concrete and computable, the more likely a vendor is going to pay attention." The same informant gave an example of two different sets of data for pediatric growth charts - one from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and one from the World Health Organization - and explained that, "If there is no source of official data, vendors effectively make up the data and put it in their EHR. In practice, vendors can easily produce the features; however, vendors cannot make up the standards."

Key Informants suggested that organizations such as the AAP and other key expert organizations should work with vendors to aid in the creation and dissemination of guidelines and standardized data similar to the work currently performed by the Partnership for Policy Implementation at the AAP.

Incentives for Developing Pediatric Functionalities

Incentives for developing pediatric functionalities for EHRs are currently driven by (1) meaningful use requirements and the Patient-Centered Medical Home; (2) a desire to support and maintain patient safety; and (3) the increasing presence of pediatric-specific clinical quality measures.

Meaningful Use and the Patient-Centered Medical Home

Currently, EHR vendors have been concentrating their development resources on meeting the stages of Meaningful Use requirements, so that their products can become certified and available to providers and hospitals that want to use those products to take advantage of financial incentives. Per one former vendor and Key Informant, vendors' ability to respond to customer demands for new features and improved usability has been reduced by half in response to the Federal legislation.

Key Informant discussions on how to continue to prioritize and promote/incentivize vendors to develop specific core functionalities for pediatrics focused on the following strategies: patient safety, clinical quality measures, Meaningful Use, and the Patient-Centered Medical Home.

A Key Informant representing a pediatric EHR vendor stated, "for the near future, anything that is in the model pediatric data format that lines up with Meaningful Use or the Patient-Centered Medical Home is much more likely to get done than those that do not. The Patient-Centered Medical Home and Meaningful Use certification are driving development." Increased survival of complex pediatric patients, as well as the increase in chronic illnesses such a diabetes, hypertension, and obesity in pediatric populations, make the care coordination functionality an increasing priority.

Patient Safety

Key Informants suggested that the safety aspect of dealing with pediatric patients is an important consideration. Specifically, pediatric patients have different standards for vital signs. Heart rates and blood pressures that may be considered normal for most individuals are significantly abnormal for certain age ranges. Pediatric patients require weight-based dosing, which is prone to calculation error. Automated calculations remove some of the human check factors leading to the potential for more error. Pediatric EHRs must according to the Key Informants and the literature reviewed in GQ1 assure that providers receive help in the complex decision making process required in pediatrics especially in the domains of medication management and immunization forecasting.

Clinical Quality Measures (CQMs)

As more CQMs are recommended specifically for the pediatric population,¹⁴³ it will become increasingly important for EHRs to have the capability to support these recommendations, including the collection of required data elements and generation of relevant reports. The literature demonstrated improvements in population health associated with core measures in asthma management.⁷⁶

Summary and Implications

There is expert consensus in the literature that EHRs used in the care of children require specific pediatric functionalities to support the work of child health care providers and to assure the delivery of quality care to pediatrics patients. These functionalities relate to a child's evolving physiology and maturity and the conditions that are associated with those.^{77,78} Key areas include vaccination, child development, physiologic medication dosing, pediatric disease management, pediatric norms, and the relationship between pediatric patients and their caregivers, including adolescent privacy.

Vaccine forecasting and management is generally considered a critical pediatric functionality of an EHR. Forecasting is complex and must reflect local and regional immunization requirements. It must support documentation and appropriate handling of combination vaccinations. In accordance with meaningful use requirements and to support the pediatric clinician, the EHR must have the ability to communicate with one or more vaccine registries and exchange data bidirectionally.

The EHR needs functionalities to support longitudinal assessment of child growth and development and counseling regarding injury prevention, proper nutrition, and lifestyle choices. Bright Futures is the primary guideline used by most pediatric clinicians for child development and growth as well as screening for abnormalities and anticipatory guidance.⁶² The EHR could maximally support child development recommendations by providing tailored longitudinal recommendations for individual patients using clinical decision support, such as those from Bright Futures.^{63,65} A key functionality related to the child's changing physiology and maturity is the incorporation of pediatric specific norms and growth charts into the EHR. A pediatric provider must assure adequate, on-target growth and development. This work requires the EHR to support longitudinal documentation of growth and developmental patterns with adequate age and granularity specifications. The growth chart should be readily available in the EHR and must capture weight, height or length, head circumference and calculate body mass index, growth velocity, percentiles and standard deviations based on population norms. Display should be available in a variety of formats that vary based on gender and condition (e.g. trisomy 21). The growth chart should support adjustments for gestational age, mid-parental height, bone age measurements, and the ability to manipulate, display, or disseminate data in a variety of ways to suit the clinician's needs.

Clinicians often describe EHRs as complex and cumbersome to use. An optimal EHR is created according to user-centered design principles to support workflow and reduce documentation workload. Data is assimilated from multiple sources and is readily available for the pediatric provider. The EHR should be flexible enough to support capture and generation of screening forms and health summaries for secondary use of medical data, such as with school or athletic forms.

A pediatric friendly EHR must support medication dosing based on dynamic physiological parameters such as weight, age, body surface area, and metabolic function. Medication ordering is additionally complicated by a wide array of available tablet strengths and liquid concentrations. The appropriate dose and medication interactions can also change by the route of administration. EHRs should facilitate weight and body-surface based dosing that supports appropriate rounding based on a medication's safety and efficacy margin, which may change based on route and patient's physiology such as hepatic or renal function. Prescribing should also incorporate common features of adult medication management such as drug-drug and drug-allergy checking, provision of an indication and diagnosis associated with each medication, and

the ability to provide comments with salient prescription information that should be made available to pharmacists and others downstream. In summary, the EHR prescribing system should provide assistance in selecting appropriate dose and dispensing amounts given the specific patient's physiology and maturity and diagnoses.

The pediatric EHR should support functionality that assists with care and management of common pediatric conditions, such as asthma, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and perinatal exposures. On the macro scale, the EHR should support management of clinical subpopulations by allowing creation of customized lists based on condition or feature. On the individual scale, the EHR incorporate clinical practice guidelines and recommendations into the standard clinical workflow, including generation of pediatric specific billing codes and documentation.

A key functionality related to the child's changing physiology and maturity is the incorporation of pediatric specific norms and growth charts into the EHR. A pediatric provider must assure adequate, on-target growth and development. This work requires the EHR to support longitudinal documentation of growth and developmental patterns with adequate age and granularity specifications. The growth chart should be readily available in the EHR and must capture weight, height or length, head circumference and calculate body mass index, growth velocity, percentiles and standard deviations based on population norms. Display should be available in a variety of formats that vary based on gender and condition (e.g. trisomy 21). The growth chart should support adjustments for gestational age, mid-parental height, bone age measurements, and the ability to manipulate, display, or disseminate data in a variety of ways to suit the clinician's needs.

The pediatric patient is cared for in the context of a dynamic family and social structure. For the young child, this includes linking complex family structures and promoting anticipatory guidance and screening that is tailored to the individual in the context of that structure. As the child becomes an adolescent, the EHR must support robust privacy controls that may have many complexities. Reports in the literature and Key Informants advocate default privacy functionality that can then be customized to allow differential access to various portions of the adolescent electronic health record. Such privacy settings must be in accordance with State laws that require confidentiality. With granularity and customizability, a successful implementation has the potential to provide even more security than classical paper records and may allow clinicians to better care for the unique needs of the adolescent patient population.⁶⁷

While many of these functionalities are not purely pediatric, their key role in the care of children in contrast to their minimal role for adults could mean they can get overlooked if an EHR is designed primarily for adult care.^{48,60} Yet, if these functionalities are implemented well, the EHR will also undoubtedly better support the care of all patients (Table 10).

A number of challenges were identified in the technical brief. For example, vaccine functionality in EHRs is hindered by factors such as non-centralized, proprietary databases that cause fragmentation of vaccination records. Clinical decision support does not perform well when documentation is incomplete and in fact can prompt physicians to give immunizations unnecessarily. Thus, finding ways to ensure that various databases communicate well and that one complete and correct record is available are particular challenges to properly implementing vaccination procedures in the EHR. In terms of medication management, enhancing an adult-focused CPOE system for a safe pediatric medication management is an intense and sophisticated task and has limitations.¹¹⁰ Such efforts require high-level sponsorship, involvement of clinicians, and round-the-clock support.¹¹¹ Routine health care maintenance is a

particularly challenging area of general pediatrics. The AAP has approved nine different developmental screening instruments – all of which vary in format, sensitivity, specificity, and modality. *Bright Futures*, the most commonly used reference for routine health care maintenance, has proven difficult to incorporate actively into electronic health records due to only a minority of recommendations being computationally decidable and executable.⁶⁵ Tracking growth in children adds yet other challenges. Both the Centers for Disease Control and the World Health Organization have published validated standard growth charts for boys and girls. Unfortunately, validated charts do not exist for many diseases, despite these being highly desired by pediatric providers. This creates a challenge for EHR venders who must choose either to including non-validated charts in their software, to rely on customers to decide which charts they will support, or not to include alternates at all.⁸⁹⁻⁹¹

Table 10. Summary and Implications

Core Functionalities in Pediatric Electronic Health Records
Vaccine forecasting and management Reflects regional requirements Supports documentation, including combination vaccinations Communicates with registries
 Routine Health Care Maintenance Facilitates longitudinal assessment of growth and development Calculates body mass index, growth velocity, percentiles, and standard deviations Allows customized growth charts as approved by clinician Provides tailored longitudinal health and safety recommendations
 Documentation and Billing Integrates into a clinician's workflow to reduce documentation overload Supports use and creation of customized forms Interfaces with schools and community health organizations
 Medications Facilitates medication prescribing by weight, body surface area, and age Incorporates dose rounding tailored to a medication's safety and efficacy profile
 Management of Vulnerable Populations Generates patient lists based on key clinical diagnoses or risk factors Identifies patients in a clinical subpopulation who are due for preventative services Incorporates clinical practice guidelines into a standard clinical workflow
 Family Structures Links families together for easy navigation and data sharing between family members Supports dynamic privacy controls that support differential access to health data Our Technical Brief does have limitations. It is not intended to be complete systematic.

our rechnical Brief does have limitations. It is not intended to be complete systematic review; nor were we able to include the viewpoints of a wider range of Key Informants. Only one vendor is represented, for example. Nonetheless, it does provide an overview of the current state of the science; it was also available for public comment for 4 weeks and we have responded to those comments and incorporated additional perspectives in that way.

Next Steps

Through discussion with our Key Informants and review of the literature, we have described functionalities that will support the pediatric clinician in caring for children. This technical brief is intended to provide an overview of current practice and research and to identify areas for improvement.

The brief was commissioned for use as part of a larger project being completed by CMS and AHRQ to prioritize functionalities for pediatric EHRs in order to promote their use and implementation. Clearly, this brief has also identified a number of areas that are in need of rigorous research and we hope that it will encourage researchers and funders to ensure that this empirical work is pursued. Given the small number of empirical studies providing an evidence base for what works in this field, it is clear that research that is more rigorous is needed to inform development and implementation. A number of studies have been identified as being in progress. Studies that are currently registered as ongoing are documented, including their populations, interventions, and outcomes under study in Appendix F. We identified 17 ongoing studies, most of which are being conducted at academic centers, on a range of clinical topics, including improving asthma care, increasing vaccination uptake, weight-based dosing and care for premature infants. We hope this report encourages all stakeholders to collaborate on this effort to improve electronic health records, ensuring we provide the best possible care for children.

References

1. Policy Statement--Using personal health records to improve the quality of health care for children. Pediatrics. 2009 Jul;124(1):403-9. PMID: 19564327.

2. Shiffman RN, Spooner SA, Kwiatkowski K, et al. Information technology for children's health and health care: report on the Information Technology in Children's Health Care Expert Meeting, September 21-22, 2000. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2001 Nov-Dec;8(6):546-51. PMID: 11687562.

3. Kim GR, Lehmann CU. Pediatric aspects of inpatient health information technology systems. Pediatrics. 2008 Dec;122(6):e1287-96. PMID: 19047228.

4. Lehmann CU, Kim GR, Gujral R, et al. Decreasing errors in pediatric continuous intravenous infusions. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2006 May;7(3):225-30. PMID: 16575355.

5. Lehmann CU, Kim GR. Computerized provider order entry and patient safety. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2006 Dec;53(6):1169-84. PMID: 17126689.

6. Kim GR, Lawson EE, Lehmann CU. Challenges in reusing transactional data for daily documentation in neonatal intensive care. AMIA Annu Symp Proc. 2008:1009. PMID: 18998993.

7. Kim GR, Chen AR, Arceci RJ, et al. Error reduction in pediatric chemotherapy: computerized order entry and failure modes and effects analysis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2006 May;160(5):495-8. PMID: 16651491.

8. Bundy DG, Persing NM, Solomon BS, et al. Improving immunization delivery using an electronic health record: the ImmProve project. Acad Pediatr. 2013 Sep-Oct;13(5):458-65. PMID: 23726754.

9. Simpson RL. Neither seen nor heard: why we need a child-friendly electronic health record. Nurs Adm Q. 2009 Jan-Mar;33(1):78-83. PMID: 19092530.

10. Kemper AR, Uren RL, Clark SJ. Adoption of electronic health records in primary care pediatric practices. Pediatrics. 2006 Jul;118(1):e20-4. PMID: 16818534.

11. Gracy D, Weisman J, Grant R, et al. Content barriers to pediatric uptake of electronic health records. Adv Pediatr. 2012;59(1):159-81. PMID: 22789578.

12. Han YY, Carcillo JA, Venkataraman ST, et al. Unexpected increased mortality after implementation of a commercially sold computerized physician order entry system. Pediatrics. 2005 Dec;116(6):1506-12. PMID: 16322178.

13. Kirkendall ES, Spooner SA, Logan JR. Evaluating the accuracy of electronic pediatric drug dosing rules. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2014 Feb;21(e1):e43-9. PMID: 23813541.

14. D'Agostino JA, Gerdes M, Hoffman C, et al. Provider use of corrected age during health supervision visits for premature infants. J Pediatr Health Care. 2013 May-Jun;27(3):172-9. PMID: 23611457.

15. Stultz JS, Nahata MC. Appropriateness of commercially available and partially customized medication dosing alerts among pediatric patients. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2014 Feb;21(e1):e35-42. PMID: 23813540.

16. Fiks AG, Grundmeier RW, Biggs LM, et al. Impact of clinical alerts within an electronic health record on routine childhood immunization in an urban pediatric population. Pediatrics. 2007 Oct;120(4):707-14. PMID: 17908756.

17. Fiks AG, Hunter KF, Localio AR, et al. Impact of electronic health record-based alerts on influenza vaccination for children with asthma. Pediatrics. 2009 Jul;124(1):159-69. PMID: 19564296.

18. Co JP, Johnson SA, Poon EG, et al. Electronic health record decision support and quality of care for children with ADHD. Pediatrics. 2010 Aug;126(2):239-46. PMID: 20643719.

19. Rand CM, Blumkin A, Szilagyi PG. Electronic health record use and preventive counseling for US children and adolescents. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2014 Feb;21(e1):e152-6. PMID: 24013091.

20. Adams WG, Mann AM, Bauchner H. Use of an electronic medical record improves the quality of urban pediatric primary care. Pediatrics. 2003 Mar;111(3):626-32. PMID: 12612247.

21. Abughali N, Maxwell JR, Kamath AS, et al. Interventions using electronic medical records improve follow up of infants born to hepatitis C virus infected mothers. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2014 Apr;33(4):376-80. PMID: 24401869.

22. Gray SH, Pasternak RH, Gooding HC, et al. Recommendations for electronic health record use for delivery of adolescent health care. J Adolesc Health. 2014 Apr;54(4):487-90. PMID: 24656534.

23. Levine LD, Chang J, Merkatz IR, et al. Enhanced physician prompts in prenatal electronic medical records impact documentation on smoking cessation. Open J Obstet Gynecol. 2013 Dec 1;3(10):717-21. PMID: 24653945.

24. Babbott S, Manwell LB, Brown R, et al. Electronic medical records and physician stress in primary care: results from the MEMO Study. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2014 Feb;21(e1):e100-6. PMID: 24005796.

25. Featherstone I, Keen J. Do integrated record systems lead to integrated services? An observational study of a multi-professional system in a diabetes service. Int J Med Inform. 2012 Jan;81(1):45-52. PMID: 21962435.

26. Petroll AE, Phelps JK, Fletcher KE. Implementation of an electronic medical record does not change delivery of preventive care for HIVpositive patients. Int J Med Inform. 2014 Apr;83(4):273-7. PMID: 24440204.

27. Imperiale TF, Sherer EA, Balph JA, et al. Provider acceptance, safety, and effectiveness of a computer-based decision tool for colonoscopy preparation. Int J Med Inform. 2011 Oct;80(10):726-33. PMID: 21920302.

28. Poon EG, Wright A, Simon SR, et al. Relationship between use of electronic health record features and health care quality: results of a statewide survey. Med Care. 2010 Mar;48(3):203-9. PMID: 20125047. 29. Lau F, Kuziemsky C, Price M, et al. A review on systematic reviews of health information system studies. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2010 Nov-Dec;17(6):637-45. PMID: 20962125.

30. Romano MJ, Stafford RS. Electronic health records and clinical decision support systems: impact on national ambulatory care quality. Arch Intern Med. 2011 May 23;171(10):897-903. PMID: 21263077.

31. Walsh MN, Yancy CW, Albert NM, et al. Electronic health records and quality of care for heart failure. Am Heart J. 2010 Apr;159(4):635-42.e1. PMID: 20362723.

32. Holroyd-Leduc JM, Lorenzetti D, Straus SE, et al. The impact of the electronic medical record on structure, process, and outcomes within primary care: a systematic review of the evidence. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2011 Nov-Dec;18(6):732-7. PMID: 21659445.

33. Linder JA, Ma J, Bates DW, et al. Electronic health record use and the quality of ambulatory care in the United States. Arch Intern Med. 2007 Jul 9;167(13):1400-5. PMID: 17620534.

34. Herrin J, da Graca B, Aponte P, et al. Impact of an EHR-Based Diabetes Management Form on Quality and Outcomes of Diabetes Care in Primary Care Practices. Am J Med Qual. 2014 Jan 7PMID: 24399633.

35. Herrin J, da Graca B, Nicewander D, et al. The effectiveness of implementing an electronic health record on diabetes care and outcomes. Health Serv Res. 2012 Aug;47(4):1522-40. PMID: 22250953.

36. Hunt JS, Siemienczuk J, Gillanders W, et al. The impact of a physician-directed health information technology system on diabetes outcomes in primary care: a pre- and post-implementation study. Inform Prim Care. 2009;17(3):165-74. PMID: 20074429.

37. Litvin CB, Ornstein SM, Wessell AM, et al. Use of an electronic health record clinical decision support tool to improve antibiotic prescribing for acute respiratory infections: the ABX-TRIP study. J Gen Intern Med. 2013 Jun;28(6):810-6. PMID: 23117955.

38. Kern LM, Barron Y, Dhopeshwarkar RV, et al. Electronic health records and ambulatory quality of care. J Gen Intern Med. 2013 Apr;28(4):496-503. PMID: 23054927.

39. Kern LM, Barron Y, Dhopeshwarkar RV, et al. Health information exchange and ambulatory quality of care. Appl Clin Inform. 2012;3(2):197-209. PMID: 23646072.

40. King J, Patel V, Jamoom EW, et al. Clinical benefits of electronic health record use: national findings. Health Serv Res. 2014 Feb;49(1 Pt 2):392-404. PMID: 24359580.

41. Reed M, Huang J, Graetz I, et al. Outpatient electronic health records and the clinical care and outcomes of patients with diabetes mellitus. Ann Intern Med. 2012 Oct 2;157(7):482-9. PMID: 23027319.

42. Samal L, Linder JA, Lipsitz SR, et al. Electronic health records, clinical decision support, and blood pressure control. Am J Manag Care. 2011 Sep;17(9):626-32. PMID: 21902448.

43. Garrido T, Jamieson L, Zhou Y, et al. Effect of electronic health records in ambulatory care: retrospective, serial, cross sectional study. Bmj. 2005 Mar 12;330(7491):581. PMID: 15760999.

44. Adler-Milstein J, Salzberg C, Franz C, et al. Effect of electronic health records on health care costs: longitudinal comparative evidence from community practices. Ann Intern Med. 2013 Jul 16;159(2):97-104. PMID: 23856682.

45. Spooner SA. We are still waiting for fully supportive electronic health records in pediatrics. Pediatrics. 2012 Dec;130(6):e1674-6. PMID: 23166347.

46. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Model Children's EHR Format. <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/policymakers/chipra/ehrformatf</u> aq.html. Accessed April 1, 2015.

47. HL7. HL7 EHR Child Health Functional Profile (CHFP), Release 1.

http://www.hl7.org/implement/standards/product_bri ef.cfm?product_id=15. Accessed April 1, 2015.

48. Spooner SA. Special requirements of electronic health record systems in pediatrics. Pediatrics. 2007 Mar;119(3):631-7. PMID: 17332220.

49. Nakamura MM, Harper MB, Jha AK. Change in adoption of electronic health records by US children's hospitals. Pediatrics. 2013 May;131(5):e1563-75. PMID: 23589808.

50. Leu MG, O'Connor KG, Marshall R, et al. Pediatricians' use of health information technology: a national survey. Pediatrics. 2012 Dec;130(6):e1441-6. PMID: 23166335.

51. Jha AK, DesRoches CM, Campbell EG, et al. Use of electronic health records in U.S. hospitals. N Engl J Med. 2009 Apr 16;360(16):1628-38. PMID: 19321858.

52. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Ambulatory Health Care Data.

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ahcd.htm. Accessed April 1, 2015.

53. Lehmann CU, O'Connor KG, Shorte VA, et al. Use of electronic health record systems by officebased pediatricians. Pediatrics. 2015 Jan;135(1):e7-15. PMID: 25548325.

54. Forrest CB, Simpson L, Clancy C. Child health services research. Challenges and opportunities. Jama. 1997 Jun 11;277(22):1787-93. PMID: 9178792.

55. Au L, Oster A, Yeh GH, et al. Utilizing an electronic health record system to improve vaccination coverage in children. Appl Clin Inform. 2010;1(3):221-31. PMID: 23616838.

56. Patterson ES, Zhang J, Abbott P, et al. Enhancing electronic health record usability in pediatric patient care: a scenario-based approach. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2013 Mar;39(3):129-35. PMID: 23516763.

57. Patwardhan A, Kelleher K, Cunningham D, et al. Improving the influenza vaccination rate in patients visiting pediatric rheumatology clinics using automatic best practice alert in electronic patient records. Pediatric Rheumatology. 2012 13 Jul;10PMID: 70982721.

58. Nelson B. A138: clinical decision support to improve preventive care in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014 Mar;66 Suppl 11:S181. PMID: 24677892.

59. Zhu VJ, Grannis SJ, Tu W, et al. Evaluation of a clinical decision support algorithm for patient-specific childhood immunization. Artif Intell Med. 2012 Sep;56(1):51-7. PMID: 22633492.

60. American Academy of Pediatrics: Task Force on Medical Informatics. Special requirements for electronic medical record systems in pediatrics. Pediatrics. 2001 Aug;108(2):513-5. PMID: 11483828.

61. Carroll AE, Biondich PG, Anand V, et al. Targeted screening for pediatric conditions with the CHICA system. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2011 Jul-Aug;18(4):485-90. PMID: 21672910.

62. Bright Futures Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents. 3rd edition. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2008. http://ebooks.aappublications.org/content/978158110 2239/9781581102239. Accessed April 1, 2015.

63. Hagan JH, Jr. Discerning bright futures of electronic health records. Pediatr Ann. 2008 Mar;37(3):173-9. PMID: 18411861.

64. American Academy of Pediatrics. Partnership for Policy Implementation (PPI). Child Health Informatics Center.

http://www2.aap.org/informatics/PPI.html. Accessed April 1, 2015.

65. Finnell SME, Stanton JL, Downs SM. Actionable Recommendations in the Bright Futures Child Health Supervision Guidelines. Appl Clin Inform. 2014;5(3):651-9.

66. Angier H, Gold R, Crawford C, et al. Linkage Methods for Connecting Children with Parents in Electronic Health Record and State Public Health Insurance Data. Matern Child Health J. 2014 Feb 23PMID: 24562505.

67. ACOG Committee Opinion no. 599: Committee on Adoscent Health Care: Adolescent confidentiality and electronic health records. Obstet Gynecol. 2014 May;123(5):1148-50. PMID: 24785881.

68. Blythe MJ, Del Beccaro MA. Standards for health information technology to ensure adolescent privacy. Pediatrics. 2012 Nov;130(5):987-90. PMID: 23109684. 69. Swartz MK. Protecting the privacy rights of adolescents. J Pediatr Health Care. 2013 May-Jun;27(3):161. PMID: 23611455.

70. Anoshiravani A, Gaskin GL, Groshek MR, et al. Special requirements for electronic medical records in adolescent medicine. J Adolesc Health. 2012 Nov;51(5):409-14. PMID: 23084160.

 Akinyele J, Lehmann CU, Green M, et al. Self-Protecting Electronic Medical Records Using Attribute-Based Encryption. Calhoun Institutional Archive of the Naval Postgraduate School,. Monterey, CA: 2010. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/40165</u>. Accessed April 1, 2015.

72. Hales J, Perkins M. Model Children's Electronic Health Record (EHR) Format: Environmental Scan and Gap Analysis. Rockville, MD: Westat; 2011.

73. Bourgeois FC, Taylor PL, Emans SJ, et al. Whose personal control? Creating private, personally controlled health records for pediatric and adolescent patients. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2008 Nov-Dec;15(6):737-43. PMID: 18755989.

74. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Electronic Health Record Incentive Program Stage 2. Final Rule. Fed Regist. 2012 Sept. 4;77(171):53968-4162.

75. Electronic Health Records Incentive Program. Medicare and Medicaid Programs, Federal Register. July 28 2010.

76. Bell LM, Grundmeier R, Localio R, et al. Electronic health record-based decision support to improve asthma care: a cluster-randomized trial. Pediatrics. 2010 Apr;125(4):e770-7. PMID: 20231191.

77. Hughes RG, Edgerton EA. Reducing pediatric medication errors: children are especially at risk for medication errors. Am J Nurs. 2005 May;105(5):79-80, 2, 5 passim. PMID: 15867545.

78. Lowry SZ, Quinn MT, Ramaiah M, et al. A human factors guide to enhance EHR usability of critical user interactions when supporting pediatric patient care NISTIR 7865. National Institute of Standards and Technology (US Department of Commerce); 2013. <u>http://www.nist.gov/manuscript-publication-search.cfm?pub_id=911520</u>. Accessed April 1, 2015.

79. Stavroudis TA, Miller MR, Lehmann CU. Medication errors in neonates. Clin Perinatol. 2008 Mar;35(1):141-61, ix. PMID: 18280880.

80. Gerstle RS, Lehmann CU. Electronic prescribing systems in pediatrics: the rationale and functionality requirements. Pediatrics. 2007 Jun;119(6):e1413-22. PMID: 17545368.

81. Johnson KB, Lee CK, Spooner SA, et al. Automated dose-rounding recommendations for pediatric medications. Pediatrics. 2011 Aug;128(2):e422-8. PMID: 21788218.

82. Key Capabilities of an Electronic Health Record System: Letter Report. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2003. <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=10781</u>. Accessed April 1, 2015.

83. Lehmann CU, Conner KG, Cox JM. Preventing provider errors: online total parenteral nutrition calculator. Pediatrics. 2004 Apr;113(4):748-53. PMID: 15060223.

84. Zimmer K, Miller M, Lee B, et al. Electronic Narcotic Prescription Writer: Use in Medical Error Reduction. J Patient Saf. 2008;4(2):98-105.

85. Scharnweber C, Lau BD, Mollenkopf N, et al. Evaluation of medication dose alerts in pediatric inpatients. Int J Med Inform. 2013 Aug;82(8):676-83. PMID: 23643148.

86. Clancy CM. Children's electronic health records: has the tipping point arrived? J Comp Eff Res. 2013 Jul;2(4):359-61. PMID: 24236674.

87. Ginzburg R, Barr WB, Harris M, et al. Effect of a weight-based prescribing method within an electronic health record on prescribing errors. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2009 Nov 15;66(22):2037-41. PMID: 19890088.

88. Ordóñez P, desJardins M, Lombardi M, et al. An animated multivariate visualization for physiological and clinical data in the ICU. Proceedings of the 1st ACM International Health Informatics Symposium (IHI '10). Arlington, VA: Association for Computing Machinery (ACM); November 2010.

89. Rosenbloom ST, Qi X, Riddle WR, et al. Implementing pediatric growth charts into an electronic health record system. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2006 May-Jun;13(3):302-8. PMID: 16501182. 90. Rosenbloom ST, McGregor TL, Chen Q, et al. Specialized Pediatric Growth Charts For Electronic Health Record Systems: the example of Down syndrome. AMIA Annu Symp Proc. 2010;2010:687-91. PMID: 21347066.

91. Rosenbloom ST, Butler MG. Development and implementation of electronic growth charts for infants with Prader-Willi syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. 2012 Nov;158a(11):2743-9. PMID: 22903930.

92. Sankilampi U, Saari A, Laine T, et al. Use of electronic health records for automated screening of growth disorders in primary care. Jama. 2013 Sep 11;310(10):1071-2. PMID: 24026604.

93. McPheeters MM, Davis AM, Taylor JL, et al. Transition Care for Children With Special Health Needs. Technical Brief No. 15. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; June 2014.

94. Lemly DC, Weitzman ER, O'Hare K. Advancing healthcare transitions in the medical home: tools for providers, families and adolescents with special healthcare needs. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2013 Aug;25(4):439-46. PMID: 23770924.

95. Downs SM, van Dyck PC, Rinaldo P, et al. Improving newborn screening laboratory test ordering and result reporting using health information exchange. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2010 Jan-Feb;17(1):13-8. PMID: 20064796.

96. Klann JG, Anand V, Downs SM. Patient-tailored prioritization for a pediatric care decision support system through machine learning. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2013 Dec;20(e2):e267-74. PMID: 23886921.

97. ACOG Committee on Adolescent Health Care. ACOG Committee Opinion no. 599: Adolescent confidentiality and electronic health records. Obstet Gynecol. 2014 May;123(5):1148-50. PMID: 24785881.

98. Recommended childhood and adolescent immunization schedule--United States, 2014. Pediatrics. 2014 Feb;133(2):357-63. PMID: 24488304.

99. Health information technology and the medical home. Pediatrics. 2011 May;127(5):978-82. PMID: 21518710.
100. Zipkin R, Schrager SM, Keefer M, et al. Improving home management plan of care compliance rates through an electronic asthma action plan. J Asthma. 2013 Aug;50(6):664-71. PMID: 23574196.

101. Rapp KI, Jack L, Jr., Post R, et al. The HEAL, Phase II Project: enhancing features of an electronic medical record system to improve adherence to asthma guidelines. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2013 Feb;24(1 Suppl):20-8. PMID: 23395941.

102. Pyles LA, Hines C, Patock M, et al.
Development of a web-based database to manage American College of Emergency
Physicians/American Academy of Pediatrics
Emergency Information Forms. Acad Emerg Med.
2005 Mar;12(3):257-61. PMID: 15741591.

103. Samaan ZM, Klein MD, Mansour ME, et al. The impact of the electronic health record on an academic pediatric primary care center. J Ambul Care Manage. 2009 Jul-Sep;32(3):180-7. PMID: 19542807.

104. Flanagan JR, Walker KP. Tracking vaccine compliance in a primary care setting: online history, reminders, order entry, and charting. Proc AMIA Symp. 1999:760-4. PMID: 10566462.

105. MacDonald SE, Schopflocher DP, Golonka RP. The pot calling the kettle black: the extent and type of errors in a computerized immunization registry and by parent report. BMC Pediatr. 2014;14:1. PMID: 24387002.

106. Jensen RE, Chan KS, Weiner JP, et al. Implementing electronic health record-based quality measures for developmental screening. Pediatrics. 2009 Oct;124(4):e648-54. PMID: 19786425.

107. Fairman AD, Thibadeau JK, Dicianno BE, et al. Implementing a specialty electronic medical record to document a life-course developmental model and facilitate clinical interventions in spina bifida clinics. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2010 Aug;57(4):959-71. PMID: 20883885.

108. Bethell CD, Blumberg SJ, Stein RE, et al. Taking Stock of the CSHCN Screener: A Review of Common Questions and Current Reflections. Acad Pediatr. 2014 Dec 5PMID: 25486969. 109. Desch L, Lipkin P. Children withDevelopmental Disorders and Other Special Needs.In: Lehmann C, Kim G, Johnson K, eds. PediatricInformatics. Springer New York; 2009:55-68.

110. Ferranti JM, Horvath MM, Jansen J, et al. Using a computerized provider order entry system to meet the unique prescribing needs of children: description of an advanced dosing model. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2011;11:14. PMID: 21338518.

111. Glynn C, Kleinman RE, Smith S, et al. The evolution and implementation of a pediatric computerized order entry system: a case study. J Healthc Inf Manag. 2004 Spring;18(2):64-9. PMID: 15162721.

112. Hou JY, Cheng KJ, Bai KJ, et al. The effect of a Computerized pediatric dosing decision support system on pediatric dosing errors. Journal of Food and Drug Analysis. 2013 September;21(3):286-91. PMID: 2013650755.

113. Manias E, Kinney S, Cranswick N, et al.Interventions to Reduce Medication Errors inPediatric Intensive Care. Ann Pharmacother. 2014 Jul24PMID: 25059205.

114. van Rosse F, Maat B, Rademaker CM, et al. The effect of computerized physician order entry on medication prescription errors and clinical outcome in pediatric and intensive care: a systematic review. Pediatrics. 2009 Apr;123(4):1184-90. PMID: 19336379.

115. Conroy S, Sweis D, Planner C, et al. Interventions to reduce dosing errors in children: a systematic review of the literature. Drug Saf. 2007;30(12):1111-25. PMID: 18035864.

116. Shekelle PG, Morton SC, Keeler EB. Costs and benefits of health information technology. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2006 Apr(132):1-71. PMID: 17627328.

117. Ayash CR, Simon SR, Marshall R, et al. Evaluating the impact of point- of-care decision support tools in improving diagnosis of obese children in primary care. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013 Mar;21(3):576-82. PMID: 23592666.

 Bissinger RL, Mueller M, Cox TH, et al. Antibiotic timing in neonates with suspected hospital-acquired infections. Adv Neonatal Care.
 Feb;13(1):22-8; quiz 9-30. PMID: 23360855. 119. Bode DV, Roberts TA, Johnson C. Increased adolescent overweight and obesity documentation through a simple electronic medical record intervention. Mil Med. 2013 Jan;178(1):115-8. PMID: 23356129.

120. Fiks AG, Grundmeier RW, Mayne S, et al. Effectiveness of decision support for families, clinicians, or both on HPV vaccine receipt. Pediatrics. 2013 Jun;131(6):1114-24. PMID: 23650297.

121. Hacker K, Penfold R, Zhang F, et al. Impact of electronic health record transition on behavioral health screening in a large pediatric practice. Psychiatr Serv. 2012 Mar;63(3):256-61. PMID: 22267253.

122. Kadmon G, Bron-Harlev E, Nahum E, et al. Computerized order entry with limited decision support to prevent prescription errors in a PICU. Pediatrics. 2009 Sep;124(3):935-40. PMID: 19706588.

123. Kazemi A, Ellenius J, Pourasghar F, et al. The effect of Computerized Physician Order Entry and decision support system on medication errors in the neonatal ward: experiences from an Iranian teaching hospital. J Med Syst. 2011 Feb;35(1):25-37. PMID: 20703588.

124. Keehbauch J, Miguel GS, Drapiza L, et al. Increased documentation and management of pediatric obesity following implementation of an EMR upgrade and education. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2012 Jan;51(1):31-8. PMID: 21885433.

125. Longhurst CA, Parast L, Sandborg CI, et al. Decrease in hospital-wide mortality rate after implementation of a commercially sold computerized physician order entry system. Pediatrics. 2010 Jul;126(1):14-21. PMID: 20439590.

126. Maat B, Rademaker CM, Oostveen MI, et al. The effect of a computerized prescribing and calculating system on hypo- and hyperglycemias and on prescribing time efficiency in neonatal intensive care patients. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2013 Jan;37(1):85-91. PMID: 22535919.

127. McCrory MC, Strouse JJ, Takemoto CM, et al. Computerized physician order entry improves compliance with a manual exchange transfusion protocol in the pediatric intensive care unit. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2014 Mar;36(2):143-7. PMID: 23619120. 128. Patwardhan A, Kelleher K, Cunningham D, et al. The use of a mandatory best practice reminder in the electronic record improves influenza vaccination rate in a pediatric rheumatology clinic. Clinical Governance. 2011;16(4):308-19. PMID: 2011604973.

129. Pollack AH, Kronman MP, Zhou C, et al. Automated Screening of Hospitalized Children for Influenza Vaccination. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2014 Mar;3(1):7-14. PMID: 24567840.

130. Savinon C, Taylor JS, Canty-Mitchell J, et al. Childhood obesity: Can electronic medical records customized with clinical practice guidelines improve screening and diagnosis? J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2012 Aug;24(8):463-71. PMID: 22845029.

131. Schriger DL, Baraff LJ, Buller K, et al. Implementation of clinical guidelines via a computer charting system: effect on the care of febrile children less than three years of age. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2000 Mar-Apr;7(2):186-95. PMID: 10730602.

132. Shaikh U, Berrong J, Nettiksimmons J, et al. Impact of Electronic Health Record Clinical Decision Support on the Management of Pediatric Obesity. Am J Med Qual. 2014 Jan 13PMID: 24418755.

133. White P, Kenton K. Use of electronic medical record-based tools to improve compliance with cervical cancer screening guidelines: effect of an educational intervention on physicians' practice patterns. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2013 Apr;17(2):175-81. PMID: 23343700.

134. Yen K, Shane EL, Pawar SS, et al. Time motion study in a pediatric emergency department before and after computer physician order entry. Ann Emerg Med. 2009 Apr;53(4):462-8.e1. PMID: 19026466.

135. Yu F, Salas M, Kim YI, et al. The relationship between computerized physician order entry and pediatric adverse drug events: a nested matched casecontrol study. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2009 Aug;18(8):751-5. PMID: 19479715.

136. Stockwell MS, Catallozzi M, Camargo S, et al. Registry-Linked Electronic Influenza Vaccine Provider Reminders: A Cluster-Crossover Trial. Pediatrics. 2014 Dec 29PMID: 25548331. 137. Smith AJ, Skow A, Bodurtha J, et al. Health information technology in screening and treatment of child obesity: a systematic review. Pediatrics. 2013 Mar;131(3):e894-902. PMID: 23382447.

138. Miller PL, Frawley SJ, Sayward FG, et al. IMM/Serve: a rule-based program for childhood immunization. Proc AMIA Annu Fall Symp. 1996:184-8. PMID: 8947653.

139. Miller PL, Frawley SJ, Sayward FG. Exploring three approaches for handling incomplete patient histories in a computer-based guideline for childhood immunization. Proc AMIA Symp. 1999:878-82. PMID: 10566486.

140. Miller PL, Frawley SJ, Sayward FG. Maintaining and incrementally revalidating a computer-based clinical guideline: a case study. J Biomed Inform. 2001 Apr;34(2):99-111. PMID: 11515416.

141. Johnson KB, Ho YX, Andrew Spooner S, et al. Assessing the reliability of an automated doserounding algorithm. J Biomed Inform. 2013 Oct;46(5):814-21. PMID: 23792464.

142. Armijo D, McDonnell C, Werner K. Electronic Health Record Usability: Interface Design Considerations. AHRQ Publication No. 09(10)-0091-2-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; October 2009.

143. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Clinical Quality Measures: Pediatric Recommened Core Measures. 2014. <u>http://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-</u> <u>Guidance/Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Recom</u> mended Core Set.html. Accessed April 1, 2015.

Appendix A. Literature Search Strategies

Medline via PubMed

Searc	ch terms	Search results
#1	("pediatrics"[mh] OR "infant"[mh] OR "Child"[mh] OR "adolescent"[mh] OR "child health services"[mh] OR "intensive care units, pediatric"[mh] OR "hospitals, pediatric"[mh])	2850349
#2	(child*[tiab] OR paediatr*[tiab] OR pediatr*[tiab] OR adolescent*[tiab] OR neonat*[tiab] OR infant*[tiab])	1535394
#3	Search (#1) OR (#2)	323347
#4	("Medical records systems, computerized"[mh] OR "decision support systems, clinical"[mh])	28598
#5	(("cpoe"[tiab] OR "computerized physician order entry"[tiab] OR "computerized order entry"[tiab] OR "computer order entry"[tiab] OR "cdss"[tiab] OR "clinical decision support systems"[tiab]) OR (electronic[tiab] AND (health record*[tiab] OR medical record*[tiab])))	13499
#6	Search (#4) OR (#5)	35200
#7	Search (#3) AND (#6)	3299
#8	Limit to publication year >1998	3240

Abbreviations: mh=Medical Subject Heading; tiab=title/abstract word.

Notes: ^aUsing "medical order entry system" subject heading instead of "medical records systems, computerized" retrieves 2165 records. Using the broader term, "medical records systems, computerized" which encompasses "medical order entry system" and "electronic health records" retrieves an additional 1105 records- many of which may not be relevant to this topic. Cataloguers use the most specific heading available, however in this case, the broader term "medical records systems, computerized" was introduced in 1991, more than a decade before the more specific headings "medical order entry system" and "electronic health records". ^b Initial search conducted on 8/5/2014 retrieved 3038 records. On 1/5/2015, an updated search retrieved 202 additional unique records.

EMBASE

Searc	ch terms	Search results
#1	(pediatric* or child* or infant* or paediatric* or neonat* or adolescen*).mp	3032578
#2	("computerized provider order entry" or "cpoe" or "electronic health" or "EHR" or "clinical decision support" or "CDS" or "CDSS").mp	18501
#3	#1 AND #2	1475
#4	Limits: NOT Medline, Publication Date: 1999-Current	84

Notes: ^aSearch executed on 8/05/2014; ^bAfter duplicates were removed, 75 unique records from were retained.

Appendix B. Key Informant Interviews

The Vanderbilt Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) Director and the Agency for Healthcare and Quality (AHRQ) Task Order Officer reviewed the completed Disclosure of Interest forms for each Key Informant. We conducted discussion calls with nine Key Informants, one of whom was an employee of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. We were not required to obtain Office of Management and Budget (OMB) clearance for the Key Informant interviews because we included fewer than ten non-government associated participants.

We scheduled calls to include two or more Key Informants based upon availability and concordance of perspectives. The EPC Director and a co-investigator from the project team led each of the Key Informant discussion calls. We held three calls, each lasting 60 minutes. We recorded the discussion calls and distributed a summary to the participants. We organized the discussion summaries Guiding Question for analysis by the authors. The report authors identified key themes from multiple perspectives and noted unique perspectives from Key Informants.

Martha Bergren		
DNS, RN, NCSN, APHN-	Community Health	
BC	Nursing Program	University of Illinois
Bobbie Byrne		
MD, MBA	Chief Information Officer	Edwards Health System
Mark A. Del Beccaro		
MD	Department of Pediatrics	University of Washington
Steve Downs		
MD, MS	Department of Pediatrics	Indiana University
Alex Fiks	Pediatric Research	Children's Hospital of
MD	Consortium	Philadelphia
Chip Hart	Vendor	Physician's Computer Company
Hetty Khan		Centers for Disease Control and
MS, MGA, RN	Health Informatics	Prevention
Sue Kressly		
MD, FAAP	Physician	Kressly Pediatrics
Andrew Spooner	Chief Medical	
MD, MS	Information Officer	Cincinnati Children's Hospital

Appendix C. Summary of Key Informant Input

GQ1. Description of EHRs

GQ 1A: Are there functionalities that have been identified in the literature and feature more prominently than others as potentially important to achieve for improving children's health?

- Family relationships, patient engagement, age of majority.
- Determine family relationship through subject to subject relationship. Insurance status, etc.
- Tracking last well-child visit
- PPI transition policy, EHR support checklist (Got Transition)

GQ2. Description of the context in which EHRs are implemented

GQ 2A: What is the potential value of pediatric-specific functionalities in the context of care transition, specifically from newborn care to pediatric primary care, from pediatric primary care to pediatric specialist care, and from pediatric primary care to adolescent care?

- Add transition from adolescences to adult to the list of transitions
- Pediatric-specific time unites, weight units, weight-based dosing, developmental milestones, growth data, family appropriate education, use of pediatric scales
- Private physician wish list (e.g., immunization logic) is not new or specific to EHR functionality
- Core functionality is difficult
- Lack of standards for clinical circumstance (e.g. there are only two growth charts, but pediatricians want more)

GQ 2B: Are certain pediatric-specific functionalities beneficial for a pediatrician to conduct her work including sick and well-child visits? If so, does this vary by health care setting (e.g. primary care office, specialty care office, school health, and alternative care settings) or by type of visit (e.g., preventive vs. acute care)?

- Language translation
- Food safety, domestic violence,
- Data tied to non-clinical data
- Social service case-management data
- Bright Futures Guidance- not there or not computable. CDSS only 20% compatible (publication by Steve Downs)
- Conformance criteria

GQ2C: What are the challenges to implementing specific functionalities? Are some harder than others to implement by a) vendors; and/or b) pediatric providers?

- Functions align with MU or PCMH and is certification driven
- CQM is vague and broken

(http://www.ncqa.org/Programs/Recognition/Practices/PatientCenteredMedicalHomePCMH/DuringEarnIt PCMH/PCMH2014ISSDataSources.aspx)

GQ3. Description of the existing evidence

GQ 3A: Is there any evidence that using an EHR adapted for the specific needs of pediatric providers compared with using a "regular" EHR or not using an EHR at all produces a) better quality, including safety and cost outcomes for patients; and/or b) improved workflow or job satisfaction for providers?

- Health information chapter
- Electronic Pediatric Research in Office Settings ePros
 - (http://www2.aap.org/pros/epros/eprosa&m.htm)

GQ 3B: Which pediatric-specific functionalities influence a) patient outcomes (including safety; quality; cost; equity; standardization of care; and/or efficiency); b) the ability of a pediatric provider to conduct

work within the EHR; c) improvement of workflow and provider satisfaction; and/or d) involvement of patients and families (including their education and shared decision making)?

• Data of usefulness is mostly unpublished

GQ4. Dissemination and future developments

GQ 4A: How does testability and usability of core functionalities promote or impede dissemination and future development of pediatric EHRs?

- Testing for usability can be difficult
- Real-time contextual support
- Provide specific guidelines, concrete and computable information for translation by vendors
- Decrease burden of reports, order, and care plans.

Appendix D. Screening Forms

Abstract Screening Form

Abstract Screening For	n			
 If you answer "No" to one or more questions (with the exception of #4) the record is excluded. If you answer "Yes" or "Cannot Determine" to all questions, the record is promoted for full text screening. To flag a reference for team review, background, or review of references, check one or more reasons listed the end of the form. Use the comments field as needed to enter reference specific notes or questions. Submit the form to move to the next reference 				
 Population is children, aged 21 years or younger Addresses pediatric-specific functionality or feature for an EHR Health care setting (i.e., exclude camp, school, public health, kindergarten settings, etc.) 	Yes Yes Yes	No No No	Cannot Determine Cannot Determine Cannot Determine	X-1 X-2 X-3
4. Reports original research	Yes	No	Cannot Determine	Neutral
 [If #4 is "Yes"]: Addresses Guiding Question(s) 1, 2, 3 and/or 4 [If #4 is "No"]: Addresses Guiding Question(s) 1, 2, and/or 4 	Yes	No	Cannot Determine	X-4
GQ 1A. Are there functionalities that have been identified in the literatu than others as potentially important to achieve for improving children's	re and fe health?	eature	more prominently	GQ1A
GQ 2A. What is the potential value of pediatric-specific functionalities in the context of care transition, specifically from newborn care to pediatric primary care, from pediatric primary care to pediatric specialist care, and from pediatric primary care to adolescent care?				GQ2A
GQ 2B. Are certain pediatric-specific functionalities beneficial for a pediatrician to conduct her work including sick and well-child visits? If so, does this vary by health care setting (e.g. primary care office, specialty care office, school health, and alternative care settings) or by type of visit (e.g., preventive vs. acute care)?				
GQ 2C. What are the challenges to implementing specific functionalitie implement by a) vendors; or b) pediatric providers?	s? Are th	nese h	arder than others to	GQ2C
GQ 3A. Is there any evidence that using an EHR adapted for the specific needs of pediatric providers compared with using a "regular" EHR or not using an EHR at all produces: a) better quality, including safety and cost outcomes for patients; or b) improved workflow or job satisfaction for providers?				GQ3A
GQ 3B. Which pediatric-specific functionalities influence: a) patient outcomes (including safety; quality; cost; equity; standardization of care; and efficiency); b)the ability of a pediatric provider to conduct work within the EHR; c) improvement of workflow and provider satisfaction; or d) involvement of patients and families (including their education and shared decision making)?				GQ3B
GQ 4A. How does testability and usability of core functionalities promote or impede dissemination and future development of pediatric EHRs?				
Does not address a guiding question				X-4
Retain for: Team Review Background/Discussion Rev COMMENTS:	iew of R	eferen	nces Other	

Note: In Distiller, question #4 uses branching logic to ensure that Guiding Question 3 is addressed by original research. If the answer to #4 is "No" the option for Guiding Question 3 will be hidden.

Full Text Screening Form

Full Text Screening Form		
Senior reviewer decision for study status: Inclu	ıde	Exclude
If excluded, mark reason(s)		
Not children (i.e. older than 21 years of age)	X-1	
Does not address pediatric-specific functionality or feature of an EHR	X-2	
Not a healthcare setting of interest	X-3	
Not relevant to outpatient setting	X-4	
Does not address a Guiding Question	X-5	
If included, mark Guiding Question(s)		
GQ 1A. Are there functionalities that have been identified in the literature and feature more promine than others as potentially important to achieve for improving children's health?	ently	GQ1A
GQ 2A. What is the potential value of pediatric-specific functionalities in the context of care transition specifically from newborn care to pediatric primary care, from pediatric primary care to pediatric specialist care, and from pediatric primary care to adolescent care?	on,	GQ2A
GQ 2B. Are certain pediatric-specific functionalities beneficial for a pediatrician to conduct her work including sick and well-child visits? If so, does this vary by health care setting (e.g. primary care offis specialty care office, school health, and alternative care settings) or by type of visit (e.g., preventive acute care)?	ce, vs.	GQ2B
GQ 2C. What are the challenges to implementing specific functionalities? Are these harder than oth to implement by a) vendors; or b) pediatric providers?	ners	GQ2C
GQ 3A. Is there any evidence that using an EHR adapted for the specific needs of pediatric provide compared with using a "regular" EHR or not using an EHR at all produces: a) better quality, includir safety and cost outcomes for patients; or b) improved workflow or job satisfaction for providers?	ers Ig	GQ3A
GQ 3B. Which pediatric-specific functionalities influence: a) patient outcomes (including safety; qua cost; equity; standardization of care; and efficiency); b)the ability of a pediatric provider to conduct within the EHR; c) improvement of workflow and provider satisfaction; or d) involvement of patients families (including their education and shared decision making)?	ality; vork and	GQ3B
GQ 4A. How does testability and usability of core functionalities promote or impede dissemination a future development of pediatric EHRs?	and	GQ4A
Does not address a guiding question		X-4
Retain for: Team Review Background/Discussion Review of References Oth	er	
COMMENTS:		

Appendix E. Summary of Consensus Statements

Citation	Title	Notes	Category
Gray et al., 2014 ¹	Recommendations for EHR Use for Delivery of Adolescent Health Care	 Global, excluding China and India, EHR usage in 2010. Adolescent confidentiality protection summarized Adolescent may forgo healthcare if their privacy is threatened. No incentive for EHR vendors, in current regulatory environment, to incorporate granular privacy controls in their products. 	Privacy (Adolesce nts)
Patterson et al., 2013 ²	Enhancing EHR Usability in Pediatric Patient Care: A Scenario-Based Approach	 Summary of the NIST 7865 report (see below) Highlights a few selected recommendations for EHR vendors and developers, small-group pediatric practices, and children's hospitals. Special considerations for pediatric patients from clinical experts Relevant concepts for human factors engineering from Human Factors experts 	Pediatric- specific norms
Blythe et al., 2012 ³	Standards for Health Information Technology to Ensure Adolescent Privacy	 Recommends nine basic principles for 'ideal' EHR Supports the caution that adolescent may forgo healthcare if privacy is threatened States that HIPAA not specific to adolescent privacy issues which may result in deferral to state laws regarding minors 	Privacy (Adolesce nts)
Lowry et al., 2013 ⁴	A Human Factors Guide to Enhance EHR Usability of Critical user Interactions when Supporting Pediatric Patient Care. [NIST.IR.7865]	 Highlights the user interactions unique to or salient for pediatric care and Details the unique features of pediatric patient care, in contrast to general adult patient care including patient physiology, complexity of routine tasks, and limited communication abilities. Provides conceptual model of unique user-related risks of EHR systems for pediatric patients. It covers human factors guidance for critical user interactions along 9 themes (patient identification, medications, alerts, growth chart, vaccinations, labs, newborn care, privacy, and radiology Suggests opportunities for innovations to consider for specialized child modules that can be used in conjunction with an established EHR. Appendix covers scenarios citing the potential pitfalls. 	Pediatric- specific norms
ACOG Committee on Adolescent Health Care 2014 ⁵	ACOG Committee Opinion # 599: Adolescent confidentiality and electronic health records	 Clarifies that HIPAA privacy rule leaves health care providers with questions about the relationship between HIPAA local applicable laws Standards lacking for state and other laws pertaining to minor consent, provisions for privacy and services governed by federal laws. Details the nature and requirement of the adolescent privacy and confidentiality of services consented by a minor 	Privacy (Adolesce nts)
Gerstle et al., 2007 ⁶	Electronic Prescribing Systems in Pediatrics: The Rationale and Functionality Requirements	 Describes the levels and implementation of e- prescribing. Cites pediatric specific advantages of CPOE Suggests and provides guidelines, potential barriers, and cautions against potential pitfalls. Cites benefits of e-prescribing to public health, patient, pharmacists, insurers and providers. 	Medicatio ns / CPOE

References

1. Gray SH, Pasternak RH, Gooding HC, et al. Recommendations for electronic health record use for delivery of adolescent health care. J Adolesc Health. 2014 Apr;54(4):487-90. PMID: 24656534

2. Patterson ES, Zhang J, Abbott P, et al. Enhancing electronic health record usability in pediatric patient care: a scenario-based approach. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2013 Mar;39(3):129-35. PMID: 23516763

3. Blythe MJ, Del Beccaro MA. Standards for health information technology to ensure adolescent privacy. Pediatrics. 2012 Nov;130(5):987-90. PMID: 23109684

4. Lowry SZ, Quinn MT, Ramaiah M, et al. A human factors guide to enhance her usability of critical user interactions when supporting pediatric patient care. NISTIR 7865. US Department of Commerce: National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST); 2013.

5. ACOG Committee on Adolescent Health Care. ACOG Committee Opinion no. 599: Adolescent confidentiality and electronic health records. Obstet Gynecol. 2014 May;123(5):1148-50. PMID: 24785881

6. Gerstle RS. Electronic prescribing systems in pediatrics: the rationale and functionality requirements. Pediatrics. 2007 Jun;119(6):1229-31. PMID: 17545396

Appendix F. Ongoing Studies

A search of ClinicalTrials.gov retrieved 46 records. The table below summarizes the records that were retained as relevant (n=17).

Search strategy: ((EHR) OR (EMR) OR (electronic AND record)) AND (functionality OR HIT OR CPOE OR "decision support" OR "electronic prescribing" OR "order entry" OR "information technology" OR "quality improvement") | Child

Study Name Location Trial Identifier	Sponsors and Collaborators Study Status	Population Disease/Condition Age	Interventions / Groups	Outcomes
An Electronic Decision Support Tool to Improve Outpatient Asthma Care Children's Hospital of Philadelphia NCT01522144	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Completed Start: July 2006 Complete: August 2008	 Children with a diagnosis of asthma Age 1 to18 years 	Behavioral: Computerized decision support	 Primary The proportion of patients on appropriate asthma controller medication at the end of the trial Secondary an updated asthma action plan documentation of spirometry (6 to 18 years) in those with asthma an updated problem list that reflects an assessment of asthma severity
Better Pediatric Asthma Outcomes Through Chronic Care University of Connecticut Health Center NCT00355069	University of Connecticut Health Center Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Completed Start: August 2001 Complete: May 2003	 Determined by provider to be asthmatic Member of Medical Managed Care Organization partner group Ages 5 to 17 years 	Behavioral: Electronic (computer based) provider feedback tool	 Primary Asthma control Guideline appropriate medicating by providers Patient knowledge Secondary Self-efficacy Social support
Child Health Improvement Through Computer Automation (CHICA) Highlighting Study IUMG Clinic System	Indiana University Completed Start: April 2012 Complete: October 2012	Physicians practicing in one of our four study clinics who use CHICA	Other: Highlight set 1 (two prompts) Other: Highlight Set 2 (two different prompts)	Whether or not prompt was answered
NCT01583101				
Comprehensive Clinical Decision Support (CDS) for the Primary Care of Premature Infants	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia National Library of Medicine (NLM) Completed Start: September	Premature infants aged 20 weeks to 35 weeks	Other: Clinical Decision Support Tool	 Primary Evaluate usability of the intervention Secondary Evaluate effect on care

Study Name Location Trial Identifier	Sponsors and Collaborators Study Status	Population Disease/Condition Age	Interventions / Groups	Outcomes
Children's Hospital of Philadelphia	2009 Complete: October 2012			process
NCT01478711				
Conversational IT for Better, Safer Pediatric Primary Care Boston Medical Center NCT01188629	Boston Medical Center Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Active, not recruiting Start: July 2007 Complete: August 2011	 Parents of children will be enrolled in the study if they meet a set of eligibility criteria which includes: A primary care patient at Boston Medical Center An English speaking child and parent Ages 0 to 11 years 	Behavioral: Safety Training Behavioral: Personal Health Partner and Counseling	 Primary Personal Health Partner (PHP) assessment with electronic health record (EHR) data exchange before pediatric primary care visits Secondary Personal Health Partner (PHP) pre-visit counseling with post- visit reinforcement
EHR-Based Clinical Decision Support to Improve BP Management in Adolescents HealthPartners Medical Group NCT01760239	HealthPartners Institute for Education and Research National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) Recruiting Start: April 2014 Complete: August 2017	 Pediatric and family medicine providers Ages 12 to 19 years 	Behavioral: Clinical Decision Support	 Follow up of an elevated blood pressure within recommended interval Recognition of hypertension Appropriate workup for those with hypertension Appropriate Lifestyle Referral Costs of Care
Electronic Health Record (EHR) Decision Support to Improve Outpatient Asthma Care Children's Hospital of Philadelphia NCT00918944	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Completed Start: January 2006 Complete: August 2009	• Known patients with asthma	Other: Control (passive EHR) Other: Intervention (interactive decision support system)	 Primary Proportion of persistent asthmatic patients with at least one prescription for a controller medication in each period (baseline and intervention) Secondary Proportion of persistent asthmatic patients with 1)an updated asthma action plan, 2)spirometry as needed 3)problem list with current asthma severity 4)asthma-related quality of life scores 5)absent school and work days.
Evaluation of a Shared Decision Making Portal for Pediatric Asthma Children's Hospital of Philadelphia	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Active, not recruiting Start: November 2012 Complete: November 2014	 Parents/legal guardians of children aged 6 to12 years with persistent asthma, currently receiving chronic 	Other: MyAsthma Patient Portal	 Primary Acceptability of the intervention to parents and clinicians Secondary Shared decision making Parent Activation

Study Name Location Trial Identifier	Sponsors and Collaborators Study Status	Population Disease/Condition Age	Interventions / Groups	Outcomes
NCT01715389		 maintenance therapy, cared for at a study practice, with consistent access to a computer with an internet connection where they feel comfortable accessing MyChart (patient portal) Clinician at study site 		 Goal Attainment Asthma-Related Quality of Life Asthma Control Asthma-related Utilization Asthma Medication Adherence/Receipt Feasibility of Recruitment Feasibility of Follow-up Feasibility of Portal Use
Giving Immunizations Through Vaccine Education Children's Hospital of Philadelphia NCT01159093	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Completed Start: May 2010 Complete: May 2011	 All clinicians practicing at participating sites Parents with an eligible adolescent girl Adolescent girls aged 11 to 17 years Has a visit at one of the primary care centers within the last 15 months Has not completed the teen vaccine series 	Behavioral: Family Decision Support (informational vaccine reminder telephone calls) Behavioral: Clinician Decision Support (an EHR-based decision support mechanism including reminders, education, audit and feedback on vaccination success) Other: Family Decision Support and Clinician Decision Support Other: Control	 Primary Rate of HPV vaccination among girls actively cared for at participating sites Secondary Rates of meningococcal and tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis vaccines among girls in the study
Improving Otitis Media Care With Clinical Decision Support (OMHIT) Children's Hospital of Philadelphia NCT00581711	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHOP) Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Completed Start: December 2007 Complete: September 2010	 All CHOP primary care and ENT practice sites with patients receiving care for otitis media Ages 2 months to 18 years 	Other: 3-Part Intervention (A combination of training, an otitis media episode grouper, and clinical decision support) Other: 4-Part Intervention (A combination of clinician training, an otitis media episode grouper, clinical decision support, and feedback) Other: 1-part intervention (Provision of feedback on otitis media quality indicators)	 Primary Quality of otitis media care Secondary Clinician adoption of intervention and Resource Utilization

Study Name Location Trial Identifier	Sponsors and Collaborators Study Status	Population Disease/Condition Age	Interventions / Groups	Outcomes
Improving Pediatric Safety and Quality With Health Care Information Technology Massachusetts General Hospital/Partners HealthCare NCT00134823	Massachusetts General Hospital Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Completed Start: March 2005 Complete: September 2008	 Partners-affiliated pediatric practice providers utilizing Longitudinal Medical Record (LMR), which is an electronic health record system. Also the parents of the patients of the above noted pediatric providers 	Other: weight based dosing decision support	 Impact on rates of medication errors
Improving the Medication Management of Patients With Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder American Academy of Pediatrics NCT01769300	American Academy of Pediatrics University of Colorado, Denver QED Clinical, Inc. Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Enrolling by invitation Start: January 2013 Complete: August 2014	Children aged 5 to12 years diagnosed with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)	Behavioral: Clinical decision support for medication titration	 Primary Improvement in symptoms, as measured by the parent-reported Vanderbilt Assessment Scale Secondary Side effects as reported on the ADHD Vanderbilt Scale
Informing Policy to Implement Pediatric Family Engagement in Meaningful Use Stage 3 PROS PeRC NCT01966068	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) American Academy of Pediatrics DARTNet Institute Recruiting Start: October 2013 Complete: September 2014	 Child has a diagnosis of asthma on his/her problem list Ages 6 to 12 years 	Other: MyAsthma Web Portal	 Primary Use of the MyAsthma Portal Survey Secondary Asthma management
Intervention to Improve Adherence in Teen Kidney Transplant Multiple sites NCT01356277	McGill University Health Center Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati Seattle Children's Hospital Washington University Early Recognition Center British Columbia Children's Hospital The Hospital for Sick Children St. Justine's Hospital Recruiting	 At least 3 months post kidney transplant Ages 11 to 24 years 	Behavioral: Action- focused problem- solving Device: Electronic pillbox monitoring, dosage reminders, and feedback	 Taking adherence Timing adherence Clinical outcomes Healthcare system factors

Study Name Location Trial Identifier	Sponsors and Collaborators Study Status	Population Disease/Condition Age	Interventions / Groups	Outcomes
	Start: February 2012 Complete: June 2016			
PECARN Emergency Care Registry The Children's Hospital of Colorado Children's National Medical Center Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Data Coordinating Center NCT01657344	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Recruiting Start: January 2011 Complete: NR	 All patients (0-18) who registered in the ED during 2011 and during a 24 month study period between 2012 and 2015 All licensed independent practitioners in the ED during 2011 and during a 24 month study period between 2012 and 2015 Ages 18 years and younger 	NR	Improved performance and decreased variability (variation) of care
Study of Technology to Accelerate Research Harvard Vanguard Medical Associates NCT01537510	Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Brigham and Women's Hospital Cambridge Health Alliance Harvard Vanguard Medical Associates Completed Start: December 2010 Complete: September 2013	 Child's BMI exceeds the 95th percentile for age and sex (CDC criteria) Parent can respond to interviews and questionnaires in English Child has obtained well-child care from HVMA for at least the previous 15 months Ages 6 to 12 years 	Behavioral: Usual Care Behavioral: Clinician intervention only Behavioral: Clinician intervention plus Direct-to-parent communication	 Primary Change in screening and assessment of childhood obesity at the point of care, including BMI, blood pressure, and laboratory screening, and provision of nutrition and physical activity counseling Secondary Change in Body Mass Index Change in Health Behaviors Costs (including clinician and family time) and cost- effectiveness in terms of children's change in BMI and weight-related behaviors

Exclusion Code	Exclusion Reason	Count
X-1	Not youth	11
X-2	Does not address pediatric-specific functionality or feature of an EHR	147
X-3	Not a health care setting	40
X-4	Not specific to outpatient	53
X-5	Does not address a guiding question	53
X-6	Unavailable/ non-English	4
X-7	Duplicate	2

Appendix G. Reasons for Exclusion

References with reason(s) for exclusion

1. Electronic medical record could save millions. Hosp Case Manag 1999 Dec;7(12):211-2. PMID: 11184598. *X-2*

2. Use guidelines to prepare for children with special needs, or risk tragedy. ED Manag 2000 Aug;12(8):85-90, suppl 1-2. PMID: 11186740. *X-5*

3. Immunization information system progress--United States, 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2005 Jul 29;54(29):722-4. PMID: 16049421. *X-5*

4. Study: implementation of CPOE can raise mortality. Healthcare Benchmarks Qual Improv 2006 Feb;13(2):16-7. PMID: 16544556. *X-2, X-4*

5. Guideline on record-keeping. Pediatr Dent 2008;30(7 Suppl):226-33. PMID: 19216426. *X-2*

6. Report urges development in Children's Health IT. Biomed Instrum Technol 2009 Sep-Oct;43(5):350. PMID: 19842752. *X-2*

7. Computerized decision support for pediatric meds--effectiveness uncertain. Health Devices 2012 Dec;41(12):400-1. PMID: 23444688. *X-2*

8. Abramson EL, Kaushal R. Computerized provider order entry and patient safety.
Pediatr Clin North Am 2012
Dec;59(6):1247-55. PMID: 23116522. *X-2*

9. Adhikari PD, Parker LA, Binns HJ, et al. Influence of electronic health records and inoffice weight management support resources on childhood obesity care. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2012 Aug;51(8):788-92. PMID: 21576184. *X-2* 10. Aguila A, Valenzuela P. [Experience with electronic files in a university neonatology unit]. Rev Med Chil 2005 Feb;133(2):241-5. PMID: 15824836. *X-5*

11. Alvarado MM, Ntaimo L, Banerjee A, et al. Reducing pediatric medication errors: A survey and taxonomy. IIE Transactions on Healthcare Systems Engineering 2012 April;2(2):142-55. PMID: 2013231330. *X-2*, *X-5*

12. Amirthalingam G, White J, Ramsay M. Measuring childhood vaccine coverage in England: the role of Child Health Information Systems. Euro Surveill 2012;17(16)PMID: 22551461. *X-3*

13. Anderson HJ. Avoiding 'alert fatigue'.Health Data Manag 2009 Oct;17(10):42.PMID: 19845096. *X-2*

14. Andrews AL, Kazley AS, Basco WT, Jr., et al. Lower Rates of EMR Use in Rural Hospitals Represent a Previously Unexplored Child Health Disparity. Hosp Pediatr 2014 Jul;4(4):211-6. PMID: 24986989. *X-5*

15. Auber BA, Hamel G. Adoption of smart cards in the medical sector: the Canadian experience. Soc Sci Med 2001 Oct;53(7):879-94. PMID: 11522135. *X-1*

16. Bellazzi R, Riva A, Montani S, et al. Application report: preliminary evaluation of the T-IDDM project in Pavia. Stud Health Technol Inform 1999;68:99-101. PMID: 10725043. *X-2*

17. Ben Said M, Robel L, Vion E, et al. Implementation and experimentation of TEDIS: an information system dedicated to patients with pervasive developmental disorders. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:270-4. PMID: 21893755. *X-4*

18. Ben Said M, Robel L, Vion E, et al. TEDIS: an information system dedicated to patients with pervasive developmental disorders. Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160(Pt 1):198-202. PMID: 20841677. *X-5*

19. Bennett WE, Jr., Hendrix KS, Thompson RT, et al. The natural history of weight percentile changes in the first year of life. JAMA Pediatr 2014 Jul;168(7):681-2. PMID: 24797161. *X-2*

20. Berry MD. Healthcare reform: administrative rulemaking. Issue brief. Issue Brief Health Policy Track Serv 2012 Dec 31:1-29. PMID: 23297441. *X-2*

21. Blond MH, Menguy C, Gold F, et al. [Medical informatics (hospital information systems) in neonatology: reality and insufficiencies]. Arch Pediatr 2000 Nov;7(11):1212-9. PMID: 11109950. *X-3*, *X-4*

22. Bourgeois FC, Linder J, Johnson SA, et al. Impact of a computerized template on antibiotic prescribing for acute respiratory infections in children and adolescents. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2010 Oct;49(10):976-83. PMID: 20724348. *X-2*

23. Brady TM, Neu AM, Miller ER, 3rd, et al. Real-Time Electronic Medical Record Alerts Increase High Blood Pressure Recognition in Children. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014 Nov 20PMID: 25416626. *X-2*

24. Burridge AM, Wilson K, Terry D. Support tools for paediatric inpatient prescribers: A review. European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy: Science and Practice 2014 April;21(2):113-7. PMID: 2014160690. *X-4*

25. Caldwell NA, Power B. The pros and cons of electronic prescribing for children. Arch Dis Child 2012 Feb;97(2):124-8. PMID: 21685504. *X-2*

26. Call RJ, Burlison JD, Robertson JJ, et al. Adverse Drug Event Detection in Pediatric Oncology and Hematology Patients: Using Medication Triggers to Identify Patient Harm in a Specialized Pediatric Patient Population. J Pediatr 2014 Apr 24PMID: 24768254. *X-4*

27. Canon SJ, Purifoy JA, Heulitt GM, et al. Results: Survey of pediatric urology electronic medical records-use and perspectives. J Urol 2011 Oct;186(4 Suppl):1740-4. PMID: 21862073. *X-3*

28. Castellanos I, Rellensmann G, Scharf J, et al. Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE) in pediatric and neonatal intensive care: Recommendations how to meet clinical requirements. Appl Clin Inform 2012;3(1):64-79. PMID: 23616901. *X-5*

29. Cerda G, Zatzick D, Wise M, et al. Computerized registry recording of psychiatric disorders of pediatric patients with burns. J Burn Care Rehabil 2000 Jul-Aug;21(4):368-70; discussion 7. PMID: 10935820. *X-2, X-4*

30. Chen AR, Lehmann CU. Computerized provider order entry in pediatric oncology: design, implementation, and outcomes. J Oncol Pract 2011 Jul;7(4):218-22. PMID: 22043183. *X-2*

31. Chern JJ, Macias CG, Jea A, et al. Effectiveness of a clinical pathway for patients with cerebrospinal fluid shunt

malfunction. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2010 Oct;6(4):318-24. PMID: 20887102. *X-3*

32. Chin TL. Assembling the records puzzle. Health Data Manag 1999 Jan;7(1):36, 8-40. PMID: 10345794. *X-2*

33. Chiu SH, Fitzgerald KM. Electronic medical/health record and pediatric behavioral health providers: progress and problems. Arch Psychiatr Nurs 2013 Apr;27(2):108-9. PMID: 23540522. *X*-2

34. Christensen M. [The use of electronic medical records can contribute in diagnosing a case of battered child]. Ugeskr Laeger 2013 Jan 28;175(5):284-5. PMID: 23369331. *X-2*

35. Coffey C, Wurster LA, Groner J, et al. A Comparison of Paper Documentation to Electronic Documentation for Trauma Resuscitations at a Level I Pediatric Trauma Center. J Emerg Nurs 2014 Jul 1PMID: 24996509. *X-4*

36. Coleman NE, Pon S. Quality: performance improvement, teamwork, information technology and protocols. Crit Care Clin 2013 Apr;29(2):129-51. PMID: 23537668. *X-3*, *X-4*

37. Condren M, Studebaker IJ, John BM. Prescribing errors in a pediatric clinic. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2010 Jan;49(1):49-53. PMID: 19643978. *X-2*

38. Cook JE. The HITECH Act and electronic health records' limitation in coordinating care for children with complex chronic conditions. J Allied Health 2014 Summer;43(2):117-20. PMID: 24925039. *X*-5 *X*-

39. Costa FF, Foly LS, Coutinho MP. DataGenno: building a new tool to bridge

molecular and clinical genetics. Appl Clin Genet 2011;4:45-54. PMID: 23776366. *X-2*

40. Costakos DT. Of lobsters, electronic medical records, and neonatal total parenteral nutrition. Pediatrics 2006 Feb;117(2):e328-32. PMID: 16452339. *X-4*

41. Cramer JG. 'We bought the wrong EMR'. Med Econ 2010 Feb 5;87(3):28-30. PMID: 20337171. *X-2*

42. Crossno CL, Cartwright JA, Hargrove FR. Using CPOE to improve communication, safety, and policy compliance when ordering pediatric chemotherapy. Hospital Pharmacy 2007 April;42(4):368-73. PMID: 2007199187. *X*-4

43. Dattani N, Hardelid P, Davey J, et al. Accessing electronic administrative health data for research takes time. Arch Dis Child 2013 May;98(5):391-2. PMID: 23448863. *X-2*

44. de Jose MI, Jimenez de Ory S, Espiau M, et al. A new tool for the paediatric HIV research: general data from the Cohort of the Spanish Paediatric HIV Network (CoRISpe). BMC Infect Dis 2013;13:2. PMID: 23282073. *X-2*

45. Despotova-Toleva LD. A model of a computer file for the intensive neonatal practice "Neonatal Intensive Computer File". Folia Med (Plovdiv) 1999;41(2):38-43. PMID: 10534912. *X-4*

46. Dickens DS, Sinsabaugh D. Impact of computerized prescriber order entry on the incidence of adverse drug events in pediatric inpatients. Pediatrics 2008 Sep;122(3):678; author reply -9. PMID: 18762542. *X-3, X-4*

47. Disabato JA, Levisohn P, Hutton L, et al. Improving transition to adult epilepsy care: Facilitating team communication using clinical decision support in the EMR. Epilepsy Currents 2014 January-February;14:151. PMID: 71433137. *X-2*

48. Downing GJ, Zuckerman AE, Coon C, et al. Enhancing the quality and efficiency of newborn screening programs through the use of health information technology. Semin Perinatol 2010 Apr;34(2):156-62. PMID: 20207265. *X-5*

49. Dryden EM, Hardin J, McDonald J, et al. Provider perspectives on electronic decision supports for obesity prevention. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2012 May;51(5):490-7. PMID: 22330047. *X-2*

50. Duffy FH. Long latency evoked potential database for clinical applications: justification and examples. Clin EEG Neurosci 2005 Apr;36(2):88-98. PMID: 15999904. *X-2, X-3*

51. Durand S, Rideau Batista Novais A, Mesnage R, et al. Validation of nosocomial infection in neonatology: A new method for standardized surveillance. Am J Infect Control 2014 Aug;42(8):861-4. PMID: 24930956. *X-3, X-4*

52. Ellis-Davies K, Sakkalou E, Fowler NC, et al. CUE: the continuous unified electronic diary method. Behav Res Methods 2012 Dec;44(4):1063-78. PMID: 22648694. *X-2*, *X-3*

53. Ellsworth MA, Carey WA, Li M, et al. Implementation of an electronic data monitoring system decreases the rate of hyperoxic episodes in premature neonates. J Perinatol 2013 Sep;33(9):721-4. PMID: 23579491. *X*-5 54. Ewalt DH. Editorial comment. J Urol 2011 Oct;186(4 Suppl):1745; discussion PMID: 21862077. *X-2*, *X-5*

55. Ferranti JM, Horvath MM, Jansen J, et al. Using a computerized provider order entry system to meet the unique prescribing needs of children: description of an advanced dosing model. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2011;11:14. PMID: 21338518. *X-5 X-4*

56. Figge HL. E-prescribing and the impact on medication dispensing errors. U.S 2012 July;Pharmacist. 37(7):31-3. PMID: 2012439730. *X-2*

57. Fiks AG, Grundmeier RW, Margolis B, et al. Comparative effectiveness research using the electronic medical record: an emerging area of investigation in pediatric primary care. J Pediatr 2012 May;160(5):719-24. PMID: 22364853. *X-2*

58. Fiks AG, Zhang P, Localio AR, et al. Adoption of Electronic Medical Record-Based Decision Support for Otitis Media in Children. Health Serv Res 2014 Oct 6PMID: 25287670. *X-2*

59. Fine AM, Kalish LA, Forbes P, et al. Parent-driven technology for decision support in pediatric emergency care. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2009 Jun;35(6):307-15. PMID: 19565690. *X-3, X-4*

60. Finkel E. Caring for kids, with technology by their side. Children's Medical's Durovich sees IT as tool to 'help us do what we do better'. Mod Healthc 2011 Jun 13;41(24):25-6. PMID: 21714400. *X-2*

61. Finnell SM, Stanton JL, Downs SM. Actionable recommendations in the Bright Futures child health supervision guidelines. Appl Clin Inform 2014;5(3):651-9. PMID: 25298806. *X*-7

62. Ford-Jones A. Practice Tips. Immunization tracker for primary care physicians. Can Fam Physician 1999 Dec;45:2875-6. PMID: 10626053. *X-2*

63. Forrest CB, Fiks AG, Bailey LC, et al. Improving adherence to otitis media guidelines with clinical decision support and physician feedback. Pediatrics 2013 Apr;131(4):e1071-81. PMID: 23478860. *X*-2

64. Frankovich J, Longhurst CA, Sutherland SM. Evidence-based medicine in the EMR era. N Engl J Med 2011 Nov 10;365(19):1758-9. PMID: 22047518. *X-2*, *X-5*

65. Frenn KA, Hendrickson M, Kharbanda AB. Reducing pediatric CT usage through web-based education. Radiol Manage 2014 May-Jun;36(3):12-6; quiz 7-8. PMID: 25004681. *X-2*

66. Frize M, Catley C, Walker CR, et al. Towards a web services infrastructure for perinatal, obstetrical, and neonatal clinical decision support. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2004;5:3334-7. PMID: 17270996. *X-2, X-3, X-4*

67. Giannone G. Computer-supported weight-based drug infusion concentrations in the neonatal intensive care unit. Comput Inform Nurs 2005 Mar-Apr;23(2):100-5. PMID: 15772511. *X-4*

68. Ginsberg HG. Since Katrina: neonatal and pediatric issues from both sides of the levee. Pediatrics 2011 Aug;128 Suppl 1:S15-7. PMID: 21807705. *X-2*

69. Ginsburg G. Medical genomics: Gather and use genetic data in health care. Nature 2014 Apr 24;508(7497):451-3. PMID: 24765668. *X-2*

70. Glasper EA, Holmes CW, Brown KL, et al. Shared records: towards collaborative working with families. Paediatr Nurs 2006 Feb;18(1):34-7. PMID: 16518952. *X-5 X-*

71. Goedert J. A real shot in the arm. Health Data Manag 2000 Feb;8(2):34, 6, 8. PMID: 11183663. *X-2*

72. Gold J, Reyes-Gastelum D, Turner J, et al. A quality improvement study using fishbone analysis and an electronic medical records intervention to improve care for children with asthma. Am J Med Qual 2014 Jan-Feb;29(1):70-7. PMID: 23574643. *X-2*

73. Gonzalez-Heydrich J, DeMaso DR, Irwin C, et al. Implementation of an electronic medical record system in a pediatric psychopharmacology program. Int J Med Inform 2000 Jul;57(2-3):109-16. PMID: 10961567. *X-3, X-4*

74. Grech V. The impact of information technology on pediatric cardiology: present, past, and future. Pediatr Cardiol 2000 Jul-Aug;21(4):324-7. PMID: 10865006. *X-2*, *X-3*

75. Greenwood JL, Narus SP, Leiser J, et al. Measuring body mass index according to protocol: how are height and weight obtained? J Healthc Qual 2011 May-Jun;33(3):28-36. PMID: 22414017. *X-1*, *X-2*

76. Grigull L, Betzel C, Schumacher U, et al. Should paediatricians use a computer to receive diagnostic support?. [German]. Padiatrische Praxis 2012 December;79(4):545-55. PMID: 2012749639. *X-2, X-6* 77. Grigull L, Lechner WM. Supporting diagnostic decisions using hybrid and complementary data mining applications: a pilot study in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Res 2012 Jun;71(6):725-31. PMID: 22441377. *X-5*

78. Grisso AG, Wright L, Hargrove FR. The Pharmacist's Role in CPOE: A Pediatric Perspective. Hospital Pharmacy 2003 November;38(11):1086-9+104. PMID: 2003473077. *X*-6

79. Guilday P. The student health collaboration: an innovative approach to enhancing communication and improving student health. NASN Sch Nurse 2014 Sep;29(5):244-7. PMID: 25272411. *X-3, X-4*

80. Hadley AM. Progress towards the clinical workstation at the New Children's Hospital. Health Inf Manag 1999 Mar-May;29(1):42-3. PMID: 10977172. *X-2*

81. Hagland M. CPOE and patient safety. Healthc Inform 2011 Jun;28(6):76-8. PMID: 21736218. *X-2*

82. Hanauer DA, Zheng K. Detecting workflow changes after a CPOE implementation: a sequential pattern analysis approach. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2008:963. PMID: 18999105. *X-4*

83. Hazelzet JA. Computerized physician order entry: friend or foe? Pediatr Crit Care Med 2007 May;8(3):304-5. PMID: 17496521. *X-2*

84. Hedden EM, Jessop AB, Field RI. Childhood immunization information system exchange with payers: State and federal policies. Journal of Managed Care Medicine 2012;15(3):11-8. PMID: 2012660185. *X-2*, *X-5*

85. Hicken VN, Thornton SN, Rocha RA. Integration challenges of clinical information systems developed without a shared data dictionary. Stud Health Technol Inform 2004;107(Pt 2):1053-7. PMID: 15360973. *X-5*

86. Hing E, Hsiao CJ. State variability in supply of office-based primary care providers: United States, 2012. NCHS Data Brief 2014 May(151):1-8. PMID: 24813076. *X-2*

87. Hinman AR, Eichwald J, Linzer D, et al. Integrating child health information systems. Am J Public Health 2005 Nov;95(11):1923-7. PMID: 16195524. *X-2*

88. Hinman AR, Saarlas KN, Ross DA. A vision for child health information systems: developing child health information systems to meet medical care and public health needs. J Public Health Manag Pract 2004 Nov;Suppl:S91-8. PMID: 15643366. *X-5 X-*

89. Holmes M. Andrew Szende and the development of the electronic Child Health Network (eCHN). Healthc Q 2010;13(3):26-9. PMID: 20523148. *X-2, X-5*

90. Hoyle T, Swanson R. Assessing what child health information systems should be integrated: the Michigan experience. J Public Health Manag Pract 2004 Nov;Suppl:S66-71. PMID: 15643362. *X-2*

91. Huff C. Hospital to test if EMR, other innovations boost care for Medicaid kids. Cook Children's opens a new clinic to 'learn what works and what doesn't'. Hosp Health Netw 2009 Oct;83(10):17. PMID: 19967812. *X-2*

92. Issenman RM, Jaffer IH. Use of voice recognition software in an outpatient pediatric specialty practice. Pediatrics 2004 Sep;114(3):e290-3. PMID: 15342888. *X-2*

93. Jackson G. Child abuse: a computerised register 40 years after it was proposed. Int J Clin Pract 2013 Mar;67(3):191-2. PMID: 23409684. *X-2*

94. Jacobs B. Hardly child's play: implementing a pediatric-specific, integrated CPOE system. Midwest pediatric hospital tackles all the hurdles--needs assessment, clinician buy-in, training and measuring results--as it strengthens its patient safety efforts with wireless CPOE. Health Manag Technol 2004 Aug;25(8):30-2. PMID: 15328958. *X-5*

95. Jacobs BR, Hart KW, Rucker DW. Reduction in Clinical Variance Using Targeted Design Changes in Computerized Provider Order Entry (CPOE) Order Sets: Impact on Hospitalized Children with Acute Asthma Exacerbation. Appl Clin Inform 2012;3(1):52-63. PMID: 23616900. *X-5*

96. Jacobs JP, Maruszewski B, Tchervenkov CI, et al. The current status and future directions of efforts to create a global database for the outcomes of therapy for congenital heart disease. Cardiol Young 2005 Feb;15 Suppl 1:190-7. PMID: 15934716. *X-2*, *X-4*

97. Jaspers MW, Steen T, van den Bos C, et al. The think aloud method: a guide to user interface design. Int J Med Inform 2004 Nov;73(11-12):781-95. PMID: 15491929. *X-2, X-5*

98. Jenders RA, Dasgupta B, Mercedes D, et al. Use of a hospital practice management system to provide initial data for a pediatric immunization registry. Proc AMIA Symp 1999:286-90. PMID: 10566366. *X-5* 99. Johnson KE, Beaton SJ, Andrade SE, et al. Methods of linking mothers and infants using health plan data for studies of pregnancy outcomes. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2013 Jul;22(7):776-82. PMID: 23596095. *X-5*

100. Johnson KH, Guthrie S. Harnessing the power of student health data: Selecting, using, and implementing electronic school health documentation systems. NASN Sch Nurse 2012 Jan;27(1):26-33. PMID: 22720477. *X-2, X-3*

101. Jones JL. Implementing computerized prescriber order entry in a children's hospital. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2004 Nov 15;61(22):2425-9. PMID: 15581267. *X-2*

102. Kalra D, Fernando B. Approaches to enhancing the validity of coded data in electronic medical records. Prim Care Respir J 2011 Mar;20(1):4-5. PMID: 21060979. *X*-2

103. Kaushal R, Barker KN, Bates DW. How can information technology improve patient safety and reduce medication errors in children's health care? Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2001 Sep;155(9):1002-7. PMID: 11529801. *X-2*

104. Kelleher KJ, Horwitz SM. Quality of mental health care for children: a familiar storyline. Med Care 2006 Dec;44(12):1061-3. PMID: 17122708. *X-2*

105. Kelly B. A records system for kids. Health Data Manag 2002 May;10(5):30-2, 4. PMID: 12017101. *X-2*

106. Kemper AR, Uren RL, Clark SJ. Adoption of electronic health records in primary care pediatric practices. Pediatrics 2006 Jul;118(1):e20-4. PMID: 16818534. *X*-5 *X*-

107. Kern LM, Barron Y, Dhopeshwarkar RV, et al. Electronic health records and ambulatory quality of care. J Gen Intern Med 2013 Apr;28(4):496-503. PMID: 23054927. *X-2*

108. Kim GR, Lehmann CU. Pediatric aspects of inpatient health information technology systems. Pediatrics 2008 Dec;122(6):e1287-96. PMID: 19047228. *X*-*3*, *X*-4

109. Kim GR, Miller MR, Ardolino MA, et al. Capture and classification of problems during CPOE deployment in an academic pediatric center. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2007:414-7. PMID: 18693869. *X-2*

110. Klass P. Disconnected. N Engl J Med 2010 Apr 15;362(15):1358-61. PMID: 20393174. *X-2*

111. Knaup P, Wiedemann T, Wolff A, et al. [Computer-assisted documentation and therapy planning in pediatric oncology-introduction of a nationwide solution]. Klin Padiatr 1999 Jul-Aug;211(4):189-91. PMID: 10472547. *X-3*

112. Kramer T, Iliffe S, Bye A, et al. Testing the feasibility of therapeutic identification of depression in young people in British general practice. J Adolesc Health 2013 May;52(5):539-45. PMID: 23608718. *X-2, X-3*

113. Lazou K, Farini M, Koutkias V, et al. Adverse drug event prevention in neonatal care: a rule-based approach. Stud Health Technol Inform 2013;186:170-4. PMID: 23542991. *X-3* 114. Lee EK, Mejia AF, Senior T, et al. Improving Patient Safety through Medical Alert Management: An Automated Decision Tool to Reduce Alert Fatigue. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2010;2010:417-21. PMID: 21347012. *X-2*

115. Lemon V, Stockwell DC. Automated detection of adverse events in children.Pediatr Clin North Am 2012Dec;59(6):1269-78. PMID: 23116524. *X-2*

116. Lenclen R. [Computerized physician order entry softwares for pediatric units].Arch Pediatr 2005 Jun;12(6):918-20. PMID: 15904850. *X-4*

117. Leu MG, O'Connor KG, Marshall R, et al. Pediatricians' use of health information technology: a national survey. Pediatrics 2012 Dec;130(6):e1441-6. PMID: 23166335. *X-2*

118. Levenson D. NIH to include children's genomic data in electronic medical records. Am J Med Genet A 2011 Nov;155a(11):ix-x. PMID: 22021228. *X-3*, *X-4*

119. Li Q, Melton K, Lingren T, et al. Phenotyping for patient safety: algorithm development for electronic health record based automated adverse event and medical error detection in neonatal intensive care. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014 Jan 8PMID: 24401171. *X-3, X-4*

120. Lillis K. Automated dosing. Computerized physician order entry reduces risk of medication and dosing errors in neonatal ICU. Health Manag Technol 2003 Nov;24(11):36-7. PMID: 14608711. *X-4*

121. Lin M, Brooks TN, Miller AC, et al. English-based pediatric emergency medicine software improves physician test performance on common pediatric emergencies: A multicenter study in Vietnam. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine 2013;14(5):471-6. PMID: 2013748353. *X-2*

122. Lipton J, Hazelzet JA. Clinical decision support systems: Important tools when appropriately used. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2009 Jan;10(1):128-9. PMID: 19131870. *X-4*

123. List BA, Ballard JL, Langworthy KS, et al. Electronic health records in an outpatient breastfeeding medicine clinic. J Hum Lact 2008 Feb;24(1):58-68. PMID: 18281357. *X*-2

124. Litvin CB, Ornstein SM, Wessell AM, et al. Use of an electronic health record clinical decision support tool to improve antibiotic prescribing for acute respiratory infections: the ABX-TRIP study. J Gen Intern Med 2013 Jun;28(6):810-6. PMID: 23117955. *X-1*

125. Livon D, Abaziou JM, Franceschini JC, et al. The electronic health record of the child, a natural evolution. [French]. Journal de Pediatrie et de Puericulture 2005 August;18(5):224-7. PMID: 2005363478. *X*-2, *X*-5

126. Livon D, Abaziou JM, Franceschini JC, et al. Electronic health record of children, a natural evolution. [French]. Actualites Pharmaceutiques 2006 January(448):10-1. PMID: 2006049302. *X-6*

127. Locke R, Stefano M, Koster A, et al. Optimizing patient/caregiver satisfaction through quality of communication in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care 2011 Nov;27(11):1016-21. PMID: 22068060. *X-3, X-4* 128. Lomotan EA, Hoeksema LJ, Edmonds DE, et al. Evaluating the use of a computerized clinical decision support system for asthma by pediatric pulmonologists. Int J Med Inform 2012 Mar;81(3):157-65. PMID: 22204897. *X-3*

129. Longhurst C, Sharek P, Hahn J, et al. Perceived increase in mortality after process and policy changes implemented with computerized physician order entry. Pediatrics 2006 Apr;117(4):1450-1; author reply 5-6. PMID: 16585351. *X-4*

130. Longhurst C, Turner S, Burgos AE. Development of a Web-based decision support tool to increase use of neonatal hyperbilirubinemia guidelines. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2009 May;35(5):256-62. PMID: 19480378. *X-3*

131. Lu M, Ownby DR, Zoratti E, et al. Improving efficiency and reducing costs: Design of an adaptive, seamless, and enriched pragmatic efficacy trial of an online asthma management program. Contemp Clin Trials 2014 May;38(1):19-27. PMID: 24607295. *X-5 X-*

132. Lykowski G, Mahoney D. Computerized provider order entry improves workflow and outcomes. Nurs Manage 2004 Feb;35(2):40g-h. PMID: 14767222. *X-4*

133. Matheson A, Diaz A. Getting the record straight: the story of one NACCHO demonstration site's efforts to improve child health. J Public Health Manag Pract 2009 Nov-Dec;15(6):535-7. PMID: 19823160. *X*-2

134. Maughan ED, Johnson KH, Bergren MD, et al. Standardized data set for school health services: Part 1--getting to big data. NASN Sch Nurse 2014 Jul;29(4):182-6. PMID: 25141454. *X-3, X-4*

135. Mayne SL, duRivage NE, Feemster KA, et al. Effect of decision support on missed opportunities for human papillomavirus vaccination. Am J Prev Med 2014 Dec;47(6):734-44. PMID: 25455116. *X-2*

136. Mazars N, Milesi C, Carbajal R, et al. Implementation of a neonatal pain management module in the computerized physician order entry system. Ann Intensive Care 2012;2(1):38. PMID: 22913821. *X-5*

137. McCartney PR. Using technology to promote perinatal patient safety. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2006 May-Jun;35(3):424-31. PMID: 16700694. *X-4*

138. McKenna C, Gaines B, Hatfield C, et al. Implementation of a screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment program using the electronic medical record in a pediatric trauma center. J Trauma Nurs 2013 Jan-Mar;20(1):16-23. PMID: 23459427. *X-3, X-4*

139. Menachemi N, Brooks RG, Schwalenstocker E, et al. Use of health information technology by children's hospitals in the United States. Pediatrics 2009 Jan;123 Suppl 2:S80-4. PMID: 19088234. *X-5*

140. Mendola P, Mannisto TI, Leishear K, et al. Neonatal health of infants born to mothers with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014 Jan;133(1):85-90.e1-4. PMID: 23916153. *X-2*

141. Merrill J, Phillips A, Keeling J, et al. Effects of automated immunization registry reporting via an electronic health record deployed in community practice settings. Appl Clin Inform 2013;4(2):267-75. PMID: 23874363. *X-1, X-2, X-5* 142. Milani S, Buckler JM, Kelnar CJ, et al. The use of local reference growth charts for clinical use or a universal standard: a balanced appraisal. J Endocrinol Invest 2012 Feb;35(2):224-6. PMID: 22490992. *X-2*

143. Miller PL, Frawley SJ, Sayward FG. Exploring three approaches for handling incomplete patient histories in a computerbased guideline for childhood immunization. Proc AMIA Symp 1999:878-82. PMID: 10566486. *X-5 X-5*

144. Mitchell L. Connecting for children's health. Paediatr Nurs 2005 Jul;17(6):24-5. PMID: 16045001. *X-2*

145. Mohr T. The second time around.Health Manag Technol 2008 Sep;29(9):22,4-5. PMID: 18795739. *X-2*

146. Moll HA. Clinical decision support systems in pediatrics: What are we waiting for?. [Dutch]. Tijdschrift voor Kindergeneeskunde 2007 April;75(2):52-6. PMID: 2007227677. *X-5*

147. Monteagudo-Piqueras O, Marin-Lopez J, Barragan Perez AJ, et al. [The quality of diagnostic coding: a training need in primary care]. Aten Primaria 2013 May;45(5):282. PMID: 23433704. *X-2*

148. Nakamura MM, Harper MB, Jha AK. Change in adoption of electronic health records by US children's hospitals. Pediatrics 2013 May;131(5):e1563-75. PMID: 23589808. *X-2, X-3, X-4*

149. Nielsen BA, Baum RA, Soares NS. Navigating ethical issues with electronic health records in developmental-behavioral pediatric practice. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2013 Jan;34(1):45-51. PMID: 23275058. *X-2, X-5* 150. Nigrin DJ. When 'hacktivists' target your hospital. N Engl J Med 2014 Jul 31;371(5):393-5. PMID: 25075830. *X-2*

151. O'Connor AC, Kennedy ED, Loomis RJ, et al. Prospective cost-benefit analysis of a two-dimensional barcode for vaccine production, clinical documentation, and public health reporting and tracking. Vaccine 2013 Jun 28;31(31):3179-86. PMID: 23664988. *X-2*

152. Ostrowska-Nawarycz L, Nawarycz T, Derlecki S, et al. [Application of computer base standards to pediatrics practice]. Pol Merkur Lekarski 2000 Sep;9 Suppl 1:46-8. PMID: 11081346. *X-2*

153. Otero P. [Advantages and risks associated with the use of electronic medical records]. Arch Argent Pediatr 2011 Dec;109(6):476-7. PMID: 22231883. *X-2*

154. Paciorkowski N, Pruitt C, Lashly D, et al. Development of performance tracking for a pediatric hospitalist division. Hosp Pediatr 2013 Apr;3(2):118-28. PMID: 24340412. *X*-*5*

155. Pageler NM, Longhurst CA, Wood M, et al. Use of electronic medical recordenhanced checklist and electronic dashboard to decrease CLABSIs. Pediatrics 2014 Mar;133(3):e738-46. PMID: 24567021. *X-4*

156. Palma JP, Van Eaton EG, Longhurst CA. Neonatal Informatics: Information Technology to Support Handoffs in Neonatal Care. Neoreviews
2011;2011(12)PMID: 22199463. *X-3, X-4*

157. Paperny DM. Computers and information technology: implications for the 21st century. Adolesc Med 2000 Feb;11(1):183-202. PMID: 10640346. *X-2* 158. Pasek TA, Lefcakis LA, O'Malley CK, et al. Power in documentation: an eProgress note for APNs. Crit Care Nurse 2009 Jun;29(3):104, 2-3. PMID: 19487786. *X-2*

159. Patel SJ, Longhurst CA, Lin A, et al. Integrating the home management plan of care for children with asthma into an electronic medical record. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2012 Aug;38(8):359-65. PMID: 22946253. *X-5 X-*

160. Patel VN, Abramson E, Edwards AM, et al. Consumer attitudes toward personal health records in a beacon community. Am J Manag Care 2011 Apr;17(4):e104-20. PMID: 21774099. *X-2, X-3*

161. Patwardhan A, Kelleher K, Cunningham D, et al. Improving the influenza vaccination rate in patients visiting pediatric rheumatology clinics using automatic best practice alert in electronic patient records. Pediatric Rheumatology 2012 13 Jul;10PMID: 70982721. *X*-7

162. Pergami P, Thayapararajah SW, Seemaladinne N. West Virginia University Pediatric Stroke Registry: Clinical Description and Risk Factors Identification in Patients From a Rural Area. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014 Jul 20PMID: 25049311. *X-2*

163. Peverini RL, Beach DS, Wan KW, et al. Graphical user interface for a neonatal parenteral nutrition decision support system. Proc AMIA Symp 2000:650-4. PMID: 11079964. *X-4*, *X-5*

164. Pevnick JM, Asch SM, Adams JL, et al. Adoption and use of stand-alone electronic prescribing in a health plansponsored initiative. Am J Manag Care 2010 Mar;16(3):182-9. PMID: 20225913. *X-1, X-2* 165. Phillips RS. Accessing electronic information for clinical decisions. Arch Dis Child 2000 Nov;83(5):373-4. PMID: 11040137. *X-2*

166. Pittman M. Loophole in alert system. Emerg Nurse 2013 Mar;20(10):10; discussion PMID: 23586165. *X-2*

167. Porcelli PJ, Rosenbloom ST. Evaluation of a neonatal growth curve designed for an electronic health record. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:1066. PMID: 17238685. *X*-2

168. Porter SC, Forbes P, Manzi S, et al. Patients providing the answers: narrowing the gap in data quality for emergency care. Qual Saf Health Care 2010 Oct;19(5):e34. PMID: 20511242. *X-5 X-*

169. Potera C. A collaborative effort connects Delaware health system with local school nurses. Am J Nurs 2014 Sep;114(9):17. PMID: 25166233. *X-2*

170. Potts AL, Barr FE, Gregory DF, et al. Computerized physician order entry and medication errors in a pediatric critical care unit. Pediatrics 2004 Jan;113(1 Pt 1):59-63. PMID: 14702449. *X-2, X-3*

171. Pretorius E, Cronje ML, Strydom O. Development of a pediatric cardiac computer aided auscultation decision support system. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2010;2010:6078-82. PMID: 21097128. *X-2*

172. Pyles LA, Hines C, Patock M, et al. Development of a web-based database to manage American College of Emergency Physicians/American Academy of Pediatrics Emergency Information Forms. Acad Emerg Med 2005 Mar;12(3):257-61. PMID: 15741591. *X-5 X-* 173. Ramnarayan P, Britto J. Paediatric clinical decision support systems. Arch Dis Child 2002 Nov;87(5):361-2. PMID: 12390900. *X-2*

174. Rappaport DI, Collins B, Koster A, et al. Implementing medication reconciliation in outpatient pediatrics. Pediatrics 2011 Dec;128(6):e1600-7. PMID: 22123872. *X-2*

175. Rattay KT, Ramakrishnan M, Atkinson A, et al. Use of an electronic medical record system to support primary care recommendations to prevent, identify, and manage childhood obesity. Pediatrics 2009 Jan;123 Suppl 2:S100-7. PMID: 19088224. *X-2*

176. Reckmann MH, Westbrook JI, Koh Y, et al. Does computerized provider order entry reduce prescribing errors for hospital inpatients? A systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2009 Sep-Oct;16(5):613-23. PMID: 19567798. *X-3, X-4*

177. Rinke ML, Mikat-Stevens N, Saul R, et al. Genetic services and attitudes in primary care pediatrics. Am J Med Genet A 2014 Feb;164a(2):449-55. PMID: 24254914. *X-5*

178. Rocca MA, Rosenbloom ST, Spooner A, et al. Development of a domain model for the pediatric growth charting process by mapping to the HL7 Reference Information Model. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:1077. PMID: 17238696. *X-2*

179. Roehrer E, Cummings E, Turner P, et al. Supporting cystic fibrosis with ICT. Stud Health Technol Inform 2013;183:137-41. PMID: 23388270. *X-2*

180. Rudd S, Gemelas J, Reilley B, et al. Integrating clinical decision support to increase HIV and chlamydia screening. Prev Med 2013 Dec;57(6):908-9. PMID: 24120454. *X-2*

181. Sainz de la Maza M, Molina N, Gonzalez-Gonzalez LA, et al. Clinical characteristics of a large cohort of patients with scleritis and episcleritis.
Ophthalmology 2012 Jan;119(1):43-50.
PMID: 21963265. *X-1, X-2*

182. Schau CJ, Rokaw N. A path to medical excellence: steps to improve quality at Asheville Medicine and Pediatrics. N C Med J 2014 May-Jun;75(3):184-5. PMID: 24830491. *X-2*

183. Schneck LH. Efficient, enterprising, electronic. Pediatric group stays current with technology. MGMA Connex 2009 Nov-Dec;9(10):29-30. PMID: 20058495. *X-2*

184. Schulman J. NICU Notes: A Palm OS and Windows database software product and process to facilitate patient care in the newborn intensive care unit. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2003:999. PMID: 14728502. *X-2*

185. Senior T. Paper to EMR: A successful transition. Health Manag Technol 2006 Oct;27(10):40, 2, 5. PMID: 17052104. *X-2*

186. Shaikh U, Nettiksimmons J, Bell RA, et al. Accuracy of parental report and electronic health record documentation as measures of diet and physical activity counseling. Acad Pediatr 2012 Mar-Apr;12(2):81-7. PMID: 22209035. *X-5*

187. Sharifi M, Adams WG, Winickoff JP, et al. Enhancing the electronic health record to increase counseling and quit-line referral for parents who smoke. Acad Pediatr 2014 Sep-Oct;14(5):478-84. PMID: 25169159. *X*-2, *X*-5

188. Shiffman RN, Brandt CA, Liaw Y, et al. A design model for computer-based guideline implementation based on information management services. J Am Med Inform Assoc 1999 Mar-Apr;6(2):99-103. PMID: 10094062. *X-5 X-*

189. Shiffman RN, Liaw Y, Navedo DD, et al. User satisfaction and frustration with a handheld, pen-based guideline implementation system for asthma. Proc AMIA Symp 1999:940-4. PMID: 10566499. *X-2*

190. Sigel E, Harpin SB, Tung G. Increasing Documentation and Referral for Youth at Risk for Violence Through the Primary Health Care Setting. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014 Oct 9PMID: 25305258. *X*-2

191. Simpson KR. Perinatal acuity tool. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2013 May-Jun;38(3):191. PMID: 23625111. *X-1*, *X-2*, *X-3*, *X-4*

192. Simpson LA. The adolescence of child health services research. JAMA Pediatr 2013 Jun;167(6):509-10. PMID: 23588790. *X-2*

193. Sinha M, Khor KN, Amresh A, et al. The use of a kiosk-model bilingual selftriage system in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care 2014 Jan;30(1):63-8. PMID: 24378865. *X-5 X-*

194. Sittig DF, Ash JS, Zhang J, et al. Lessons from "Unexpected increased mortality after implementation of a commercially sold computerized physician order entry system". Pediatrics 2006 Aug;118(2):797-801. PMID: 16882838. *X*-*3*, *X*-4

195. Sloane EB. Using a decision support system tool for healthcare technology

assessments. IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag 2004 May-Jun;23(3):42-55. PMID: 15354994. *X*-*2*

196. Smith SD. Cyber safety net. Minn Med 2008 Nov;91(11):20-1. PMID: 19108539. *X-2*

197. Soderberg LM. Designing and creating a central venous catheter database and electronic charting system. J Intraven Nurs 2001 May-Jun;24(3):159-68. PMID: 11530361. *X-2*

198. Soler D, Baldacchino D, Amato-Gauci
A. Pilot of a Child Health Electronic
Surveillance System (CHESS) in Malta.
Journal of Public Health 2007
June;15(3):199-209. PMID: 2007282859. X-2

199. Spellman Kennebeck S, Timm N, Farrell MK, et al. Impact of electronic health record implementation on patient flow metrics in a pediatric emergency department. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012 May-Jun;19(3):443-7. PMID: 22052897. *X*-*3, X-4*

200. Spooner SA. We are still waiting for fully supportive electronic health records in pediatrics. Pediatrics 2012 Dec;130(6):e1674-6. PMID: 23166347. *X-5 X-*

201. Starmer AJ, Duby JC, Slaw KM, et al. Pediatrics in the year 2020 and beyond: preparing for plausible futures. Pediatrics 2010 Nov;126(5):971-81. PMID: 20956424. *X-2, X-5*

202. Sterling S, Kline-Simon AH, Wibbelsman C, et al. Screening for adolescent alcohol and drug use in pediatric health-care settings: predictors and implications for practice and policy. Addict Sci Clin Pract 2012;7:13. PMID: 23186254. *X-2*

203. Stockwell DC, Bisarya H, Classen DC, et al. Development of an Electronic Pediatric All-Cause Harm Measurement Tool Using a Modified Delphi Method. J Patient Saf 2014 Aug 26PMID: 25162206. *X-2, X-5*

204. Stockwell DC, Kirkendall E, Muething SE, et al. Automated adverse event detection collaborative: electronic adverse event identification, classification, and corrective actions across academic pediatric institutions. J Patient Saf 2013 Dec;9(4):203-10. PMID: 24257063. *X-4*

205. Stuart K. You can't get there from here: misplaced incentives can undermine the goals of health care reform in the NICU setting. J Perinatol 2012 Aug;32(8):570-3. PMID: 22842801. *X-5 X-*

206. Stultz JS, Porter K, Nahata MC. Sensitivity and specificity of dosing alerts for dosing errors among hospitalized pediatric patients. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014 Oct;21(e2):e219-25. PMID: 24496386. *X-2*

207. Subramanyan GS, Yokoe DS, Sharnprapai S, et al. An algorithm to match registries with minimal disclosure of individual identities. Public Health Rep 1999 Jan-Feb;114(1):91-3. PMID: 9925178. *X-2*

208. Szende A. Ontario's province-wide paediatric electronic health record. Stud Health Technol Inform 2009;143:99-103. PMID: 19380922. *X-2*

209. Szynal D. Continuity of kids' care. Health Data Manag 2001 Apr;9(4):22-4, 6. PMID: 11310339. *X-2, X-5* 210. Taghon T, Elsey N, Miler V, et al. A medication-based trigger tool to identify adverse events in pediatric anesthesiology. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2014 Jul;40(7):326-34. PMID: 25130016. *X-2*

211. Talmi A, Bunik M, Asherin R, et al. Improving developmental screening documentation and referral completion.
Pediatrics 2014 Oct;134(4):e1181-8. PMID: 25180272. *X-2*

212. Tan K, Dear PR, Newell SJ. Clinical decision support systems for neonatal care. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005(2):Cd004211. PMID: 15846701. *X-3*, *X-4*

213. Tarrago R, Nowak JE, Leonard CS, et al. Reductions in invasive device use and care costs after institution of a daily safety checklist in a pediatric critical care unit. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2014 Jun;40(6):270-8. PMID: 25016675. *X-3, X-4*

214. Telleen S. Developing a state outcomes monitoring system in public health maternal and child health. J Med Syst 1999 Jun;23(3):227-38. PMID: 10554738. *X-2*

215. Toll E. A piece of my mind. The cost of technology. Jama 2012 Jun 20;307(23):2497-8. PMID: 22797449. *X-2*

216. Toma TS, Rea MF. [The Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative and the computerized tools for its monitoring and sustainability]. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2011 Nov;30(5):505-6. PMID: 22262280. *X-3, X-4*

217. Trotter A, Maier L. Computerized physician order entry system in pediatric inpatients: Prevention of medication errors and adverse drug events. [German].

Monatsschrift fur Kinderheilkunde 2009 February;157(2):160-5. PMID: 2009221830. *X-5*

218. Tyler A, Boyer A, Martin S, et al. Development of a discharge readiness report within the electronic health record-A discharge planning tool. J Hosp Med 2014 Aug;9(8):533-9. PMID: 24825848. *X-4*

219. Tyler-Beynum K, Jacobs BR. When less is more: big problem, small change, better outcomes. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2013 May;14(4):439-40. PMID: 23648877. *X-4*

220. Upperman JS, Staley P, Friend K, et al. The introduction of computerized physician order entry and change management in a tertiary pediatric hospital. Pediatrics 2005 Nov;116(5):e634-42. PMID: 16263977. *X-2*

221. Upperman JS, Staley P, Friend K, et al. The impact of hospitalwide computerized physician order entry on medical errors in a pediatric hospital. J Pediatr Surg 2005 Jan;40(1):57-9. PMID: 15868559. *X-4*

222. Van Walleghem N, MacDonald CA, Dean HJ. Transition of care for young adults with type 1 and 2 diabetes. Pediatr Ann 2012 May;41(5):e16-20. PMID: 22587508. *X-1, X-2*

223. Vardi A, Efrati O, Levin I, et al. Prevention of potential errors in resuscitation medications orders by means of a computerised physician order entry in paediatric critical care. Resuscitation 2007 Jun;73(3):400-6. PMID: 17289249. *X-3*, *X-4*

224. Vargas-Herrera J, Manrique J, Nunez Mdel C, et al. [Application of an electronic information system to the cervical cancer screening program]. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2013 Jul;30(3):522-4. PMID: 24100834. *X-6* 225. Ventura ML, Battan AM, Zorloni C, et al. The electronic medical record: pros and cons. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2011 Oct;24 Suppl 1:163-6. PMID: 21942617. *X*-*3*, *X*-*4*

226. Verma SK. The information highway: a threat to medical confidentiality. Indian Pediatr 2001 Aug;38(8):884-8. PMID: 11520999. *X-2*

227. Vest JR, Issel LM. Factors related to public health data sharing between local and state health departments. Health Serv Res 2014 Feb;49(1 Pt 2):373-91. PMID: 24359636. *X-5 X-*

228. Wang Y, Caggana M, Sango-Jordan M, et al. Long-term follow-up of children with confirmed newborn screening disorders using record linkage. Genet Med 2011 Oct;13(10):881-6. PMID: 21637103. *X-2*

229. Webber EC, Warhurst HM, Smith SS, et al. Conversion of a single-facility pediatric antimicrobial stewardship program to multi-facility application with computerized provider order entry and clinical decision support. Appl Clin Inform 2013;4(4):556-68. PMID: 24454582. *X-2*, *X-4*

230. Weigle CG, Scanlon MC. There's many a slip. J Pediatr 2006 Oct;149(4):435-6. PMID: 17011307. *X-2*

231. Weitzman M, Shiffman RN. Information technology and the future of child health care: a revolution is occurring. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2001 Sep;155(9):990-1. PMID: 11529798. *X-2*

232. West SL, Johnson W, Visscher W, et al. The challenges of linking health insurer claims with electronic medical records.

Health Informatics J 2014 Mar;20(1):22-34. PMID: 24550563. *X-1*

233. Wetzel G. Pediatric cardiology in a digital world. Curr Opin Cardiol 2001Jul;16(4):265-6. PMID: 11574789. *X-2, X-4*

234. Wong ST, Bernick LA, Portillo C, et al. Implementing a nurse information system in a nurse-managed primary care practice: a process in progress. Clin Excell Nurse Pract 1999 Mar;3(2):123-7. PMID: 10646401. *X*-*1*, *X*-2

235. Woodman J, de Lusignan S, Rafi I, et al. GPs' role in safeguarding children. Bmj 2012;345:e4758. PMID: 22802403. *X-2*

236. Worthey E, Bick D, Dimmock D, et al. Clinical diagnostic whole genome sequencing in a paediatric population: Experience from our WGS genetics clinic.
BMC Proceedings 2012 01 Oct;6:S3. PMID: 71478224. *X-2*

237. Wu P, Carroll KN, Gebretsadik T, et al. The developmental trajectory of pediatric asthma in 3- to-10-year-olds. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012 May;129(5):1397-8. PMID: 22322007. *X-2*

238. Wu ST, Sohn S, Ravikumar KE, et al. Automated chart review for asthma cohort identification using natural language processing: an exploratory study. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2013 Nov;111(5):364-9. PMID: 24125142. *X-2*

239. Zarlengo R. Meaningful use for the pediatrician. Med Health R I 2011 Jul;94(7):209-10. PMID: 21894850. *X-5*

240. Zerbe KJ, Allen JG. Integrating outcome measurement with clinical practice: the FACE Recording and Measurement System. Introduction. Bull Menninger Clin 1999 Summer;63(3):285-7. PMID: 10452191. *X-1*

241. Zhai H, Brady P, Li Q, et al. Developing and evaluating a machine learning based algorithm to predict the need of pediatric intensive care unit transfer for newly hospitalized children. Resuscitation 2014 Aug;85(8):1065-71. PMID: 24813568. *X-3, X-4*

242. Zhang Y, Levin JE, Padman R. Datadriven order set generation and evaluation in the pediatric environment. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2012;2012:1469-78. PMID: 23304427. *X-2*, *X-4*

243. Zhong VW, Pfaff ER, Beavers DP, et al. Use of administrative and electronic health record data for development of automated algorithms for childhood diabetes case ascertainment and type classification: the SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. Pediatr Diabetes 2014 Jun 9PMID: 24913103. *X-5 X-*

244. Zipkin R, Schrager SM, Keefer M, et al. Improving home management plan of care compliance rates through an electronic asthma action plan. J Asthma 2013 Aug;50(6):664-71. PMID: 23574196. *X-5 X-*

245. Zomer-Kooijker K, van Erp FC, Balemans WA, et al. The expert network and electronic portal for children with respiratory and allergic symptoms: rationale and design. BMC Pediatr 2013;13:9. PMID: 23324209. *X-2*

246. Zurhellen W. The coming of age of the electronic office. Pediatr Ann 2001 May;30(5):289-97. PMID: 11383469. *X-2*